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1. Onjuly 8, 1987, the International Centre for the Settlement of Investment
Disputes (hereinafter called “the Centre” of “ICSID™) received a Request for Arbi-
tration from Asian Agricultural Products Ltd. (Hereinafter called “AAPL” or “the
claimant”), 2 Hong Kong corporation.

The Request stated that AAPL wished to institute arbitration proceedings against
the Demaocratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka (hereinafter called “Su Lanka™ or “the
Respondent™) under the terms of the ICSID Convention to which Sn Lanka is a con-
tracting Party, and in reliance upon Article 8.(1) of the Agreement between the Gov-
ernment of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northem-Ireland and the
Government of Sri Lauka for the Promotion and Protection of Investments of Febru~
ary 13, 1980 (hereinafter called “the Bilateral Investment Treaty”) which entered into
force on December 18, and was extended to Hong Kong by virtue of an Exchange of
Notes with effect as of January 14, 1981.

2. Article 8.(1) of the Bilateral Investment Treaty, invoked as expressing Sri
Lanka’s consent to ICSID Arbitration, reads as follows:

Each contracting Party hereby consents to submit to the International Centre for

the Settlement of Investment Disputes (...} for settlement by conciliation or ar-

bitration under the Convention on the settlement of Investment Dispute between

States and Nationals of the Other States opened for signature at Washington on

18 March, 1965 any legal disputes arising between that Contracting Party and

national or company of the other Contracting Party concerning an investment of

the latter in the territory of the former.

3. The Claimant indicated in the Request for Arbitration that a dispute arose
directly out of an officially approved investment by AAPL in Sri Lanka that took place
in 1983 under the form of participating in the equity capital of SERENDIB SEA-
FOODS LTD. (hercinafter called “the Company” or “Serendib”} a Sri Lankan public
company established for the purpose of undertaking shrimp culture in Sri Lanka.

According to the Claimant, the Company’s farm, which was its main producing
center, was destroyed on January 28, 1987, during a military operation conducted by
the security forces of Sri Lanka against installations reported to be used by local rebels.
As a direct consequence of said action, AAPL alleged having suffered a total loss of its
investment, and claimed from the Government of Sri Lanka compensation for the
damages incurred as a result thereof. The claims submitted on March 9, 1987, re-
mained outstanding without reply for more than the three months period provided for
in Aricle 8.(3) of the Bilateral Investment Treaty to reach an amicable settlement, and
hence AAPL became entited to institute the ICSID arbitration proceedings.

4. On]July 9, 1987, the Secretary General of ICSID sent an acknowledgment

of the Request to AAPL and transmitted a copy of the Request to Sri Lanka. On July
20, 1987, the Secretary General registered the Request in the Arbitration Register and

notified the Parties accordingly.

5.  On September 30, 1987, the Centre received a communication from
AAPL w0 the effect that Professor Berthold Goldman has been appointed as member
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of the Trbunal in conformity with Rule 5.(1) of the Arbitration Rules. He accepted
his appointment as arbitrator onx October 8, 1987,

The Republic of Sri Lanka appointed Dr. Samuel K. B. Asantc by a letter dated
October 20, 1987. He accepted his appointment on October 28, 1987.

Dr. Ahmed S. EL-Koshen was appointed as the third arbitrator and President of
the Tribunal on December 24, 1987, by the Chairman of the Administrative Council
of ICSID in consultation with the Parties. He accepted his appointment on January 4,
1988.

Accordingly, the Tribunal became constituted as of January 5, 1988, and the dec-
laration provided for under Arbitration Rule 6 was signed by each arbicrator.

6.  Atthe first session of the Tribunal, held on February 23, 1988 at the Offices
of the World Bank in Washington, D.C., the Parties declared that they were satisfied
that the Tribunal had been properly constituted in accordance with the provisions of
Section 2, Chapter IV of the Convention and of Chapter 1 of the Arbitration Rules
(Minutes of said Session, Item I,(c)).

The Parties and the Tribunal established the framework within which the plead~
ings have to take place, comprising two consecutive rounds of written submissions fol-
lowed by oral hearings to be electronically recorded without requiring the production
of verbatim transcripts (Items 10-12 of the Minutes).

It was also agreed upon in thar First Session that the Arbitration Rules in cffect
after September 26, 1984, shall apply (Item 2); that the language of the proceeding
would be English (Item 8); and that the place of the proceedings will be Washington,
D.C. at the seat of the Centre (Item 9).

7.  The Claimant’s Memorial, submitted on April 13, 1988, focused mainly
on the “bases for the claim”, consisting of

(i) - the unconditional obligation of “full protection and security” provided
for in Article 2 of the Bilateral Investment Treaty;

(i) - the more specific and clearly defined obligation stated in Article 4(2) of
that Treaty requiring adequate compensation of the destruction of the
Claimant’s property under circumstances not justified by combat action
or necessities of the situation; and

(iii) ~ finally, the Claimant indicated that the Government’s liability extends to
cover “damage caused under customary rules of international law on State
responsibility” (lines 9 and 10 on page 6 of the Claimant’s Memorial).

The remedy required was expressed by the Claimant in terms of evaluating “the
market value of the undertaking on the basis of discounted cash flow (DCF) theory”,
in order to establish the “going concern value” of Serendib Seafoods Ltd on January
28, 1978, the date of the destruction of its property.

8.  The Respondent’s Counter-Memorial, submitted on June 18, 1988,
placed the emphasis on different aspects; mainly to illustrate that the Serendib venture
“was a failure from the outset”, and its “fitful efforts to restructure was overtaken in
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January 1987, by the civil war between Tamil separatists and the Sri Lankan Govern-
ment”. Thus, the large majority of AAPL s claimed damages should be denied since
they are based on “the illusion of expected profitability.”

Moreover, according to the Respondent’s account of the facts, the destruction of
Serendib’s property was due to intense combat action between the Tamil rebels
known as the “Tigers”, who were allegedly operating out of Serendib’s farm and re-
ported by Governmental sources as having violently resisted the counter-insurgency
operation conducted by the Special Task Force (STF), and which aimed to drive the
Tiger rebels out of the ares,

Equally, with regard to the relevant dispositions of the Bilateral Investment
Treaty, the Respondent’s Counter-Memorial gave the Treaty an interpretation differ-
ent from that advanced by the Claimant. Particularly, the expression “full protection
and security” used in Article 2 has to be construed as simply incorporating the standard
which requires “due diligence” on the part of the States, and does not impose strict
liability. As to Article 4.(2), the Government’s liability thereunder would not arise
except in case the Claimant succeeds in providing the proof that the counter-insur-
gency actions were not reasonably necessary or that the governmental security forces
caused excessive destruction during their combat against the Tamil rebels.

9.  The Claimant’s Reply to the Respondent’s Counter-Memorial was duly
submitted on August 18, 1988. The first part of the Reply contained an elaboration of
the factual aspects of the case from the Claimant’s point of view, especially those
related to the cvents of January 28, 1987. According to Claimant, there was no
“battle” at the farm site, but rather “a murderous over-reaction by the STF which led
to the destruction and civilian deaths”.

Furthermore, no access to the farm was permitted before February 10, 1987,
either by the Batticaloa Citizens’s Committee for National Harmony or by Serendib’s
staff, in order that “all evidence of the brutal actions in area could be obliterated”.

In the second part of the Reply, the Clairnant started by indicating that the Sri
Lanka/UK. Bilateral Investment Treaty “should be considered tantamount to” an
agreement between the two Parties as to the applicable rules of law, within the context
of Article 42 of the ICSID Convention. Nevertheless, it has to be understood that the
Treaty itself is not limited to the explicit statement of certain substantive rules, but
renders applicable additional rules incorporated therein, either by reference or by im-~
plication. Moreover, the Claimant’s Reply states that the “rules of customary interna-~
tional law™, as well as the “Law of Sri Lanka as the host country”, may be regarded as
supplementary “alternative source of applicable law™ (p. 29 of the Reply).

With regard to the specific issue of the Standard of Liability under the general
pattern followed by Bilateral Investment Treaties, the basic argument developed by the
Claimant amounts to an assertion that the traditional “due diligence” criterion appli~
cable under the minimum standard of customary international law had been replaced by
a new type of “strict or absolute liability not mitigated by concepts of due diligence”
{p. 54 of the Claimant’s Reply).
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In case the strict liability argument based on Article 2 and on the most-favoured
nation clause contained in the Bilateral Investment Treaty, would not be assested by
the Tribunal, the Claimant presented “as an altemative submission only” another argu-
ment based on Article 4.(2) (p. 56 of the Claimant’s Reply), and ultimately on article
4.(1) “which remains the fall-back provision in cases of war destruction” (Ibid, p. 57).

Under this alternative argument, the applicability of Article 4.(2) cannot be
avoided except in case Sri Lanka would succeed in carrying out its onus probandi by
providing convincing proof that the destruction of January 28, 1987 was caused “in
combat action”, and was required by “the necessity of the situation”.

At the end of the Claimant’s reply, AAPLs submissions were formulated as re-
questing the Tribunal to:

1. Determine the liability of the Government of Sri Lanka to compensate AAPL

for the unlawful requisition and destruction of its investments;

2. Award to AAPL restitution or adequate compensation in the amount of freely
transferable U.S. Dollars of not less than $ 8,067,368 (eight million sixty-seven
thousand three hundred sixty-eight) on account of the requisition and destruc-
tion of its investment, increased by the additional costs, including all direct and
indirect costs of the present proceedings, as well as interest at commercial rates;

3. Order the Respondent to assume the guarantee which AAPL had accepted for
the loan by EAB/Deutsche Bank to SSL, or to pay in escrow the additional
amount of U.S. § 888,000 (eight hundred-eighty thousand), representing the
principal of the outstanding loan amount to be paid by AAPL if and when
Deutsche Bank prevails in a call on the guarantor for the guarantee subscribed on
September 15, 1984;

4. Deny the Counter-claim by the Respondent for costs and attorneys-fees.

10.  On October 20, 1988 the Government of Sri Lanka submitted its Rejoin-
der mainly devoted to emphasizing two issues: (i)—on the one hand, the incorrectness
of AAPL’s construction of the interrelation between Article 2.(2) and Article 4.(2) of
the Sri Lanka/U.K. Bilateral Investment Treaty; and (ii}—on the other hand, the ref-
utation of AAPL s claimed damages.

According to the Respondent’s Rejoinder, Article 4.(2) is not an exemption from
the rule contained in Article 2.(2), since both articles “share a common standard of li-
ability (that of governmental negligence)”, but “the two provisions concern damages
arising in distinct situations and caused by distinct parties” (p. 6 of the Rejoinder).
Moreover, Article 4.(2) could not be considered superseded by operation of Article 3
(the most-favoured-nation clause) as a result of the subsequent conclusion of the Sri
Lanka/Switzerland Investment Treaty. In the Respondent’s own words, such conven-
tion “meets the same problem as AAPL s absolute liability theory; because Article 4
of the Treaty creates potential liability, and does not limit liability, its exclusion from a
subsequent treaty could not increase UK. investor's rights under the Treaty” (p. 10 of
the Rejoinder).

The Respondent’s propositions concerning the claimed damages are composed
of three elements:
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(a) - Serendib’s desperate financial situation as reflected in the Memorandum
of Understanding dated December 22, 1986 could hardly become re-
versed to evidence future expected profitability;

(b) - the inclusion of assets and other elements which were never touched by
the destruction, such as the hatchery on the west coast;

{c) - the speculative nature of the projections concerning any possible future
profitability.

The Respondent’s position on the various legal and factual issues led to the fol-
lowing conclusions:

(3) - that the STF operation on January 28, 1987, was a legitimate exercise of
sovereignty;

(ii) - that any damage which occurred at the Serendib shrimp farm on that date
was either necessary under the circumstances or not caused by the Gov-
ernment;

(i) - that AAPLS financial loss due to destruction of assets remains unproven;
and

(iv) - that AAPL suffered no loss of any reasonably foreseeable future profits (p.
39 of the Rejoinder).

11, The oral phase of the proceedings took place from April 17 to April 20,
1989 at the seat of the Centre in Washington, D.C.

As indicated in the Summary Minutes of the Hearing of the Arbitral Tribunal,
oral presentations were made by counsels to both Parties, and counsel to each party
was given the opportunity to respond to the presentation made by the other.

The Tribunal heard also an oral presentation from Mr. Deva Rodrigo, advisor to
the Claimant, and Mr. Victor Santiapillai, Managing Director of Serendib Seafoods
Ltd., appeared before the Tribunal as witness called by AAPL. After giving his evi-
dence, he was examined, and cross-examined by Counsel to each Party, and re-
sponded to the questions put to him by the members of the Arbitral Tribunal.

Before declaring the hearing adjourned on April 20, 1989, the Tribunal re-
quested the Parties to submit certain additional documents and information, together
with their respective comments thercon.

12, In compliance with the Tribunal’s oral order fixing the dates for filing the
requested submissions, the first exchange took place on May 22, 1989, and the second
exchange on May 29, 1989.

13.  The Arbiwal Tribunal having met for deliberation in Pards on Monday 26
and Tuesday 27 June 1989, and having considered the various issues pending before
it, felt necessary to request further clarifications from both Parties about certain impor-
tant points deemed not sufficiently pleaded during the previous hearing. A procedural
Order was issued consequently on June 27, 1989, inviting both Parties to provide the
Arbitral Tribunal with their considered points of view, together with all supporting
documents, on the following:
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(A) - Within the contexc of Article 4.1 of the Sri Lanka/United Kingdom Bilat-
eral Agreement of February 13th, 1980, for the Promotion and Protection of In-
vestments, is there any existing precedent or established practice concerning
restitution, indemnification, compensation or other settlement allocated to Sni
Lanka nationals and companies, or to nationals and companies of any Third State
in the circumstances specified in said Article 4.(1)? If so how was the quantum
calculated?

(B) - Even if there is no precedent or established practice what arc the applicable
rules and standards under the Sri Lanka domestic legal system with regard to in-
vestment losses suffered by private persons owing to any of the circumstances
mentioned in the said Article 4.(1)?

{c) - What are the legal obligations of Sri Lanka under international law with re-

gard to investment Josses suffered owing to any of the circumstances mentioned

in Articlc 4.(1) by nationals of companies of Third States, whether these States

have or have not concluded Bilateral Investment Agreements with Sri Lanka?.

14, In compliance with the Tribunal’s Order of June 27, 1989, both Parties
subrmitted their answers to the above-stated questions by Septernber 15, 1989, and
Claimant commented on the Memorandum of the Respondent on October 27, 1989,

15. At a later stage, and as a result of consultations undertaken between the
mernbers of the Tribunal, 2 new invitation was addressed on December 26, 1989, to
Counsel to both Parties in the following terms:

Taking into consideration that the members of the Tribunal deem appropriate re~

ceiving from Counscls of both Parties their reflections and comments about the

Decision rendered in July 1989 by the International Court of Justice in the case

between the U.S.A. and Italy related to the scope of protection extended to a for-

eign investor under bilateral treaty;

Therefore, both Counsels are kindly invited to submit within the coming four
weeks their comments about the legal reasoning stated in said Decision and the
what extent they deem said reasoning relevant in adjudicating the pending Arbi-
tration Case.

Counsel to the Respondent dispatched his comments in a letter dated January 26,
1990, and Counsel to the Claimant expressed his comments in a faxed letter dated
January 29, 1990.

16.  Subsequent consultations undertaken between the members of the Tribu-
nal indicated that there was no need to convene a new oral hearing, and the Tiibunal
held its final meeting on March 26-27, 1990.

x ¥
*

17.  As 2 result of said deliberations, the Tribunal is of the opinion that the
pending arbitration has to be adjudicated taking into account the following:
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I - Conceming the Applicable Law

18.  The present casc is the first instance in which the Centre has been seized
by an arbitration request exclusively based on a treaty provision and not in implemen-
ation of a freely negotiated arbitration agreement directly concluded between the
Parties among whom the dispute has arisen.

19.  Consequently, the Parties in dispute have had no opportunity to exercise
their right to choose in advance the applicable law determining the rules govering the
various aspects of their eventual disputes.

In more concrete terms, the prior choice-of-law referred to in the first part of
Article 42 of the ICSID Convention could hardly be envisaged in the context of an
arbitration case directly instituted in implementation of an international obligation un~
dertaken between two States in favour of their respective nationals investing within the
territory of the other Contracting State,

20.  Under these special circumstances, the choice-of-law process would nor-
mally materialize after the emergence of the dispute, by observing and construing the
conduct of the Parties throughout the arbitration proceedings.

Effectively, in the present case, both Parties acted in a manner that demonstrates
their mutual agreement to consider the provisions of the Sri Lanka/UK. Bilateral In-
vestment Treaty as being the primary source of the applicable legal rules.

This basic premise relied upon heavily by the Claimant acquired full acceptance
from the Respondent, who, not only based his main arguments on the provisions of
the Treaty in question, but also invoked Article 157 of the Constitution of Sri Lanka
emphasizing that the Treaty became applicable as part of the Sri Lankan Law.

21, Furthermore, it should be noted that the Bilateral Investment Treaty is not
a self~contained closed legal system limited to provide for substantive material rules of
direct applicability, but it has to be envisaged within a wider juridical context in which
rules from other sources are integrated through implied incorporation methods, or by
direct reference to certain supplementary rules, whether of international law character
or of domestic law nature. Such extension of the applicable legal system resorts clearly
from Article 3.(1), Article 3.(2), and Article 4 of the Sri Lanka/UK. Bilateral Invest-
ment Treaty.

22, In fact, the submissions of both Parties (supra, § 7, iii, § 10} clearly demon-
strate that they are in agreement about admitting the supplementary role of the re-
course—regarding certain issues—to general customary international law, other
specific intemational rules rendered applicable in implementation of the most-favored-
nation clause, as well as to Sri Lankan domestic legal rules.

23.  In spite of the Claimant’s hostility to the general applicability of customary
international law rules and his reluctance to admit Sri Lankan domestic law as the basic
goveming law under the last part of Article 42 of the ICSID Convention covering the
absence of choice of law by the Parties, AAPL arrived from a practical point of view
to a position similar to that adopted by the Respondent throughout the arbitral pro-
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ceedings. This is particularly seen from what has been quoted in § 7, iii and § 9 herein-
above.

24.  Accordingly, the Tribunal is of the opinion that the “false problem” related
to the preliminary determination in principle of the applicable law has no relevance
within the context of the present arbitration, since both Parties agreed during their re-
spective pleading to invoke primarily the Sri Lanka/U.K. Bilateral Investment Treaty
as lex specialis, and to apply, within the limits required, the international or domestic
legal relevant rules referred to as a supplementary source by virtue of Articles 3 and 4
of the Treaty itself.

1 — The legal grounds on which the
Respondent’s responsibility could be sustained

25, Asindicated herein-above, both Parties invoked the Sri Lanka/U K. Bilat-
cral Investment Treaty as the primary applicable law. However, each Party construed
the Treaty’s relevant provisions in a manner which led to basically different conclu-
sions.

(I). The Claimant’s Case

26. The main point of view relied upon by AAPL to substantiate its submis-
sions can be summarized as follows:

(A) - By providing that the investments of one contracting Party “shall enjoy
full protection and security in the territory of the other Contracting Party”, Article 2
of the Treaty went beyond the minimum standard of customary intemational law
through the creation of an unconditional obligation to be bome by the host country.
According to the Claimant, “the ordinary meaning of the words ‘full protection and
sccurity” points to an acceptance by the host State of strict or absolute Liability” (Reply
of Claimant to Respondent’s counter-Memorial, op. cit., p. 46);

(B) - Within the “context” of the entire Treaty’s “object and purpose”, and
taking into account the “identical or very similar” language used in most of the Bilat-
eral Investment Treaties concluded between Sri Lanka, and Third States, the compar-
ative analysis with the different other patterns followed elsewhere indicates thar the
term “full protection and security” has to be considered “autonomous in character and

independent of any link to customary intermnational law™ (Ibid., p. 49);

(C) - By abandoning the “diplomatic protection” theory largely based on the
United States’ “Friendship, Commerce and Navigation” (FCN) pattern of indirect
protection, the foreign investor “enjoys” under the “Bilateral Investment Treaties”
(BIT") a different method of direct protection.

According to the Claimant, “the right to protection is vested in the holder of the
investment with immediate effect upon the simple coming into force of the treaty”
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(#bid., p. 52). Thus, a deliberate choice is reflected to follow a new pattern in maters
of protection different from that which prevailed under traditional Intemational Law.

(D) - In implementation of the most-favoured-nation clause contined in
Article 3 of the Sri Lanka/U K. Bilateral Investment Treaty, and in the light of the fact
that the Treaty concluded between Sri Lanka and Switzerland does not provide for a
“war clause™ or “civil disturbance™ exemption from the protection and security stan-
dard, the Claimant asserts that: “the standard of treatment under the Swiss Treaty,
which is obviously more favourable than the provision of the SL/UK Treaty, applies
to British investments. This means that a standard of unmitigated strice liability has to
be assured by Sri Lanka in favour of British Investments” (Ibid., P. 56).

27.  Asan “alternative submission only”, the Cliimant envisaged a supplemen-
tary argument based on Article 4.(2) of the Sri Lanka/U.K. Bilateral Investment Treaty
which could be relied upon in case the Tribunal “unexpectedly” would deem that
Article applicable.

The Claimant's position in this respect was clearly stated at page 57 of his Reply
to the Respondent’s Counter-Memorial, which reads as follows:

As stated above, Article 4(2) of the SL/UK Treaty provides for an exemption

from the strict liability rule of Article 2(2). Article 4(2) provides for restitution

and freely transferable compensation if the destruction of property in situation of

war or civil disturbances wis not required by the necessity of the situation. This

standard of compensation goes beyond the duty of granting “restitution”, *in-

demnification”, or “compensation” or “other scttiement” provided for by Art

4(1) of the Treary, which remains the fall-back provision in cases of war destruc-

ton.

It s clear from the above quotation that the Claimant invokes Article 4 of the
Treaty in its entirety, but considers the present case falling within the scope of the spe-
cific rule contained in Article 4.(2), which evidently provides a better type of remedy
that due under Article 4.(1).

28. The reasons sustaining that alternative as to the applicability of Article 4.(2)
are explained as follows:

(A) -~ The act complained of was “not caused in combat action”, but amounts
to what the Claimant describes as “the wanton destruction of AAPL s property and
the cold-blooded killing of the farm manager and the permanent staff members”
which was “clearly not planned pursuant to any combat action” (page 8 of the Claim-
ant’s Memorial),

(B) - The property was “requisitioned” by Sri Lankan forces and was “de-
stroyed by those same forces” under circumstances suggesting that the wanton use of
force was “not required by the exigencies of the situation™ (Jbid., same page 8);

(C) - Moreover, the Chimant ascertains that: “the complete destruction and
cold-blooded killings by the Government's security forces were completely out of pro-
portion to what was necessary to meet the specific exigencies of the situation which
actually existed at the SSL facility” (fbid., p. 9); and
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(D) - In reliance upon the language of Article 4.(2), the Claimant is of the
opinion that said language: “places the burden on the Respondent to demonstrate that
the destruction of Claimant’s property was required by the necessity of the situation”
(fbid., p. 11).

Invoking what is considered “a general principle of international judicial and ar-
bitral practice” the Claimant submitted at a later stage thac:

the burden of proof shifts from the claimant to the defendant if the former has

advanced same evidence which prima facie supports his allegation. This is partic-

ularly appropriate if the defendant wishes to derive a benefit from an interpreta-

tion or rule operating in his favor as does Sri Lanka in this case. It is submitted

that rules justifying conduct which would otherwise be unlawful (such as military

necessity) fall into the category of norms operating in favor of the defendant for

which the defendant carries the onus probandi (Reply to Respondent’s Counter-claim,

at p. 58).

29. During the written phase of the procedures, the Claimant deemed suffi-
cient to formutate his claims for “adequate compensation” on the basis of said Article
4.(2) without suggesting what could be the ultimate remedy available if the Tribu-
nal—contrary to his submissions—would arrive to the conclusion that conditions re-
quired for the applicability of the paragraph in question are missing in the present case,
and accordingly the rules referred to in paragraph (1) of Article 4 constitute the proper
legal framework within which the pending issues have to be adjudicated.

The only indications provided for in the Claimant’s written pleadings with regard
to such alternative are limited to what was previously mentioned in two reported pas-
sages:

(i) - the short reference on page 6 of the Claimant’s Memorial to the Govern-
ment’s liability “under customary rules of intemational law on State re~
sponsibility” (supra, § 7, (iii);

and

(i) - the closing sentence on page 57 of the Reply to the Respondent’s
Counter-Memorial containing a precise reference to the remedies “pro-
vided for by Article 4.(1) of the Treaty, which remains the fall~back pro-
vision in cases of war destruction” (supra, § 27 at the end of the
quotation).

30. In order to obtain certain necessary clarifications about the Claimant’s po-
sition a question was put to the Claimant’s Counsel by the President of the Tribunal
at the Oral Hearing held in Washington D.C. from April 17 to April 20, 1989. Ac-
cording to the transcript of the tape conwining Dr. Golsong’s Closing Statement on
April 20, 1989, the latter responded by saying:

we were told that we had not based our claim on 4(1) which therefore has to be

deleted from the discussions. We have in our Memorial and in our Reply gener-

ally based our contention on the Bilateral Investment Treaty of the United King-

dom extended to Hong Kong and improved eventually by way of incorporation

by reference of most-favoured-nation provisions deriving from other Investment
Treaties. And we maintain this position. We have started by saying that 2. para-
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graph 2 enshrines an absolute or strict standard of liability and certainly more than

due diligence. And that there are some exceptions in the UK Treaty, namely the

specific war situation in Article 4 in general, without making 2 distinction be-~

tween 4(1) and 4(2). And in any way, if I refer to 4(2), | have implicitly to bring

into discussion 4(1). (Text provided by ICSID's Sectetariat, as enclosure to a letter dated

Apnl 10, 1990, in response ta an earlier request from the President of the Arbitral Thi-

bunal 1o check the electronically recorded tapes of the hearing).

31.  Ata later stage of the proceedings, the Arbitral Tribunal issued the above-
mentioned Order of June 27, 1989 (supra, § 130), which invited both Parties to
provide the Tribunal with their considered points of view about certain aspects related
to Article 4.(1) and the results that could be obtained through its implementation.

By his letter dated September 14, 1989, the Claimant’s Counsel provided the Tri-
bunal with answers to the questions put to both Parties without raising any objection
to the eventual adjudication of the case under Article 4.(1). Moreover, the last sentence
of said letter explicitly emphasized that:

...there can be no doubt that in the present case the provisions of Article 4(1) of

the Sri Lanka/UK Agreement are applicable, and being lex specialis, supersede any

general principle of International Law which otherwise may govern the issues at

stake.

(II). The Respondent’s Case

32. In Sri Lanka's Counter-Memorial, the Respondent adopted arguments
aimed to contradict the Claimant's initial submissions. The Government’s main argu-
ments at that phase of the procecdings can be summarized as follows:

(A) - “The language ‘full protection and security’ is common in bilateral in-
vestment treaties, and it incorporates, rather than overrides, the customary interna-
tional legal standard of responsibility. This international legal standard requires due
diligence on the part of the States and reasonable justification for any destruction of
property, but does not impose strict liability” (Govemment's Counter-Memorial, p. 27);

(B) - The “standards for liability under Articles 2.(2) and 4.(2) are essentially
identical. In both instances, a requirement of reasonableness is imposed on Govern-
ment action. Under the intemnational law standard embodied in Article 2.(2), the Gov-
ernment incurs labilicy if it fails to act with due diligence. Under Article 4.(2), the
Government incurs lability if its actions are not reasonably necessary™ (Ibid., p. 28);

(C) - “Article 4.(2) sets forth the standard for compensation in the event the
Government is found to have violated its obligations under Article 2.(2). That is, if the
Government could have prevented the destruction of the farm through due diligence”.
In case it has been proven that the Government's lack of due diligence caused “unnec-
essary destruction, then the Government would both have violated its obligation under
2.(2) and owe restitution or compensation under Article 4.(2)” (Ibid, p. 28-29);

(D) - The burden of proof has to be assumed by the Claimant, by proving
“that through due diligence, the Government could have prevented Batticaloa from
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falling under terrorist control, thus obviating the need for counter-insurgency action.
If AAPL fails to prove that the security action itself was avoidable, then its burden is
to prove that the Government caused excessive destruction during the operation of
January 28, 1987” (Ibid., p. 29);

(E) - “To the extent there was excessive destruction, the Government of Sri
Lanka is ready to compensate AAPL for its proportionate ownership”. Bug, it is ques-
tionable “whether the Tribunal may determine that there was excessive destruction,
without second-guessing tactical decisions made by commanders during the hear of
combat” (ibid., p. 41).

(F) - “By investing in an area which it knew contained a vehement, and po-
tendially violent, separatist presence, AAPL assumed the risk that its investment would
be caught up in the sri Lankan civil war” (lbid., p. 41).

33, The Government ’s Rejoinder focused essentially on the arguments devel-
oped in the Claimant’s Reply, by ascertaining that:

(A) - AAPL s alleged “absolute liability theory” based on Article 2.(2) con~
cerns damages arising in situations and caused by parties other than those concemned
by Article 4.(2). In essence, according to the Respondent, Article 2.(2) “establishes the
general standard of protection owed to foreign investors against damage caused by
third parties”; but Article 4.(2) “applies to damages caused by the Government itself”
(Respondent’s Rejoinder, p. 6);

B) - Contrary to the Claimant’s assertion that Article 4.(2) establishes an “ex-
emption” to the strict liability standard of Article 2.(2), Article 4.(2) “creates rather
than limits liabilicy” (Ibid., p. 8);

(C) - There are no “authorities” suggesting that “full protection and security”
clauses are “among the innovative provisions of modern BITY”, and there is “no his-
torical support for AAPL s absolute liability theory™ (Ihid., p. 8-9); and

(D) - “The absence of liability-creating provisions analogous to Article 4 of the
Treaty in other Sri Lanka BITS, such as the treaty with Switzerland, means only that
under those treaties investment losses due to destruction caused by the Govemment in
response to civil strife, whether necessary or not, are covered by the general “fair and
equitable treatment” standard found in virtually every BIT, or that investors are left to
their traditional remedies under customary international law” (Ibid., p. 10-11).

34.  Finally, it has to be noted that throughout the arbitration proceedings, the
Government of Sri Lanka maintained that:

(i) - the destruction was not attributable to the governmental security forces
but caused by the rebels;
(i1) - there was effectively a “combat” between the Government’s Special Task
Force (STF) and the Tigers insurgents; and
(iif) - there is no proof that the destruction of the property was “not required
by the necessity of the situation”.
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Therefore, from the Respondent’s point of view the liability provided for in
Article 4.(2) can not be sustained due to the absence of all three of its sine qua non con-
ditions. Hence, the applicability of Article 4.(1) could have been logically envisaged.

Nevertheless, the Government of Sri Lanka refrained from dwelling upon its in-
terpretation of said Article 4.(1), its scope of application, as well as the extent of the
responsibility that may emerge thereunder.

The reasons for such silence became perfectly clear during the oral phase of the
arbitral proceedings, since Mr. Homick, Counsel of the Respondent, indicated during
his oral argument on April 19, 1989, that there was no need to elaborate upon Article
4.(1), since in his understanding “AAPL is not claiming” thereunder (Transoript of the
electronic taping provided on Apnl 12, 1990 by ICSID Secretariat upon request from the Tri-
bunal’s President).

35.  Only at a later stage, and in response to the Tribunal’s Order of June 27th,
1989, the Respondent expressed the Government of Sri Lanka’s views on the three
issues related to the remedies that could be available under Article 4.(1) of the Sri
Lanka/U.K. Bilateral Investment Treaty.

36, With regard to the “applicable rules and standards under the Sri Lankan
domestic legal system”, the letter dated September 13, 1989, addressed by the Re-
spondent’s Counsel in response to the Tribunal’s Order stated the following:

1. ifa Sri Lankan individual or company wished to make a claim against the Sri
Lankan Government for any losses suffered owing to the war, etc., it may file an
action in a district court in Sri Lanka for compensation. The action will have to
be based on a cause of action arising in delict (tort). The law relating to delict is
based on Roman Dutch Law which provides a remedy under lex aquifian prin-
ciples, namely, for intentional or negligent wrongdoing. There is no special leg-
islation or other basis whereby liability is incurred in the absence of fault. Any
person making a claim against the Government would have to file an action in
the district court. The prescription ordinance of Sti Lanka, which may be availed
of by the Government as any other defendant, states (Sections 9):

No action shall be maintainable for any losses, injury or damage, unless the
same shall be commenced within two years from the time when the cause
of action shall have arisen.

2. 1t may also be relevant to note that the State (Liability in Delict) Act of 1969
based on the English Crown Liability in Delict Act permits an individual to file
an action against the Government in respect of delicts committed by its officers
or agents, Under this Act, vicarious liability attaches to the State for the wrongful
acts of its servants.

37. Regarding Sri Lanka’s legal obligations under international law, the last part
of the Respondent’s letter dated September 13, 1989 emphasized that:

with regard to investment losses suffered owing to any of the circumstances men-
tioned in said Article 4.1 by nationals or companies of third States, whether these
States have or have not concluded bilateral investment agreements with Sri
Lanka, the government refers to Appendix A of its Counter-Memorial (at 7-8)
in which it is explained that Government’s obligation in such circumstances un-
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der customary international law is to excercise due diligence to protect alien indi-
viduals or companies from investment losses (references deleted).

Thus, the mere occurrence of investment losses by an alien, such as AAPL, does
not render the Government responsible to compensate the alien for the losses.
Rather, the Government is obliged to compensate the alien only in the event the
alien demonstrates that the Government failed to act reasonably under the cir-
cumstances.,

1. The Trbunal’s Findings

38, From the above-stated summary of the arguments advanced by each of the
two Parties to sustain his position, it becomes clear that the only point on which they
agree is the applicability of the Sri Lanka/UK. Bilateral Investment Treaty as the
primary source of law. Beyond that preliminary point; the two Parties arc in disagree-
ment, since each Party construes the relevant provisions of the Treaty in a manner fun-
damentally in conflict with the interpretation given by the other Party to the same
provisions.

Therefore, the first task of the Tribunal is to rule on the controversies existing in
this respect by indicating what constitutes the true construction of the Treaty’s relevant
provisions in conformity with the sound universally accepted rules of treaty interpre-
tation as established in practice, adequately formulated by I’lnstitut de Droit Intemational
in its General Session in 1956, and as codificd in Article 31 of the Vienna Convention
on the Law of Treaties.

39.  The basic rule to be followed by the Tribunal in undertaking its task with
regard to the pending controversial interpretation issue has been formulated since 1888
in the Award rendered in the Van Bokkelen case (Haiti/USA), where it was stated that:

for the interpretation of treaty language and intention, whenever controversy aris-

es, reference must be made to the law of nations and to international jurispru-

dence (Repertory of Intermational Arbitral Jurisprudence, Volume [: 1794-1918,

Edited by; Vincent COUSSIRAT-COUSTERE and Pierre Michel EISE-

MANN, Nijhoff, Dordrecht/Boston/London, 1989, § 1015, p. 13).

In essence, the requirement that treaty provisions “must be interpreted according
to the Law of Nations, and not according to any municipal code”, emerges from the
basic premise expressed by Mr. WEBSTER in the following terms:

When two nations speak to each other, they use the language of nations (Quoted

by the Germany/Venezuela Mixed Claims Commission in the Christern Case, as

reproduced in the Repertory referred to herein-above, § 1017, p. 27).

40. The other rules that should guide the Tribunal in adjudicating the inter-
pretation issues raised in the present arbitration case may be formulated as follows:

Rule (A) - “The first general maxim of interpretation is that it is not allowed to inter-
pret what has no need of interpretation. When a deed is worded in a clear and
precise terms, when its meaning is evident and leads to no absurd conclusion,
there can be no reason for refusing to admit the meaning which such deed nat-
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urally presents” (passage from VATTEL'S Chapter on interpretation of Treaties—
Book 2, chapter 17, relied upon in 1890 as expressing “universally recognized
law” by the U.S.A./Venezuela Mixed Commission in the Howland case, Reper-
tory, op. dit., § 1016, p. 16}, and the Mixed Commission did not hesitate in de-
claring: “to attempt interpretation of plain words. ... would be violative of Vattel’s
first rule” (Ibid., p. 26). -f. A. Ch. KISS, Répertoire de la Pratique Frangaise en Mat-
iére de Droit Intemational Public, Tome 1, 1962, p. 399, on p. 402 § 810-Text of
Prof. GROS's Pleading in the ICJ on July 15-16, 1952 in the Morao case, and
§ 811-Text of Prof. BASDEVANTs Pleading in of the PIC] on July 5, 1923 in
the Wimbledon case; S.BASTID, Les Traités Dans la Vie Intemationale, 1985, p.
129, footnote no. 1—reproducing the text of the Résolution adopted by UInstitut
de Droit Intemational, Grenada Session, Annuaire de 'Institut, vol. 46, 1956, under-
lining that the rules adopted are only applicable “lorsqu'il y a lieu d'interpréter
un traité” -; and LM. SINCLAIR, “The Principles of Treaty Interpretation and
Their Application By the English Courts”, Intemational and Comparative Law
Quarterly, vol. 12, (1963), p. 536-~referring to the decisions pronouncing that if
the meaning intended to be expressed is clear the Courts are “not at liberty to go
further”).

Rule (B) - “In the interpretation of treaties... we ought not to deviate from the com-
mon use of the language unless we have very strong reasons for it (...) words are
only designed to express the thoughts; thus the true signification of an expression
in common use is the idea which custom has affixed to that expression™ (another
passage from VATTEL relied upon by the US.A./Venezuela Mixed Commis-
sion in the Howland case, op.at., p. 16—f. Award of the Mexico/U.S.A. Mixed
Commission of 1871 in the William Barron case, Ibid., § 1023, p. 30, emphasizing
that: “interpretation means finding in good faith that meaning of certin words,
if they are doubtful, which those who used the words must have desired to con-
vey, according to the usage of speech (usus loguendi)”; ALEXANDER's award of
1899 in the Treaty of Limits case between Costa Rica and Nicaragua Ibid., § 1025,
p- 31, declaring that : “words are to be taken as far as possible in their first and
simplest meanings” ,“in their natural and obvious sense, according to the general
use of the same words™, “in the usual sense, and not in any extraordinary or un-
used acceptation”; S. BASTID, op.qt., p. 129, reproducing the Resolution adopt~
ed in 1956 by U'lnstitut de droit Intemational according to which: “Laccord des
parties sétant réalisé sur le texte, il y a lieu de prendre le sens naturel et ordinaire
de ce texte comme base d'interprétation”; and LM. SINCLAIR, op. dt., p. 537,
reporting that: “the Court ... is bound to construe them {the words) according
to their natural and fair meaning”).

Rule (C) - In cases where the linguistic interpretation of a given text seems inadequate
or the wording thereof is ambiguous, there should be recourse to the integral
context of the Treaty in order to provide an interprecation tha takes into consid-
eration what is normally called: “le sens général, 'esprit du Traité”, or “son écon~
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omie générale” (Award rendered in 1914 by the Permanent Court of Arbitration
in the Timor Island case between the Netherlands and Portugal, Repertory, op. dit.,
§ 1019, p. 28; decision of the Bulgarian/Greek Mixed Arbitration Tribunal ren-
dered in 1927 in the Sarapoulos case, Repertory, vol. 11 1919-1945, § 2020, p.
21-22; The 1926 Paula Mendel case where the Germany/U.S.A. Mixed Claims
Commission disregarded “z literal construction of the language™ since it “finds
no support in the other provisions of the Treaty as 2 whole”. Hence, “it cannot
stand alone and must fall” Repertory vol. I1, § 2025, p. 25; and the Decision of the
Germany/Venczuela Mixed Chims Commission of 1903 in the Kummerow case
which stated that: “it is a uniform rule of construction that effect should be given
to every clause and sentence of an agreement”, Repertory, op. dt, vol. I, § 1031, p.
38).

Rule (D} - In addition to the “integral context”, “object and intent”, “spirit”, “objec-
tives”, “comprehensive construction of the treaty as 2 whole”, recourse to the
rules and principles of international law has to be considered a necessary factor
providing guidance within the process of treaty interpretation. (Resolution of
Vlnstitut de Droit International, op. dt., Article 1.(2) which stipulates: “les termes
des dispositions du traité doivent étre interprétés dans le contexte entier, selon la
bonne foi et 2 la lumiére des principes du droit international”; Paragraph 3.(c),
of Article 31 of Vienna convention on the Law of Treaties, containing reference
to: “all relevant rule of international law applicable in the relations between the
parties”, and the Award rendered in 1928 by the France/Mexico Claims Com-
mission in the Georges Pinson case, which stated among “les principes généraux
d’interprétation”: “Toute convention internationale doit &tre réputée s'en référer
tacitement au droit international commun, pour toutes les questions qu’elle ne
résout pas elle-méme en termes exprés et d'une facon différente” Repertory, op.

. dt., vol. 11, § 2023, p. 24).

Rule (E) - Nothing is better settled, as a canon of interpretation in all systems of law,
than that a clause must be so interpreted as to give it a meaning rather than so as
to deprive it of meaning (Award of the UK/USA Arbitral Tribunal of 1926 in
the Cayuga Indians case, Repertory, vol. 11, § 2036, p. 35~-36). This is simply an ap-
plication of the more wider legal principle of “effectiveness™ which requires favour-
ing the interpretation that gives to each treaty provision “effet utle”.

Rule (F) - When there is need of interpretation of a treaty it is proper to consider stip-
ulations of eatlier or later treaties in relation to subjects similar to those treated in
the treaty under consideration” (Award of the Mexico/USA General Claims
Commission of 1929 rendered in the Elton case, Repertory, vol. 11, § 2033, p. 35).
Thus, establishing the practice followed through comparative law survey of all
relevant precedents becomes an extremely useful tool to provide an authoritative
interpretation.
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41, In the light of the above mentioned canons of interpretation, the relevant
provisions of the Sri Lanka/U.K. Bilateral Investment Treaty have to be identified,
each provision construed separately, examined within the global context of the Treaty,
in order to determine the proper interpretation of each text, as well as its scope of ap-
plication in relation to the other treaty provisions and with regard to the various
general rules and principles of international law not specifically referred to in the
Treaty itself.

In more precise terms, all appropriate measures should be undertaken in view of
establishing the legal regime created by the Treaty for the protection of those investors
covered by the Sri Lanka/U.K. Bilateral Investment Treaty in case their investments
suffer destruction owing to activities related to the Government’s counter-insurgency
actions.

42. The construction of the Treaty’s comprchensive system governing all
aspects related to the extent of the special protection conferred upon the investors in
question would permit the evaluation of the Treaty’s effective contribution in this
respect; i.e. in view of determining with regard to each issue whether the Sri Lanka/
UK. Treaty intended, merely, to consolidate the pre-existing rules of intcmationa} faw,
or, on the contrary, it tended to innovate by imposing on the host state a higher stan-
dard of international responsibility.

Essentially, said evaluation is required, not as a conceptual doctrinal exercise, but
for a practical reason related to the adjudication of the case, since in accordance there-
with the following question could be adequately answered: what are the limits within
which the classical international law based on the judicial and arbitral precedents could
be of relevance in adjudicating the present case?

43, Taking the above-mentioned remarks into consideration, the Tribunal
agrees with the Partics in considering that there are four fundamental texts in the Sri
Lanka/UK. Bilateral Investrnent Treaty that should be carefully considered for the
purpose of determining the host State’s responsibility for investment losses suffered as
a result of property destruction:

First: The general obligation imposed by virtue of Article 2.(2), by which the host
State undertook that forcign investments “shall enjoy full protection and security in
the territory™, since violation thereof entails a certain degree of international respon~
sibility;

Second: The most-favoured-nation provision contained in Article 3, which may be
invoked to increase the host State’s liability in case a higher standard of international
protection becomes granted to investments pertaining to nationals of a Third State;
Third: The special provision of Article 4.(1) which envisages the legal consequences
of losses suffered by foreign investments “owing to war or other armed conflict, rev-
olution, a state of national emergency, revolt, insurrection or fot™ in the territory of
the host State; and

Founth: “without prejudice to” the rules applicable under the previous text (Article
4.(1), the Treaty introduced a more specific rule tailored particularly to cover two
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types of “losses”, which are “suffered” in any of the situations enumerated in Article
4.(1). These two categories are:
(z) requisitioning of their property by its forces or authorities; or
(b) destruction of their property by its forces or authorities which was not
caused in combat action or was not required by the necessity of the situation.
Whenever either case is established, the Treaty provided in the concluding sen-
tence of Article 4.(2) for a certain remedy: “restitution or adequate compensation™,
and that the “resulting payments shall be freely transferable”.

44.  Accordingly, the treaty envisaged different situations under which protec-
tion could be invoked in case of destruction of investments, and different reredies are
provided for in order to meet the particularity of each situation.

The various categories of such situations that could be encountered may be clas-
sified as follows:

(i) - Situations in which the foreign investor claims that the destruction of
the property was unnecessarily caused by the governmental security
forces acting out of combat, and in such case the Treaty provides for a
special rule in Article 4.(2), which was tailored particularly to fit the re-
quirements of such serious wrongful action direcdy attributable to the

~ State organs; .

(i) - In case the foreign investor fails to establish that the destruction was at-
tributable to the governmental security forces, or in case there was effec-
tively a “combat” during which the property was destroyed under
conditions that could hardly permit assessing the unnecessary character of
the destruction in a convincing manner, the type of remedy envisaged
under Article 4.(2) of the Sri Lanka /U K. Bilateral Investment Treaty has
to be considered excluded. Consequendy, the other provisions of the
treaty become relevant;

(iii) - In presence of such situation not possibly governed by Article 4.(2), the
search has to be first directed towards investigating the existence of
certain rules more favourable to the foreign investor than those provided
for under Articles 2.(2) and 4.(2), since the better treatment accorded to
investors of the Third State could be extended to apply by virtue of the
most-favoured-nation clause stipulated in Article 3 of the Sri Lanka/UX.
Treaty;

{iv) - In the absence of 2 more favourable system applicable by virtue of
Article 3, the applicable rules become necessarily those governing the k-
ability of the Host State under Article 4.(1) and Article 2.(2), whether
taken together or separately as the case may be.

45. The Claimant’s primary submission—as previously explained (supra, § 26)
~is based on the assumption that the “full protection and security” provision of Article
2.(2) created a “strict liabiliey” which renders the Sri Lankan Government liable for
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any destruction of the investment even if caused by persons whose acts are not attrib-
utable to the Government and under circumstances beyond the State’s control.

For sustaining said construction introducing a new type of objective absolute re-
sponsibility called “without fault”, the Claimant’s main argument relies on the exist-
ence in the text of the Treaty of two terms: “enjoy” and “full”, a combination which
sustains, according to the Claimant, that the Parties intended to provide the investor
with a “guarantee” against all losses suffered due to the destruction of the investment
for whatever reason and without any need to establish who was the person that caused
said damage. In other words, the Parties substituted the “due diligence” standard of
general intemational law by a new obligation creating an obligation to achieve a result
(“obligation de résultat™) providing the foreign investor with a sort of “insurance”
against the risk of having his investment destroyed under whatever circumstances.

46. The Tribunal is of the opinion that the Claimant’s construction of Article
2.(2) as explained herein-above cannot be justified under any of the canons of inter~
pretation previously stated (supra, § 40).

47.  In conformity with Rule (B), the words “shall enjoy full protection and se-
curity” have to be construed according to the “common use which custom has
affixed” to them, their “usus loquendi”, “natural and obvious sense”, and “fair
meaning.”

In fact, similar expressions, or even stronger wordings like the “most constant
protection”, were utilized since last century in a number of bilateral treaties concluded
to encourage the flow of international economic exchanges and to provide the citizens
and national companies established on the territory of the other Contracting Party
with adequate treatment for them as well as to their property (“Traité d’Amitié, de
Commerce et Navigation”, concluded between France and Mexico on November 27,
1886—f. A Ch.KISS, Répenoire de la Pratique Frangaise ..., op. dt., Tome 111, 1965 §
1002, p. 637; The Treaty concluded in 1861 between ltaly and Venezuela, the inter-
pretation of which became the central issue in the Sambiaggio case adjudicated in 1903
by the Italy/Venezuela Mixed Claims Commission—U.N. Reports of Intemational Ar-
bitral Awards, vol. X, p. 512 ss.).

48. The arbitral Tribunal is not aware of any case in which the obligation
assumed by the host State to provide the nationals of the other Contracting State with
“full protection and security” was construed as absolute obligation which guarantees
that no damages will be suffered, in the sense that any violation thereof creates auto-
matically a “strict liability™ on behalf of the host State.

Sambiaggio case seems to be the only reported case in which such argument was
voiced, but without success. The Italian Commissioner AGNOLI, referred in his
Report to:

The protection and security...which the Venezuelan Government explicidy guar-
antees by Article 4 of the Treaty of 1861 to Italians residing in Venezuela (U.N.
Reports, op.cit., p. 502~~underlining added).

The Venezuelan Commissioner ZULOAGA responded by indicating that:
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Governments are constituted to afford protection, not to guarantee it (Ibid., p. 511).

The Umpire RALSTON put an end to the italian allegation by emphasizing
that:

I it had been the contract between ltaly and Venezuels, understood and con-

sented by both, that the latter should be held liable for the acts of revolutionists—

something in derogation of the general principles of international law—this
agreement would naturally have found direct expression in the protocol itself and

would not have been left to doubtful interpretation (fbid., p. 521).

49. In the recent case concerning Elettronica Sicula S.P.A.(ELSI) between the
US.A. and Ialy adjudicated by 2 Chamber of the International Court of Justice, the
U.S.A. Government invoked Article V.(1) of the Bilateral Treaty which established an
obligation to provide “the most constant protection and security”, but without claim-
ing that this obligation constitutes a “guarantee” involving the emergence of a “strict
Liability” (Section 2—Chapter V of the U.S.A. Memorial dated May 15, 1987, where
reference is made, on the contrary at page 135 to the : “One well-established aspect
of the intemational standard of treatment. .. that States must use “due diligence” to
prevent wrongful injuries to the person or property of aliens within their territory™).

In its Judgment of July 20, 1989, the IC] Chamber clearly stated that:

The reference in Article V to the provision of “constant protection and security”

cannot be construed as thé giving of a warranty that property shall never in any

circumstances be occupied or disturbed (C.1J., Recueil, 1989, § 108, p. 65).

Consequently, both the oldest reported arbitral precedent and the latest 1.CJ.
ruling confirms that the language imposing on the host State an obligation to provide
“protection and security” or “full protection and security required by international
law” (the other expression included in the same Article V) could not be construed ac-
cording to the natural and ordinary sense of the words as creating a “strict liability”.
The rule remains that:

The State into which an alien has entered ... is not an insurer or a guarantor of

his security... It does not, and could hardly be asked to, accept an absolute re-

sponsibility for all injuries to foreigners (Alwyn V. FREEMAN, Responsibility of

States for Unlawful Acts of Their Armed Forees, Sijthoff, Leiden, 1957, p. 14).

This conclusion, arrived at more than three decades ago, still reflects—in the Tri-
bunal’s opinion—the present status of International Law Investment Standards as re-
flected in “the worldwide BIT network” (4. K.S. GUDGEON, “Valuation of
Nationalized Property Under United States and other Bilateral Investment Treaties”.
Chapter HI, in the Valuation of Nationalized Property in International Law, Ed. by
Richard B. LILLICH, vol. IV, (1987), p. 120).

50. In the opinion of the present Arbitral Tribunal, the addition of words like
“constant” or “full” to strengthen the required standards of “protection and security”
could justifiably indicate the Parties’ intention to require within their treaty relation-
ship a standard of ““due diligence™ higher than the “minimum standard” of general in-
ternational law,. But, the nature of both the obligation and ensuing responsibility
remain unchanged, since the added words “constant” or “full” are by themselves not
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sufficient to establish that the Parties intended to transform their mutual obligation into
a “strice liability”.

51.  The Tribunal’s opinion arrived at in applying the established rule, accord-
ing to which the words contained in a treaty provision have to be given the natural
and fair meaning affixed to them by the common usage, is further supported by re-
course to the other canons of interpretation.

According to Rule (C) (supra, § 40), proper interpretation has to take into account
the realization of the Treaty’s general spirt and objectives, which is clearly in the
present case the encouragement of investments through securing an adequate environ-
ment of legal protection. But, in the absence of rravaux préparatoires in the proper sense,
it would be almost impaossible to ascertain whether Sri Lanka and the United Kingdom
had contemplated during their negotiations the necessity of disregarding the common
habitual pattern adopted by the previous treaties, and to establish a “strict liability” in
favour of the foreign investor as one of the objectives of their treaty protection.
Equally, none among the authors referred to by the Parties claimed in his commentary
that the Sri Lanka/UK. Treaty or similar Bilateral Investment Treatics had the effect
of increasing the customary international law standards of protection to the extent of
imposing “strict liability” on the host State in cases where the investment suffers losses
due to property destruction.

Accordingly, recourse to the spirit of the Treaty and its abjectives would not alter
the conclusion arrived at by the Tribunal in refusing to consider that the Sri Lanka/
UK. Treaty imposed by Article 2.(2) 2 “strict liability” in the event of failure to
provide “full protection and security”.

52. Moreover, both Rules (D) and (E) confirm the Tribunal’s opinion, as Article
2.(2) should not be taken separately out of the Treaty’s global context.

The Claimant’s contention that Article 2.(2) adopted a standard of “strict liabil-
ity” would lead logically to the inevitable conclusion that Article 4 in its entirety
becomes superfluous, in the sense that according to the Claimant’s interpretation the
Parties were not serious in adding to their Treaty two provisions which are not suscep-
tible of getting any application in practice. Such an interpretation has to be rejected in
application of Rule (E) which requires that Article 2.(2) be interpreted in a manner that’
does not deprive Article 4 from having any meaning or scope of applicability.

Such an unaccepted result could have been casily avoided if the Claimant had not
disregarded Rule (D) according to which the rules of general intemational law have to
be taken into consideration by necessary implication, and not to be deemed totally ex-
cluded as alleged by the Claimant.

In the Tribunal’s opinion the non-reference to international law in Article 2.(2)
of the Sri Lanka/U.K. Treaty should not be taken as implying the Parties’ intention to
avoid its application under any aspect, including its role as supplementary source pro-
viding guidance in the process of interpretation.
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The Tribunal’s conclusion in this respect, is not only based on Rule (D) as previ-
ously indicated, but it is supported furthermore by what was expressed by an informed
author who stated that:

the UK. BIT's normally make no international law reference... This drafting de-

vice could be argued to cloud reliance on external sources of law and precedent

during the lifc of the treaty, although this is undoubtedly not the intent. (K. Scott

GUDGEON, “Valuation of Nationalized Property....” op.dt., at p. 119-120).

53.  Finally, it has to be recalled that in reliance upon Rule (F} the precedents
established by the Arbitral Tribunal in the Sambiaggic case (1903) and by the IC]
Chamber in the Elettronica Sicula case (1989}, both previously referred to (supra, § 48-
49), are categoric in supporting the Tribunal’s refusal to construe the words “full pro-
tection and security” as imposing a “strict liability” on the host State for whatever
losses suffered due to the destruction of the investment protected under the treaty.

Therefore, and taking into consideration all the reasons stated in the previous
paragraphs (supra, § 45-52), the Tribunal declares unfounded the Claimant's main plea
aiming to consider the Government of Sri Lanka assuming strict liability under Article
2.(2) of the Bilateral Investment Treaty, without any need to prove that the damages
suffered were attributable to the State or its agents, and to establish the State’s respon-
sibility for not acting with “due diligence™.

54.  For the same reasons, the Tribunal rejects the Claimant’s argument based
on the most-favoured-nation clause contained in Article 3 of the Sri Lanka/U.K. Bi-
lateral Investment Treaty.

By invoking the absence in the Sri Lanka/Switzerland Treaty of a text similar to
Article 4 providing for a “war clause” or “civil disturbance” exemption form the full
protection and security standard, the Claimant based his argument on two implicit as-
sumptions:

(i) - that the Sri Lanka/Switzerland Treaty provides equally for a “strict lia-
bility” standard of protection in case of losses suffered due to property de-
struction; and

(i) - that the rules of general international law are totally excluded and re-
placed exclusively by the Treaty’s “strict liability” standard.

Both assumptions are unfounded, as the Tribunal has no reasons to believe that
the Sri Lanka/Switzerland Treaty adopted a “strict liability” standard, and the Tribunal
is convinced that, in the absence of a specific rule provided for in the Treaty itself as
lex specialis, the general international law rules have to assume their role as lex generalis.

Accordingly, it is not proven that the Sri Lanka/Switzerland Treaty contains rules
more favourable than those provided for under the Sri Lanka/U K. Treaty, and hence,
Article 3 of the latter Treaty cannot be justifiably invoked in the present case.

55. Faced with the task of adjudicating the Claimant’s “alternative submis-
sion”, the Tribunal has to provide an answer to the various arguments raised by both
Parties with regard to the interpretation of Article 4, the inter-relation between 4.(1)
and 4.(2), their respective scope of application, as well as the burden of proof assumed
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by each Party in evidencing the existence or non-existence of the conditions required
for the applicability of the rules and standards referred to in both paragraphs of Article
4.

56. In determining the applicability of either paragraph of Article 4, the Tri-
bunal shall be guided by the same rules of interpretation previously prescribed from
(A) to (F) (supra, § 40).

Nevertheless, in order to handle the legal issues related to evidence, the above-
stated canons have to be complemented by taking into consideration the following es-
tablished intemational law rules:

Rule (G)- “There exists a general principle of law placing the burden of proof upon
the claimant™ (Bin CHENG, General Principles of Law as Applied by Intemational
Courts and Tribunals, Grotius Publications, Cambridge, (1987), p. 327, and the
supporting authorities referred to therein).

Rule (H)- *“The term actor in the principle onus probandi actoni incumbit is not to be taken
to mean the phintiff from the procedural standpoint, but the real claimant in
view of the issues involved” (Ibid., p. 332). Hence, with regard to “proof of in-
dividual allegations advanced by the parties in the course of proceedings, the bur-
den of proof rests upon the party alleging the fact” (Ibid., p. 334; and Durvard V.
SANDIFER, Evidence before International ‘Tribunals, University Press of Virginia,
Charlottesville, (1975), p. 127, footnote 101).

Rule (I)- “A Party having the burden of proof must not only bring evidence in support
of his allegations, but must also convince the Tribunal of their truth, lest they be
disregarded for want, or insufficiency, of proof” (CHENG, op.cit., p. 329~ 331,
with quotations from the supporting authoritics).

Rule (J)- “The international responsibility of the State is not 1o be presumed. The party
alleging a violation of international law giving rise to intemnational responsibility
has the burden of proving the assertion” (The Tanger Horses case (1924); the Corfu
Channel case (1949), and the Belgium Claims case (1930) referred to by CHENG,
at p. 305-306).

Rule (K}~ “International tribunals are “not bound to adhere to strict judicial rules of
evidence”. As a general principle “the probative force of the evidence presented
is for the Tribunal to determine” (SANDIFER, op. dt. pp. 9 and 17, Award of
1896 rendered in the Fabiani case between France and Venczuela, Repertory, op.
at., Vol 1, p. 412-413; and the 1903 Award rendered in the Franqui case by the
Spain/Venezuela Mixed Claims Commission, which considered this rule as ex-
pressing “the unanimous conviction of the most conspicuous writers upon inter~
national law” and relying inter alia on Article 15 of the Rules for Arbitration
between Nations adopted in 1875 by Plnstitut de Droit Intemational, and what
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MERIGNHAC wrote at p. 269 of his Traité de I'Arbitrage Intemational—U.N. Re-
ports, op.qt., Vol. X, p. 751-753).

Rule (L)~ In exercizing the “free evaluation of evidence” provided for under the pre-
vious Rule, the international tribunals “decided the case on the strength of the
evidence produced by both parties”, and in case a party “adduces some evidence
which prima fade supports his allegation, the burden of proof shifts to his oppo-
nent (SANDIFER,, op. dt., pp. 125, 129, 130, 170-173, relying upon the Parker
case of 1962 adjudicated by the Mexico/U.S.A. General Claims Commission,
U.N. Reports, op.qt., Vol. TV, p. 36-41; the ICJ’s Ambatielos and Asylum cases).

Rule (M) Finally, “In cases where proof of a fact presents extreme difficulty, a tribunat
may thus be satisfied with less conclusive proof, i.e., prima fade evidence”
(CHENG, op.dt.,p. 323-325, with quotations from the supporting authorities
and cited with approval by SANDIFER, at p. 173).

57. In the light of all the legal Rules from (A) to (M) stated herein above (§ 40
and 56), it becomes clear that Article 4.(2) regulated a specific situation by adopting 2
standard of responsibility representing a certain degree of particularity, and which
becomes applicable only in cases characterized by the cumulative existence of three
factors: .

(a) - that the destruction of property not only occurred during hostilities,
but more precisely such destruction has been proven to be committed
by the governmental forces or authorities themselves;

(b) - that the destruction was not caused in combat action, since the higher
standard of liability (“adequate compensation” payable in “freely trans-
ferable” currency) is linked with the assumption of unjustified destruc-
tion committed out of combat; and

{c) - that the destruction was not required by the necessity of the situation,
as the existence of a combat would not be sufficient per se to alleviate
the responsibility of the governmental forces and authorities, once it has
been proven that the security forces bypassed the reasonable limits by
undertaking unnecessary destruction. )

58. Moreover, it has to be noted that the foreign investor who invokes the ap-
plicability of said Article 4.(2) assumes a heavy burden of proof, since he has, in con-
formity with Rules (G) and (J), 10 establish:

(i) - that the governmental forces and not the rebels caused the destruction;

(ii) ~ that this destruction occurred out of “combat’’;

{iii) - that there was no “necessity”, in the sense that the destruction could
have been reasonably avoided due to its unnecessary character under the
prevailing circumstances.
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59.  Exercizing its discretionary power in evaluating the evidence produced by
both Parties during the proceedings of the present case in conformity with the above-
stated Rules (K) and (1), the Arbitral Tribunal considers that:

(a) - There is no doubt that the destruction of the premises which existed
in Serendib’s Farm took place during the hostilities of January 28, 1987,
and the loss of the shrimps harvest occurred during the period in which
the governmental security forces occupied the Farm’s fields;

(b) - Nevertheless, there is no convincing evidence produced which suffi-
ciently sustains the Claimant’s allegation that the firing which caused
the property destruction came from the governmental troops, and no
reliable evidence was adduced to prove that the shrimps were lost due
to acts committed by the security forces;

{¢) - Equally, no convincing evidence was produced which sufficiently sus-
tains the Respondent’ s allegation that the firing which caused the de-
struction of the property came from the insurgents resisting the security
forces.

60. Therefore, the Arbitral Tribunal finds that the first condition required
under Article 4.(2) cannot be considered fulfilled in the present case, due to the lack
of convincing evidence proving that the losses were incurred due to acts committed

" by the governmental forces.

At the same time, the Tribunal cannot proceed in this respect on the basis of
prima facie evidence adduced in function of Rules (H) or (M) since the existence of a
legal condition as important as the attributability of the damage should, in the Tribu-
nal’s opinion, be proven in a conclusive manner.

61. Regarding the second condition which excluded from the scope of Article
4.(2) the losses suffered “in combat action”, it requires first the determination of what
is meant by “combat action™ and subsequently whether the investment losses were ef-
fectively caused in “combat action”.

In implementation of the above-stated Rule (B) (supra, § 40), the term “combat
action” has to be understood according to its natural and fair meaning as commonly
used under prevailing circumstances, i.¢. within the context of guerrilla warfare which
characterizes the modern civil wars conducted by insurgents.

Rarely, in contemporary history actions undertaken during civil wars would take
the classical form of a regular military confrontation between two opposing armed
groups on a battle field where the adversaries engage simultaneously in fighting each
other on the spot. In most cases, the opponents in current civil war situations would
resort to sporadic surprise attacks as far as possible from their home bases, trying to
avoid direct military confrontation through retreat to places where pursuit could be
extremely difficult.

Hence, a “combat action” undertaken against insurgents could be envisaged
comprising vast areas extending over the several square miles covering all the localities
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in which the hit and run operations as well as the governmental counter-insurgency
activities could take place.

62.  In the light of the fore-mentioned remarks, and taking into consideration
the evidence submitted by both Parties throughout the arbitration proceedings, the
‘Tribunal is of the opinion that the operation “Day Break™ undertaken on January 28,
1987, against the “Tiger” fighters belonging to the movement known as LLTE, in
order to regain control of the Manmunai area, qualifies as “combat action”.

Accordingly, the losses caused as a result of said “combat action” are not covered
by Aricle 4.(2) of the Sri Lanka/UXK. Bilateral Investment Treaty, since they fall
within the explicitly excluded category.

63.  The third and final condition provided for in Article 4.(2) relates to the
“necessity of the situation”, in the sense that the State responsibilty under said dispo-
sition can only be engaged if it has been proven that the losses incurred were not due
to “the necessity of the situation”.

The term in question follows 2 pattern long established in practice, as a number
of arbitral precedents refused to allocate compensation for destructions that took place
during hostilities on the assumption that these destructions “were compelled by the
imperious necessity of war” (¢ the 1903 Award rendered by the Netherlands/Vene-
zuela Mixed Claims Commission in the Dania Bembelish case, Repertory...op.dit., vol.
I, § 297-280; and the Special Ad Hoc Arbitral Tribunal adjudicating the Handman case
between the UK. and the US.A.). The doctrinal authorities approved that reasoning
mainly justified by the extreme difficulty, described as “next to impossible”, of obtain-
ing the reconstruction in front of the arbitral tribunal of all the conditions under which
the “combat action” took place with an adequate reporting of all the accompanying
circumstances (. RALSTON, The Law and Procedure of Intemational Tribunals, (1926),
p. 391; and C. EAGLETON, The Responsibility of States in Intemational Law, (1928), p.
155).

64.  In the present case, neither Party was able to provide reliable evidence ex-
plaining with precision the conditions under which the destructions and other losses,
mainly of the shrimps crop, took place. Under these circumstances, it would be ex-
tremely difficult to determine whether the destruction and losses were caused as an in~
evitable result of the “necessity of the situation”, or, on the contrary, were avoidable if
the governmental security forces would have been keen to act with due diligence.

Therefore, the Tribunal deems appropriate to rely on the above-stated Rule (),
according to which “the international responsibility of the State is not to be presumed”
(supra, § 56).

Consequently, all three conditions necessary for the applicability of Article 4.(2)
are proven to be non-existent in the present case, and Article 4.(1) becomes the only
part of Article 4 providing remedy that could be available for the Claimant to base his
claims thereunder.

65. For the applicability of Article 4.(1), the only condition required is the
presence of “losses suffered”.
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These two key words are so clear that they do not call for interpretation in con-
formity with VATTELs Rule (A) which renders any attempted departure from the
plain meaning of the words a violation of international law rules on treaty interpreta-
tion.

Undoubtedly, the term “losses suffered” includes all property destruction which
materializes due to any type of hostilities enumerated in the text (“owing to war or
other armed conflict, revolution, a state of national emergency, revolt, insurrection or
riot in the territory™).

Equally, the mere fact that such “losses suffered” do exist is by itself sufficient to
render the provision of Article 4.(1) applicable, without any nced to prove which side
was responsible for said destruction, or to question whether the destruction was nec-~
essary or not.

In essence, the scope of applicability of Article 4.(1) is not subject to any legal re-
strictions. Hence, it extends as lex generalis to all situations not covered by the special
rule of Article 4.(2), including necessarily cases where no proof has been established
to determine whether the governmental forces or the insurgents caused the property
destruction.

66. The only difficulty encountered under Article 4.(1) does not relate to its
interpretation or conditions of applicability, but to the type of remedy provided for
thereunder.

Preciscly, Article 4.(1) does not include any substantive rules establishing direct
solutions; i.e. material rules providing remedies expressed in fixed and definitive terms.
Like conflict-of-law rules, Article 4.(1) contains simply an indirect rule whose function
is limited to effecting a reference (renvor) towards other sources which indicate the so-
lution to be followed. ’

According to the undisputed plain language of Article 4.(1), the investor—
already enjoying the “full security” under Article 2.(2) of the Sri Lanka/U.K. Treaty—
has to be accorded treatment no less favourable than:

(i) - that which the host State accords to its own nationals and companies; or
(ii) ~ that accorded to nationals and companies of any Third State.

Taking into account the absence of restrictions, whether explicit or implied, and
the generality of the text, the “no less favourable treatment” granted thercunder covers
all possible cases in which the investments suffer losses owing to events identified as
including “a state of national emergency, revolt, insurrection, or riot”, with regard to
remedies enumerated in the textitself: “restitution, indemnification, compensation or
other scttlement”.

67. Conscquently, it could be safely ascertained that the Bilateral Investment
Treaty, through the above-stated renvoi technique, had not left the host State totally
immune from any responsibility in case the foreign investor suffers losses due to the
destruction of his investment which occurs during a counter-insurgency action under-
taken by the governmental security forces.



554 ICSID REVIEW—FOREIGN INVESTMENT LAW JOURNAL

In implementation of Article 4.(1), the host State could find itself in such a situ-
ation bound to bear a certain degree of responsibility to be determined in implemen-
tation of the renvoi contained in that Article 4.(1).

Once failure to provide “full protection and security” has been proven (under
Article 2.(2) of the Sri Lanka/U.K. Treaty or under a similar provision existing in other
bilateral Investment Treaties extending the same standard to nationals of a third State),
the host State’s responsibility is established, and compensation is due according to the
general international law rules and standards previously developed with regard to the
State’s failure to comply with its “due diligence” obligation under the minumum stan-
dard of customary international law.

68. It should be noted in this respect that in the Government of Sri Lanka’s
own words, its international responsibility could be engaged “if it fails to act with due
diligence” (Respondent’s Counter—Memorial, at p. 28, second paragraphy).

In the sentence starting at the end of the same page and continued on the follow-
ing page, it was clearly stated that:

If the government’s lack of duc diligence caused otherwise unnecessary destruc-

tion, then the government would ... have violated its obligation under Article

2.2)....

The reference to the “lack of due diligence” emerges from the Government's
basic assumption, according to which:

the language “full protection and security” is cormmon in bilateral investment

treaties, and it incorporates rather than overrides, the customary international le-

gal sandard of responsibility. This international legal standard requires due dili-

gence on the part of the states, and reasonable justification for any destruction of

property (Respondent’s Counter-Memorial, at p. 27).

69. Hence, any forcign investor, cven if his national State has not concluded
with Sri Lanka a Bilateral Investment Treaty containing a provision similar to that of
Article 2.(2), would be entitled to a protection which requires “due diligence” from
the host State, i.e. Sci Lanka. Failure to comply with this obligation imposed by cus-
tomary international law entails the host State’s responsibility.

The Letter of September 13, 1989, containing the Government of Sri Lanka's re-
sponse to the Tribunal’s Order dated Junc 27, 1989, confirmed that:

The Government’s obligation in such circumstances under customary interna-
tional law is to excrcise due diligence to protect alien individuals or companies
from investment losses (paragraph (c) of said letter, with reference to authorities
stating that: “A state on whose territory an insurrection occurs is not responsible
for loss or damage sustained by an alien to his person or property unless it can be
shown that the government of this state was negligent in the use of, ot in the fail-
ure to use, the forces at its disposal for the prevention or suppression of the insur-
rection”.

The Respondent's submission as expressed in the Letter’s final paragraph reads as
follows:
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Thus, the mere occurrence of investment losses by an alien, such as AAPL, does

not render the Government responsible to compensate the alien for the losses.

Rather, the Government is obliged to compensate the alien only in the event the

alien demonstrates that the Government failed to act reasonably under the cir-

cumstances.

70. Within the context of the latter alternative, the Tribunal has to envisage
whether effectively St Lanka’s tesponsibility could be sustained under international
law which has to be considered applicable by virtue of the renvoi provided for in Article
4.(1), combined with the conventional standard of “full protection and security” stip-
ulated in Article 2.(2), as well as in other Bilateral Investment Treaties concluded by
Sri Lanka.

71.  But, before turning to undertake that task, the Tribunal has to emphasize
that the Respondent referred in the september 13, 1989 Letter to another legal ground
available by virtue of the renvoi contained in Article 4.(1), which is the State’s respon~
sibility under the rules of the domestic legal system.

As indicated in paragraph (B} of said letter, previously quoted in its entirety (supra,
§ 36), the Sri Lankan Law provides, for the person who suffered losses owing to armed
hostilities, “a remedy under lex aquilian principles, namely, for intentional or negligent
wrongdoing”.

Nevertheless, the Tribunal deems appropriate, for procedural considerations, not
to delve into the domestic law responsibility, since the Sri Lankan Law was not fully
pleaded during the present arbitration proceedings.

[11——The Legal and Factual Considerations
on which the Respondent’s Responsibility is Established

72, Itis a generally accepted rule of International Law, clearly stated in inter-
national arbitral awards and in the writings of the doctrinal authorities, that :

(i) - A State on whose territory an insurrection occurs is not responsible for
loss or damage sustained by foreign investors unless it can be shown that
the Government of that state failed to provide the standard of protection
required, either by treaty, or under general customary law, as the case may
be; and

(i) - Failure to provide the standard of protection required entails the state’s
international responsibility for losses suffered, regardless of whether the
damages occurred during an insurgents’ offensive act or resulting from
governmental counter-insurgency activities.

73. The long established arbitral case-law was adequately expressed by Max
HUBER, the Rapporteur in the Spanish Zone of Moroceo claims (1923}, in the following
terms:

The principle of non-responsibility in no way excludes the duty to exercise a cer-
tain degree of vigilance. If a state is not responsible for the revalutionary events
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themselves, it may nevertheless be responsible, for what its authorities do or not

to do to ward the consequence, within the limits of possibility. (Translation from

the French original text reported by CHENG, in his geweral principles. .., op.dit.,

at p. 229).

Furthemore, the famous arbitrator indicated that the “degree of vigilance” re-
quired in proving the necessary protection and security would differ according to the
circumstances.

In the absence of any higher standard provided for by Treaty, the general inter-
national law standard was stated to reflect the “degree of security reasonably ex-
pected”. Max HUBER indicated in this respect:

Du moment que la vigilance exercée tombe manifestement au-dessous de ce

niveau par rapport aux ressortissants d'un Etat étranger déterminé, ce dernier est

en droit de se considérer comme }ésé dans des intéréts qui doivent jouir de la pro-

tection du droit international (Rapport, UN. Recueil des Sentences Arbitrales, vol.

1L, p. 634; and in Repertory ..., op.dit., p. 426).

In implementation of said standard of vigilance “qu’au point de vue du droit in-
ternational I'Etat est tenu de garantir”, HUBER arrived in his award rendered on May
1, 1925 (Britanic Property case between Spain and the U.K.) to hold Spain responsible
for: “manque de diligence dans la prévention des actes dommageables” (U.N. Rerueil
des Sentences. ., op.dt., p. 645), and in the Melillea- Ziat, Ben Kiran case he went as far as
to declare the authorities responsible for: “négligence qui friserait la complicité” (Ibid.,
p. 731).

74.  Another reputed arbitrator and author, RALSTON acting as Umpire in
the Sambiggo case between Italy and Venezuela, did not hesitate to declare:

The umpire .... accepts the rule that if in any case of reclamation submitted to

him it is alleged and proved that Venezuelan authorities failed to exercise due dil-

igence to prevent damages from being inflicted by revolutionists, that country

should be held responsible (U.N. Recueil des Sentences Arbitrales, Vol. X, p.534).

75.  On various other occasions, the State Responsibility had been admitted for
failure to provide the required protection, as witnessed by the following examples:

~ In the 1903 Kummerow case, the Germany/Venezuela Mixed Claims Commis-
sion declared:

substantially all the authorities on international law agree that a nation is respon-

sible for acts of revolutionists under certain conditions such as lack of diligence,

or negligence in failing to prevent such acts, when possible, or as far as possible

to punish the wrongdoer and make reparation for the injuring (Repertory, op. dt.,

Vol 1, p. 37);

- In Max HUBERS Report of 1925 on “the Individual Claims™ (Spanish Zone of
Moroae cases), he treated the failure to provide the necessary protection and security
as an omission or inaction, and considered that:

T'on est fondé 3 envisager cette inaction comme un manquement 3 une obligation
internationale (Repertory, vol. II, p. 430);

w
o
)
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- In the 1926 Home Insurance Company case, the Mexico/USA General Clain
Comrmission emphasized the importance of the “duty to protect”, which required un-
dertaking all “means reasonably necessary to accomplish that end” (Ibid., p. 433}.

-~ In three successive years (1927, 1928, and 1929), the Mexico/USA General
Claims Commission declared that the Mexican Government is to be responsible for
what could be characterized as “lack of protection” in case this has been proven (the
David Richards casc (1927), the Oriental Navigation Co. case (1928), and the FM. Smith
case (1929), Repertory, vol. 11, p. 435-437).

- In the Victor A. Ermerins case (1929), the Presiding Commissioner, Dr. SIND-
BALLE, in response to the claim tht the Mexican authorities failed “to afford protec-
tion to the intercst of Ermerins”, arrived at the conclusion that in the circumstances of
that case:

a crime of this nature could not have taken place, if the authorities of the town

had propetly fulfilled their duty to afford protection to the property of Ermerins

(U.N. reports of International Arbitral Awards, vol. 1V, p. 476-477);

- In both the Chapman case and the Mrs. Mead case, adjudicated in 1930 by
Mexico/USA General Claims Commission, in spite of the insufficiency of the records
submitted, the Commission, relied on sworn affidavits and non-official reports intro-
duced as evidence in order “to sustain the charge of lack of protection™ (U.N. Reports,
op.dt,, Vol. IV, p. 639 and p. 656-657); )

In the Dexter Balwin case (1933), the Panama/USA General Claims commission,
condemned the local authorities’s failure “to afford protection™ (Repertory, vol. 11, p.
442y, .

- In the 1937 two cases conceming Mr. Brawmann and Frances Healey against the
Republic of Turkey, the Government was declared responsible according to NIEL-
SON’s ruling on the basis that “reasonable care to prevent injuries” was not afforded
(Ibid, p. 443-444).

76. In the light of all the above-mentioned arbitral precedents, it would be ap-
propriate to consider that adequate protection afforded by the host State authorities
constitutes a primary obligation, the failure to comply with which creates international
responsibility. Furthermore, “there is an extensive and consistent state practice sup-
porting the duty to exercise due diligence” (BROWNLIE, System of the Law of
Nations, State Responsibility—Part I, Oxford, 1986, p. 162).

As a doctyinal authority, relied upon by both Parties during the various stages of
their respective pleadings in the present case, Professor BROWNLIE stated categori-
cally that:

There is gencral agreement among writers that the rule of non-responsibility can-

not apply where the government concerned has failed to show due diligence

(Principles of Public Intemational Law, Third Edition, Oxford, 1979, P. 453).

After reviewing all categordes of precedents, including more recent international
judicial case-law, the learned Oxford University Professor arrived, not only to confirm
that international responsibility arises from the mere “failure to exercise due diligence”
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in providing the required protection, but also to note “a sliding scale of hability related
to the standard of due diligence™ (State Responsibility, op. at. p. 162 and p. 168).

In addition, special attention has to be given to the following passages of
BROWNLIE's writings which scem to be of particular relevance to the present case:
- “Unreasonable acts of violence by police officers ... also give rise to responsi-

bility” (Principles, op. cit., p. 447);

- “Substantial negligence to take reasonable precautionary and preventive ac-

tion” is deemed sufficient ground to create “responsibility for damage to foreign

public and private property in the area” (Jbid., p. 452);

- In commenting the ICJ Judgment rendered in the Corfiu case (1949}, the fact

that “nothing was attempted to prevent the disaster” was qualified as “grave

omission” which involved the international responsibility of Albania (State Re-

sponsibility, op. dt., p. 154);

~ With regard to the IC] Judgment rendered in the Hostages case (1980), Profes-

sor BROWNLIE emphasizes Iran’s failure “to take appropriate steps to ensure

the protection™ required under the “full protection and security” provision of the

fran/U.S.A. Amity, Navigation and Commerce Treaty (Ibid., p. 157).

77. A number of other contemporary international law authorities noticed the
“sliding scale”, from the old “subjective” ¢riteria that takes into consideration the rel-
atively limited cxisting possibilities of local authorities in a given context, towards an
“objective” standard of vigilance in assessing the required degree of protection and se-
curity with regard to what should be legitimately expected to be secured for foreign
investors by a reasonably well organized modem State.

As expressed by Professor FREEMAN, in his 1957 Lectures at the Hague
Academy of International Law:

The “duc diligence™ is nothing more nor less than the reasonable measures of -

prevention which a well-administered government could be expected to exercise

under similar circumstances (Responsibility of States..., op. dt., p. 15-16).

According to modern doctrine, the violation of international law entailing the
State’s responsibility has to be considered constituted by “the mere lack or want of dil-
igence”, without any nced to establish malice or negligence (f C.E AMERAS-
INGHE, State Responsibility for Injuries to Aliens, Oxford, (1967), p. 281-282; EV.
GARCIA-AMADOR, The Changing Law of Intemational Claims, vol. 1, (1987), p.
115,118; M. BEDJAOUI, “Responsibility of States: Fault and Strict Liability”, Ency-
clopedia of Public Intemational Law, vol. 10, (1987), p. 359; and K. ZEMANEK, “Re-
sponsibility of States: General Principles”, Ibid., p. 365).

78.  In the light of the above-stated international law precedents and authori-
ties, the arbitral Tribunal has to review the evidence submitted by both Parties in the
present case in order to establish the proven facts, and to determine whether these facts
sustain the Claimant’s allegation that the Respondent Government failed to comply
with its obligation under the Sri Lanka/U K. Bilateral Investment Treaty (particulady
the standard provided for in Article 2.(2), as well as by virtue of the rules governing
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State responsibility under general intemational law (which becomes necessarily appli-
cable by virtue of the renvoi contained in Article 4.(1) of the Treaty)).

79. The Claimant’s case on the facts surrounding the events of January 28,
1987, as imitially submitted can be summarized as follows:

(a) - “During the later part of 1986 and into 1987, the Government of St
Lanka was faced with grave difficultics because of terrorist activities, in-
cluding terrorist activities in that part of the country which is near See-
endib Seafoods, Ltd. farm™ (Claimant’s Memorial, P. 7);

(b} - The management of Serendib company had been closely cooperating
“with the security authorities in the region”, and * was ready and will-
ing to cooperate with the Government” (Ibid., p. 8-9);

(¢) - The destruction and killing which took place on January 28, 1987
“was caused by special security forces”, under circumstances which
“strongly suggest that this incident was a wanton use of force not re-
quired by the exigencies of the situation and not planned pursuant to
any combat action” {thid., p. 8);

(d) - The burning of Serendib’s “office structure, repair shed, store and
dormitory”, the opening of the sluice gates to the grow-out ponds, thus
destroying the shrimp crop, as well as the execution of “21 staff mem-
bers of Screndib Staff”, was not needed since “less destructive action—
short of wholesale destruction and murder- could surely have been tak-
en by the Sri Lankan special security forces” (Ibid., p. 9 and 10).

In order to substantiate the Claimant’s version of the January 28th, 1987 events,
a number of sworn affidavits were submitted with the Claimant’s Memonal, all ema-
nating from the former Serendib employees or relatves of dead former employees, to-
gether with copies of two letters addressed by Serendib’s Managing Director to the
President of the Republic on February 2, and February 9, 1987 (Exhibits form (F) to
).

80. In the Claimant’s Reply to Respondent’s Counter-Memorial, special addi-
tional emphasis was put on reiterating that “che destruction and the killings on January
28, 1987 were caused by the STF”, and the following supplemental points were par-
ticularly stressed:

~ “the Serendib farm was not a terrorist facility”;

- “the STF did not meet with violent resistance from the farm on January 28,

19877,

- “extensive combat action did not occur at the farm betwecen terrorists and the

STF™; and

- “that Respondent has admitted its liability by offering compensation payments

to families of the staff members killed by the STE” (Claimant’s Reply, p. 72).

Among the documents attached to Claimant’s Reply to the Respondent’s
Counter-Memorial, only one Exhibit related to the factual aspects of the events that
took place on January 28, 1987, and during the following days was submitted as
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“Exhibit 00”. The document in question contains a letter addressed to the Managing
Director of Sercndib Company by the Batticaloa District Citizen’s Committee about
the results of the visit of the farm that took place on February 10, 1987.

81. Furthermore, the only person who gave testimony in front of the Tribunal
during the oral phase of the arbitration proceedings was the Managing Director of Ser-
endib Company, Mr. Victor Santiapillai, whose two letters to the President of the Re-
public were submitted as evidence by the Claimant according to what has been
previously indicated (Claimant’s Exhibits (M} and (P)).

Mr. Santiapillai was examined by the Claimant’s Counsel and cross-examined by
the Respondent’s Counsel.

82. The Respondent’s case provided a different version of the facts, which can
be summarized as follows:

(a) - “The Government of Sri Lanka was seeking ways to prevent the
spread of terrorism and the erosion of Government control in the towns
surrounding the shrimp farm” (Government's Counter-Memorial, p. 3);

(b) - “that the Serendib farm was, in the months preceding the operation
{of January 28, 1987), used by Tiger rebels as a base of operations and
support” (Ibid., p. 4);

(c) - “That the farm’s management cooperated with the Tigers (Ibid., p. 4)

(d) - “That operating out of the farm (and the surrounding area) the Tigers
violently resisted the Special Task Force raid”, and “intense combat ac-
tion occurred at the farm between the Tigers and the special Task Force
during the raid” (Ibid., p. 4);

(e) - “Any destruction of the farm which occurred was caused directly by
terrorist action {in particular, mortar fire), and not by the Special Task
force” (ibid., p. 41).

83.  During the first exchange of the written pleadings, the Respondent’s case
on the facts concerning the events of January 28, 1987 relied exclusively on three Ex-
hibits submitted with the Counter-Memorial, which contain:

() - Document containing the Report of Assistant Superintendent Nimal
Lewke, dated February 2, 1987, and addressed to his superior, Superin-
tendent Karunasena, Commander of the Special Task Force (Exhibit No.
34);

(i) - Document dated February 1, 1987, by virtue of which the Operation’s
Commander Superintendent Karunasena addressed his Report to his su-
perior, Superintendent Sumith Silva, the Coordinating Officer of Batti~
caloa (Exhibit No. 35); and

(iii) - Three intemal correspondence within the General Intelligence & Se-
curity Department of the Ministry of Defense, dated successively Febru-
ary 3, 1987, February 9, 1987, and March 18, 1987, all related to the fate
of Serendib’s prawns which were in the farm ponds and disappeared after
the farm’s destruction on January 28, 1987 (Exhibit No. 36).
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84. The text of the Respondent’s Rejoinder contained no new elaboration on
the facts, but its enclosures comprised two additional Exhibits related to the events of
January 28, 1987, which are:

(i) - A sworn affidavit dated October 17, 1988 (Exhibit No. 38) emanating
from the same Mr. Karunasena, the author of the report previously sub-
mitred as Exhibit No. 35; and

(i) - A sworn affidavit dated also October 17, 1988 (Exhibit No. 39), ema-
nating from Mr. Sumith Silva, the area Coordinating Officer to whom
Mr. Karunasena's Report has been previously submitted.

85. Exercising its recognized prerogatives with regard to the evaluation of the
entire evidence submitted by both Parties taken as a whole, and after careful consid-
eration of all arguments raised duning the proceedings related to the factual aspects of
the case, the Arbitral Tribunal came to the following conclusions:

(A) - Both Parties are in agreement about one fact; that the infiltration by the

rebels of the area in which Serendib’s farm was located took such magnitude that
the entire district had been for several months before January 1987 practically out
of the Govermnment's control.
Though such admitted situation would have raised logically the question of
whether there was during that period filure from the Government's part to
provide “full protection and security”™ according to the objective standard sug-
gested to be applicable, said question remains theoretical since there were no
claimed “Josses suffered” due ¢o the lack of govermmental protection throughout
that period.

(B) - The Respondent never contested the evidence given by Mr. Santiapillai,
neither during the written phase of the proceedings, nor when he gave his testi~
mony at the Oral Hearing, about what he expressed in his letter of February 2,
1987, addressed the Sri Lankan President of the Republic by stating:
we maintained very cordial relationship with the senior officers of the security
forces in Batticaloa, repeatedly told them that, if they had the slightest reservation
about any of our Batticaloa staff they should let us know quictly and we would
ke action directly to get such persons out of the company.

More importantly, Mr. Santiapillai, indicated that:

On last visit to Batticaloa, (he) met Sumith de Silva, Coordinating Officer for the

atea, on January 17, 1987, (and) introduced (to him) the new Farm Manager (Mr.
Karunargy), who was appointed on 1 January 1987 Farm Manager, after having
worked for the Company since its inception.

He added, that during that visit to Mr. Sumith de Silva on January 17, 1987, the
latter:

assured me ... that he had no such rescrvation.

In his Affidavit prepared and sworn in October 1988; i.e. after Mr. Santiapilla's
letter was produced as evidence by the Claimant in the present case, the same Mr.
Sumith de Silva did not contest that the meeting in question took place at the
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indicated date (just 10 days before the January 28, 1987 operation), he did not
contradict the substance of the reported discussion, and he did not deny the ex-
istence of “cordial relationship™ as manifested by making “enquiries from gov-
ernment officials” before recruiting staff and readiness to dismiss whoever the
authornities have “the slightest reservation” about him.

In the light of said uncontested evidence, the Tribunal is of the opimion that rea~
sonably the Government should have at least tried to use such peaceful available
high level channel of communication in order to get any suspect elements ex-
cluded from the farm'’s staff. This would have been essential to minimize the risks
of killings and destruction when planning to undertake a vast military counter-
insurgency operation in that area for regaining lost control.

The Tribunal notes in this respect that the failure to resort to such precautionary
measures acquires more significance when taking into consideration that such
measures fall within the normal exercise of governmental inherent powers—as a
public authority ~entitled to order undesirable persons out from security sensitive
areas. The failure became particularly serious when the highest executive officer
of the Company reconfirmed just ten days before his willingness to comply with
any governmental requests in this respect.

Accordingly, the Tribunal considers that the Respondent through said inaction
and omission violated its due diligence obligation which requires undertaking all
possible measures that could be reasonably expected to prevent the eventual oc-
currence of killings and property destructions.

(c)- There are no reasons to doubt the Respondent’s submission regarding the long

planned character of the January 28, 1987 operation given the code-name “Day
Break” which obtained prior high level clearance. But the Tribunal does not
consider the military reports prepared at a later date conclusive evidence with re-
gard the alleged heavy firing coming “from the direction of the Prawn Farm”,
or that “the enemy hold up in the Farm" and resisted the security forces during
a period over two hours.

The reports of the two officers are contradicted on these specific points by the in-
formation contained in the affidavits sworn by Mr. Kirupakara, the casual worker
at Serendib farm (Exhibit F), and by Mr. Selbatnamby, the tractor driver at Ser-
endib farm. Both provide more detailed account as eye-witnesses about what ef-
fectively happened on the spot with extreme rapidity between 7.45 in the
morning, when gunfire came “in the direction of the office” causing the employ-
ees to “rush into the Farm office for shelter”, and 8.00, when “three officers at~
tached to the STF entered the office”. The wtaking-over of the Farm by the
securiry forces faced no resistance according to these two eye-witnesses, and there
were no destructions at that time, as witnessed by the fact that the tractor driver
returned later in the day to the Farm with four members of the security forces to
take certain equipments from the Farm Office, which implies that it remained
non-destroyed till then,
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Moreover, it has to be noted that of the officers’ reports raise certain issue of cred-
ibility with regard to their chronological order, since uncxpectedly the com-
mander of the operation, Mr. Karunasena who was observing from a helicopter
reported to his superior the Area Coordinating Officer Sumith de Silva on Feb-
ruary 1, 1987, before receiving any report from his assistant Mr. Lewke who cf-
fectively conducted on the ground the operation of taking over the farm facilities
(the latter’s report is dated February 2, 1987).

Therefore, the Respondent’s version of the events has to be considered lacking
convincing evidence with regard to the allegation that the farm became 2 “ter-
rorist facility” which “violenty resisted the Special Task Force” through an
“intense combat action” that “occurred at the Farm”.

Apparently, the officers’ version of the events, which are not substantiated with
any credible evidence, and which are contradicted by the Affidavits submitted by
eye-witnesses, were intended to cover up their inability to prevent the destruc-
tion of the farm.

~ Neither Party succeded in providing the Tribunal with convincing evi-
dence about: (i)—the circumstances under which the destruction of the premises
took place after they came under the control of the governmental forces; (if}—
who are the persons responsible for the effective destruction of the farm premises;

" (iii)—how was the destruction committed; and (iv)}-—how the subsequent acts

causing the loss of the prawns in ponds took place.

The Respondent could have at least provided the results of investigations con-
ducted in this respect by the competent Sri Lankan authorities, particularly since
all the events in question took place during the two weeks period when the farm
was under the exclusive contro] of the security forces.

In final analysis, no conclusive evidence exists sustaining the Claimant’s allegation
that the special security forces were themselves the actors of said destruction
causing the losses suffered,

At the same time no conclusive evidence sustains the Respondent’s allegation that
the destruction were “caused directly by the terrorist action”.

Hence, the adjudication of the State’s responsibility has to be undertaken by de-
termining whether the governmental forces were capable, under the prevailing
circumstances, to provide adequate protection that could have prevented the de-
structions from taking place totally or partially.

In this respect, it has been already indicated that the governmental authorities
should have undertaken important precautionary measures to get peacefully all
suspected persons out of Serendib’s farm before launching the attack, either
through voluntary cooperation with the Management of the company or by or-
dering the Company to expel the suspected persons.

The reports of Messts. Lewke, Karumasena, and Silva, as well as the swom affi-
davits of the last two senior officers, provide certain indications that the govern-
mental authorities failed to undertake such measures because they were
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considering as suspected guerrilla supporters the entire Management of Serendib
Company, starting from the newly appointed farm manager Mr. Karunargy, up
to the american Manager, Mr. Bruce Cyr. Even Mr. Santiapillai the Managing
Director was accused of “complicity with LLTE as far as the management of the
Prawn Farm is concerned” (Paragraph 8, of the Report of the Commandant/
STF dated March 18, 1987, Respondent’s Exhibit No. 37, which referred to “ev-
idence” against the Managing Director to that effect).

If this had been effectively the case, in the opinion of the Tribunal, the legitimate
expected course of action against those suspected persons would have been cither
to institute judicial investigations against them to prove their culpability or inno-
cence, or to undertake the necessary measures in order to get them off the Com-
pany’s farm. But, as previously explained, nothing of the sort took place. On the
contrary, only ten days before the January 28, 1987, operation no complaints
were voiced against any of them, including the newly appointed farm manager
Mr. Karunargy, during the meeting of Mr. Santiapillai with the Area Coordinat-
ing Officer Mr. Sumith de Silva. The mere fact that Mr. Karunargy had been the
first person who lost his life during the first hours of the operation “Day Break”,
under the circumstances described by Mr. Kirupakara in his Affidavit (Claimant's
Exhibit F) and Mr. Selbathnamny in his Affidavic (Claimant’s Exhibit G), casts se-
rious doubts about the ability of the security forces which took control over Ser-
endib’s farm to provide the required standard of protection in preventing human
losses, or a fortiori of property destruction, which is by far a less imperative objec~
tive.
Therefore, and faced with the impossibility of obtaining conclusive evidence
about what effectively caused the destruction of the farm premises during the pe-
viod in which the entire area was out of bounds under the exclusive control of
the governmental security force, the Tribunal considers the State's responsibility
established in conformity with the previously stated international law rules of ev-
idence (especially Rules (L) and (M), supra § 56).
86. For all the legal and factual considerations contained in the present section
of the award, the Tribunal came to the conclusion that the Respondent’s responsibility
is established under international law.

IV—The Legal Consequences of the Respondent’s
international Responsibility

(A)—Quantum of the compensation

87.  Both Partics are in agreement that whenever the State’s responsibility is es-
tablished, due to failure of its authorities to provide foreign investors with the full pro-
tection and security required under the relevant international law rules and standards,
the interested party becomes entitled to claim the type of remedy deemed appropriate,
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which takes in the present case the form of monetary compensation (Respondent’s
Counter-Memornial, p. 28-29, p. 39, p. 40, p. 42 ss; and Government's Rejoinder, p. 11 ss).

88. Both Partics are cqually in agreement about the principle, according to
which, in case of property destruction, the amount of the compensation due has to be
calculated in a manner that adequately reflects the full value of the investment lost as
a result of said destruction and the damages incurred as a result thereof.

The basic rule long established in this respect was clearly formulated by Max
Huber in the 1925 Melilla- Ziat, Ben Kirm case in the following words:

Le dommage éventuellement remboursable ne pourrait &tre que le dommage di-

rect, i savoir la valeur de marchandises détruites ou disparues (U.N. Reports of In-

ternational Arbitration Awards, vol. 11, p. 732).

Thus, the task of the Tribunal in the present case has to focus on the determina-
tion of the “value” of the Claimant’s right which suffered losses due to the destruction
that took place on January 28, 1987, and throughout the following days during which
Serendib’s farm remained under governmental temporary occupation (unjustifiably
characterized by the Claimant as de facto *'requisition”, since it has not been proven
that the Government used the farm to promote its own military interests and to benefit
thereof).

89. Disagreement among the two Parties to the present arbitration emerges
only with regard to the following two major points:

(i} -~ Which elements have to be taken into consideration in calculating the
Claimant’s property rights to be compensated; and

(i) - What quantum reflects the full value of the elements constituting the
Claimant’s property tight to be compensated.

90. With regard to the first point, the elements enumerated in the Claimant's
Memorial included the following:

(A) - 50% of the physical direct losses sustained by Serendib Company on January 28,

1987, which comprise:

(1) - loss of revenue from stocks of shrimp existing by then in the ponds;

(2) - value of farm structure and equipment destroyed, damaged or missing;

(3) - loss of investment in technical staff training at the farm;

(4) - compensation payable to dependents of dead staff members;

(5) - pond rehabilitation to resume operations.

(B) - The *“going concern value” of the Claimant’s 50% share-holding percentage in

Serendib Company on January 28, 1987,

{(C) - 50% of the projected lost profits for a reasonable period of 18 months (Claimant’s

Memorial, p. 14-16).

91.  According to the final form submuitted by the end of the oral hearing on
April 19, 1989, expressing the Claimant’s conclusions, the Tribunal was requested to
award AAPL compensation that includes the following clements:

(A) - 48.2% of the value of assests destroyed, comprising
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(1) - physical assets;

(2) - financial assets;

(3) - intangible assets.
(B) - 48.2% of Serendib’s net projected future earnings.

92.  The Respondent’s Counter-Memorial, emphasized the following impor-
tant aspects:

(i) - AAPLs Claims is “largely based on the illusion of expected profitability”
(Government’s Counter-Memorial, p. 42);

(i) - AAPLs claim *‘is based on blatant double (or triple) counting. AAPL
claims entitlement not only to its share of “going concern value” of Ser-
endib, but also to indemnification for physical losses and lost prospective
profits. Yet AAPL cannot be entitled to both, because any measuremnent
of the “going concern value” of Serendib on January 28, 1987, includes
a valuation of the net book value of both Serendib’s assets and its future
profitability™ (Ibid., p. 43);

(i) - “Ia the event the Tribunal finds the Government liable to AAPL for
damage sustained by Serendib, the Tribunal must chose either to under-
take a going concern valuation or to determine damages for “physical
loss” and lost prospective profits, but cannot logically award both™ (lbid.,
p. 43).

93.  During the course of the proceedings, the Respondent added another basic
objection according to which the percentage of AAPL s share-holding in Serendib is
neither 50% as initially claimed, nor 48.2% as subsequently admitted, but a far lesser
percentage, since the “preference shares” of the Export Development Board should be
taken into consideration as an integral part of Serendib’s equity capital.

94.  The Parties were invited by the Tribunal to express their considered opin-
ions and conclusions on that issue, by virtue of the Order of April 20, 1989, rendered
at the end of the oral hearing, and lengthy exchanges took place in this respect on May
22, and May 29, 1989 as previously indicated (supra, § 12).

95. In deciding on' the issues under consideration which are subject to dis-
agreement among the Parties, the Tribunal has primarily to indicate that AAPL is en-
titled in the present arbitration case to claim compensation under the Sri Lanka/U.K.
Bilateral Investment Treaty, on the legal grounds previously described in Part II of this
award due to the fact that the Claimant’s “investments” in Sri Lanka “suffered losses™
owing to events falling under one or more of the circumstances enumerated by Article
4.(1) of the Treary (“revolution, state of national emergence, revolt, insurrection”,
etc....).

The undisputed “investments” effected since 1985 by AAPL in Sti Lanka are in
the form of acquiring shares in Serendib Company, which has been incorporated in
Sri Lanka under the domestic Companies Law.

Accordingly, the Treaty protection provides no direct coverage with regard to

o oa

Serendib’s physical assets as such (“farm structures and equipment”, “shrimp stock in
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ponds”, cost of “training the technical staff”, etc.), or to the intangible assets of Ser-
endib if any (“good will”, “future profitability”, etc...). The scope of the international
law protection granted to the foreign investor in the present case is limited to a single
item: the value of his share-holding in the joint-venture entity (Serendib Company).

96. In the absence of a stock market at which the price for Serendib’s shares
were quoted on January 27, 1987 (the day preceding the events which led to the de-
struction of the value of AAPL s investment in Serendib’s capital), the evaluation of
the shares owned by AAPL in Serendib has to be estblished by the alternative method
of determining what was the reasonable price a willing purchaser would have offered
to AAPL to acquire its share holding in Serendib.

97.  Certainly, all the physical assets of Serendib, as well as its intangible assets,
have to be taken into consideration in establishing the reasonable value of what the po-
tential purchaser could have been willing to offer on January 27, 1987 for acquiring
AAPL s shares in Serendib. But the rcasonable price should have reflected also Ser-
endib’s global liability at that date; i.e. the aggregate amount of the current debts, loans,
interests, etc... due to Serendib’s creditors.

98. Consequently, the Tribunal is of the opinion that the determination of the
percentage of AAPLs share-holding in Serendib’s capital is a false problem, since the
relevant factor is to establish a comprehensive balance sheet which reflects the result
of assessing the global assets of Serendib in comparison with all the outstanding indebt-
edness thereof at the relevant time.

For the purpose of evaluating the market price of AAPL s shares on January 27,
1987, the result would be ultimately the same whether or not the “preference
shares”of Sri Lanka’s Export Development Board technically qualify under the domes-
tic companies law as part of Serendib’s capital. Assuming that the correct legal inter-
pretation of the St Lankan Law would lead to include among Serendib’s capital assets
the value of the “preference shares” issued in favour of the Export Development Board
as a security for the cash money funds already supplied to the Company, Serendib’s
capital assets would have on one hand, to be considered increased. But on the other
hand, the global amount of the Development Board’s disbursements together with the
accruing interests due on January 27, 1987, should be taken into consideration in re-
flecting Serendib’s global indebtedness.

In other words, in case the “preference shares” of Export Development Board
decrease AAPLs percentage of share-holding in Serendib’s equity capical, this would
not ultimately affect the value of AAPL share-holding.

In the language of figures, a 48% ordinary share-holding is an equity capital
amounting to 21,464,241 Sri Lankan Rupees (S-L.Rs) equals 37% share- holding in
an entity having a total capital of S-L.Rs 28,184,241 (i.e. by adding the value of the
preferences shares).

At the other side of the equation, assuming 48% of loan liabilities totalling S-L.Rs
70,024,000, is the same as acquiring 37% of the global indebtedness amounting to S-
L.Rs 76,744,000.
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99. Taking into consideration the above stated preliminary remarks of general
character, the Tribunal is faced with no legal objections in allocating to the Claimant
compensation for the damages which were effectively incurred due to the destruction
of a substantial part of Sercndib’s physical assets, thus rendering the legal entity in
which AAPL invested out of business since January 28, 1987. In essence, Serendib
ceased as of that date to be a “going concern” capable of realizing profits, thus causing
AAPL s investment therein to become a total loss.

100. In the light of all the elements of evidence provided by both Parties, in-
cluding the evaluation Report of Coopers & Lybrand, the additional explanation per-
wining thereto (filed by AAPL as Exhibit BB), the Respondent’s objections raised in
the Govemment’s Rejoinder (p. 17ss), as well as those other issues raised during the Oral
Hearing, particularly in cross-examination of the Claimant’s advisor Mr. Deva
Rodrigo which led to revised evaluation figures submitted by the Claimant before the
end of the Oral hearing, the Tribunal considers that the fair evaluation exclusively
based on Serendib’s tangible assets leads to value AAPL s investment in that company
at a total amount of 460,000 U.S. Dollars.

101. Nevertheless, the major part of the Claimant’s pleas were directed towards
obtaining 5,703,667 U.S. dollars as compensation for a variety of other claimed
damages, which include intangible assets, mainly “goodwill”, and loss of future profits.

The admissibility of such claims raised serious legal objections from the Respon-
dent, which are expressed in the following two quotations:

(a) ~ “International arbitral tribunals are bound to project future on the ba-
sis of the past, Serendib’s history offers no sound basis for projecting any
future profitability” (Connter-Memorial of the Govemment, p. 49);

(b) - “The loss of crops to be harvested in the future has usually been con-
sidered to be too speculative and indefinite to be included as a proper
element of damage under international law™ (Ibid., p. 50).

102. In the Tribunal’s view, it is clearly understood that the evaluation of the
“going concern” which is Serendib Company in the present case, has for unique ob-
jective the determination of what could be the reasonable market value of the Com-
pany’s shares under the circumstances prevailing on January 27, 1987. Hence, as a
general rule all elements related to subsequent developments should not be taken as
such into consideration, and lucrum cessans in the proper sense could not be allocated
in the present case for which the precedents concerning unlawful expropriation claims
or liability for unilateral termination of a State contract are of no relevance.

The only pertinent question in the present case would be to establish whether
Serendib have had by then developed a “good will” and a standard of “profitabili-
ty”that renders a prospective purchaser prepared to pay a certain premium over the
value of the tangible assets for the benefit of the Company's “intangible” assets.

Consequently, the projection of future profits in function of the “Discounted
Cash Flow Method” (IDCF) has to be envisaged simply as a tool to assess the level of
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Serendib’s future profitability under all relevant ciccumstances prevailing at the begin-
ning of 1987.

103. In this respect, it would be appropriate to ascertain that “goodwill” re-
quires the prior presence on the market for at least two or three years, which is the
minimum period needed in order to establish continuing business connections, and
during that period substantial expenses are incurred in supporting the management
efforts devoted to create and develop the marketing network of the company’s prod-
ucts, particularly in cases like the present one where the Company relies exclusively
on one product (shrimps) exportable to a single market (Japan).

The possible existence of a valuable “goodwill” becomes even more difficult to
sustain with regard to a company, not only newly formed and with no records of
profits, but also incurring losses and under-capitalized.

A reasonable prospective purchaser would, under these circumstances, be at least
doubtful about the ability of the Company’s balance sheet to cease being in the red,
in the sense that the future eamings become effectively sufficient to off-set the past
losses as well as to service the loans which exceed in their magnitude the Company’s
capital assets.

104. Furthermore, according to a well established rule of international law, the
assessment of prospective profits requires the proof that:

“they were reasonably anticipated; and that the profits anticipated were probable

and not merely possible” (Magoric M. WHITEMAN, Damages in Intemational

Law, vol. 11, (1937), p. 1837, with reference to extensive supporting precedents

disallowing “uncertain” or “speculative” future profits, p, 1836-1849; The 1902

Award rendered in EL Triumfo case (EL Salvador/US.A.), Repertory, op.at., vol.

I, § 1350, p. 324; The 1903 Award rendered by the laly/Venezuela Mixed

Commission in the Poggidi case, Ibid. § 1358, p. 328-329; Ignaz SEIDEL-HO-

HENVELDOERN, “L'Evaluation des-Dommages dans les Arbitrages Transna-

tionaux”, Annuaire Frangais de Droit Intemational, vol. XXXIIL, (1987), p. 17 s.

with ample reference to the numerous decisions rendered by the Iran/USA

Claims Tribunal to that effect, and interestingly the Author’s reference to the

DCEF calculations provided by the Expert Accountants of the Parties which con-

tain “élément de conjecture” looking: “guére moins spéculatifs et tout aussi ob-

scurs que les prophéties de Nostradamus™ P. 24).

105. The Claimant iwself, in the Reply to the Respondent’s Counter-Memorial (p.
64-68), reproduced a long quotation from the Award rendered on July 14, 1987, by
the Chamber presided by the late Michel VIR ALLY, in the case AMOCO Intemational
Finance Corporation v. Iran, which after clearly distinguishing the lucrum cessans Gom the
“future prospects” of profitability that constitutes an element to be taken into consid-
eration in evaluating the “going concem”, find necessary to emphasize the need to
prove that:

the undertaking was a “going concern™ which had demonstrated a certain ability

to earn revenues and was, therefore to be considered as keeping such ability for
the future ( § 203 of the Award as quoted on p. 67 of the Claimant’s Reply).
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The fact that Serendib exported for the first time two shipments to Japan during
the same month of January 1987 when its farm was destroyed, does not sufficiendy
demonstrate in the Tribunals opinion *“a certain ability to earn revenues” in a manner
that would justify considering Serendib—by exporting for the first time in its short
life—able to keep itself commercially viable as a source of relisble supply on the jap-
anese market.

106. In the light of the above-stated considerations, and taking into account all
the evidence introduced by both Parties with regard to the existence or non-existence
of “intangible assets” capable of being evaluated for the purpose of establishing the
wotal appropriate value of Serendib on January 27, 1987, the Tribunal comes to the
conclusion that neither the “goodwill” nor the “future profitability” of Serendib could
be reasonably established with a sufficient degree of certainty.

107. Without putting into doubt the binding force of the rules requiring that
the intangible assess including “goodwill” and “future profitability” of an enterprise
have to be reflected in the evaluation of a “going concern”, the Tribunal’s opinion is
established on considering the assumptions upon which the Claimant’s projection were
based in the present case insufficient in evidencing that Serendib was effectively by
January 27, 1987, a “going concern” that acquired a valuable “goodwill” and enjoying
a proven “future profitability”, particularly in the light of the fact that Serendib had
no previous record in conducting business for even one year of production.

108. Therefore, all the amounts of claimed compensation for “intangible assets”,
as well as for “future earnings” are rejected.

(BY—The issue of AAPL’s Guarantee
to the European Asian Bank

109. Evidently, the present Arbitral Tribunal does not have jurisdiction to adju-
dicate any controversy or dispute related to the interpretation of AAPL s Guarantee
given for the benefit of Serendib in AAPL s capacity as share-holder in Serendib
Company, in order to determine whether said Guarantee came to an end or is still op-
erative and capable of creating potential liability on AAPL.

110. Nevertheless, the Tribunal takes into consideration that AAPL as Claimant
in the present Arbitration has considered its investment in Serendib a total loss, and
submitted in its final conclusions dated April 19, 1989, that:

... AAPL is willing to give up its shares of Serendib Seafoods Ltd, should the Re-

spondent pay adequate compensation.

The Tribunal equally notes that the Respondent Government did not raise any
objection, with regard to said offer.

111. Accordingly, the Tribunal deems appropriate to invite the two Parties to
envisage, upon reception of the amounts becoming due to the Claimant by virtue of
the present Award, to conclude an agreement according to which AAPL undertakes
all the necessay steps in order to transfer free of charge all its shares in Serendib
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Company to the Government of Sri Lanka or to any other entity the Government may
nominate, with the understanding that said transfer of title on the shares entails in ex-
change the passing of any potential liability under the European Asian Bank Guarantee
from AAPL to the new owner of the shares.

(C)y—The allocation Of Interest

112. The Claimant requested interest at the rate of 10% per annum as of the date
of the losses incurred (January 28, 1987), and the Respondent did not raise any objec-
tion with regard to, cither the principle of entitlement to interests in case the Govern-
ment’s responsibility is sustained by the Tribunal, or to the suggested rate of 10% per
annum.

113. In accordance with a long established rule of international law expressed
since 1872 by the Arbitral Tribunal which adjudicated the Alabama case between the
UK. and US.A., “it is just and reasonable to allow interest at a reasonable rate™ (Rep-
ertory, op.ait., vol. I, § 1382, p. 343).

In implementation of the above-stated rule, and in view of the Parties’ attitude
indicated herein-above, the present Tribunal deems appropriate to allocate interest on
the amount of U.S, $460,000 granted to the Claimant as previously stipulated ( § 100),
at the rate of 10% per annum.

114. The only pending issue in this respect relates to the date from which that
interest starts accruing.

The survey of the literature reveals that, in spite of the persisting controversies
with regard to cases involving moratory interests, the case~law elaborated by interna-
tional arbitral tribunals strongly suggests that in assessing the lability due for losses in-
curred the interest becomes an integral part of the compensation itself, and should run
consequently from the date when the State’s international responsibility became
engaged (¢ R. LILLICH, “Interest in the Law of International Claims”, Essays in
Honor of Vade Saario and Toivo Sainio, (1983), P. 55-56).

115. Therefore, and taking into account that Article 8.(3) of the Sri Lanka/UK.
Bilateral Investment Treaty provides that the foreign investor becomes entitled to file
a recourse in front of the Centre only in case agreement with the Host State “cannot
be reached within three months”, and since the claimant in the present case effectively
submitted his Request of Arbitration on the 8th of July, 1987, the Tribunal rules that
the 10% per annum rate of interest adopted starts accruing as of July 9th, 1987, and
continues to run as a part of the compensation allocated to the Claimant up to the date
of the payment of the sum awarded.
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{D}~—Costs

116. In implementation of Article 61.(2) of ICSID Convention, the Tribunal
exercises the discretionary power accorded thereto in the following manner:

(i) - in assessing the fees and expenses incurred by the Claimant in prepara-
tion and presentation of its case, all the amounts figuring in AAPL s final
Statement of May 7, 1990 under Items 1, 4, 5 and 6 in the Section entitled
“Statement of expenditure incurred by AAPL and its officers” have to be
excluded, since they are not proven necessary “in connection with the
proceedings”, and the rest which is totalling U.S. $164,917.20 (One
Hundred, Sixty Four Thousands, Nine hundred Seventeen, and Twenty
Cents) has to be shared on the basis of two thirds by the Claimant and
one third by the Respondent;

(i) - the Respondent has to bear all the fees and expenses incurred in prep-
aration and presentation of its case;

(iii) - the costs of the arbitration, including the arbitrators’ fees and the ad-
ministrative charges of the Centre, have to be shared on the basis of 40%
by the Claimant and 60% by the Respondent.

For the above-stated reasons:

THE TRIBUNAL DECIDES AS FOLLOWS:

1. The Republic of Sti Lanka shall pay to Asian Agricultural Products Lid.,
the sum of U.S. Dollars FOUR HUNDRED AND SIXTY THOUSAND (US. §
460,000) with interest on this amount at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum from
July 9, 1987 to the date of cffective payment. ]

2. The Two Parties are invited to envisage adopting a solution that would
permit, upon reception of the payment due under the preceding paragraph, to con-
clude an agreement according to which Asian Agricultural Products Lid. undertakes
all the steps required in order to transfer free of charge all its shares in Serendib SEA-
FOODS LTD. to the Government of Sri Lanka or any other entity the Government
may nominate, provided that in exchange the new owner of the shares assumes any
potential liability under the European Asian Bank Guarantee previously granted by
AAPL as shareholder to the benefit of Serendib Company.

3. All other submissions of the Parties are rejected.

4. The Republic of Sri Lanka shall bear the amount of U.S. $54,972.40 (Fifty
Four Thousands Nine Hundred Seventy Two, and Forty Cents) which represents one
third of the relevant fees and expenses incurred by Asian Agricultural Products Ltd. for
the preparation and presentation of its case.

5. The Republic of Sri Lanka shall bear the fees and expenses it incurred for
the preparation and presentation of its case.
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6. The Republic of Sri Lanka shall bear sixty percent (60%) of the arbitrators’
fees and expenses and the charges of use of the facilities of the Centre, and the remain-
ing forty percent (40%) shall be borne by Asian Agricultural Products Ltd.

Ahmed S. EL-KOSHERI Berthold GOLDMAN

Signed by both arbitrators forming the majority of the Arbitral Tribunal on 21
June 1990, afier taking notice of Dr. ASANTE’ Dissenting Opinion dated 15 June
1990.
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Facts

F1 On 11 June 1975 the United Kingdom and Egypt entered into an Agreement between the
Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Government of the
Arab Republic of Egypt for the Promotion and Protection of Investments (UK/Egypt) (11 June 1975),
entered into force 24 February 1976 (‘Egypt-UK BIT’) whereby Egypt and the UK promised to create
favourable conditions for nationals or companies of the other contracting party to investin its
territory.

F2 On 8 August 1989, Wena Hotels Ltd, an English company (‘Wena’), entered into a Lease and
Development Agreement with the Egyptian Hotels Company (‘EHC’), a company wholly owned by
the Egyptian government. Pursuant to the Lease and Development Agreement, Wena was to
operate and manage the Luxor Hotel in Luxor, Egypt for a period of 21 years and six months. The
agreement also required Wena to upgrade and expand the hotel facilities. On 28 January 1990,
Wena entered into a similar agreement with EHC to operate and manage the Nile Hotel in Cairo,
Egypt—together, the ‘Lease Agreements.

F3 On 1 October 1989, Wena entered into a related agreement with both EHC and the Egyptian
Ministry of Tourism whereby Wena agreed to train Egyptian nationals in hotel managementin the
UK.

F4 On 20 August 1989, Wena entered into a consultancy agreement with Mr Kandil, the Chairman
of EHC. Under the terms of the consultancy agreement, Mr Kandil was to advise and assist Wena in
relation to the opportunities available for the development of other hotel business opportunities in
Egypt. Between 18 August 1989 and 30 January 1990, Wena made a total of £52,000 in payments
to Mr Kandil. On 26 March 1991 Wena initiated a lawsuit against Mr Kandil for allegedly breaching
the consultancy agreement.

F5 Shortly after entering into the Lease Agreements, disputes arose between EHC and Wena
concerning their respective obligations under these agreements. Wena claimed that the condition
of the two hotels was far below the standard stipulated in the Lease Agreements and withheld part
of the rent due. In response, EHC claimed that Wena failed to pay the rent due under the Lease
Agreements and therefore liquidated the performance security posted by Wena.

F6 On 3 May 1990, Wena instituted arbitration proceedings in Egypt against EHC arising out of the
disputes over the Luxor Hotel. In an award dated 14 November 1990 an ad hoc Tribunal ordered
EHC to make repairs to the Luxor Hotel and ordered Wena to fulfil its rental obligations. Wena
applied to the local courts to have the award set aside.

F7 On 27 March 1991, EHC's Board of Directors met to discuss the course of action to be taken in
relation to Wena's withholding of rent. The decision was taken to terminate the leases on both
hotels and this course of action was confirmed by a resolution of the Chairman of the Board of EHC
on 30 March 1991. EHC attempted to inform Wena of its decision but there was no evidence that
this information was received by Wena prior to 1 April 1991.

F8 On 1 April 1991, EHC staff attacked both the Luxor and Nile hotels and forcefully took
possession of both hotels from Wena. From 1 April 1991 through to 25 February 1992, the Nile Hotel
remained in the control of EHC. The Luxor Hotel remained in EHC's control until 21 April 1992.
During this time, Wena made efforts to regain control of the hotels by seeking assistance from
officials in the United States and UK as well as Egyptian officials.

F9 Egypt, through its Minister of Tourism, Fouad Sultan, acknowledged that the seizure of the
Luxor and Nile hotels was illegal and wrong. However, Egypt did not take any action to return
possession of the hotels to Wena, to punish EHC or its officials, or to withdraw the hotels licenses
so that EHC could not operate the hotels.
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F10 On the 16 January 1992 the Chief prosecutor of Egypt ruled that attacks against the Nile Hotel
were illegal and that Wena was entitled to repossess the hotel. However, it was not until 25
February 1992 the Nile Hotel was actually returned to Wena's control. The Nile Hotel was handed
over to Wena with all the furniture and fixtures removed. Two days before the Nile Hotel was
returned to Wena, the Ministry of Tourism cancelled the operating license of the Nile Hotel for
alleged safety violations. Wena never operated the Nile Hotel again and it was placed in judicial
receivership in 1997.

F11 On 21 April 1992, the Chief Prosecutor of Egypt ruled that attacks against the Luxor Hotel
were also illegal and ordered that the hotel should be returned to Wena. On 28 April Wena re-
entered the Hotel. However, the Ministry of Tourism denied Wena a permanent operating licence for
the hotel instead only granting it a series of temporary licenses.

F12 Wena subsequently sought compensation from Egypt as a result of its loss of possession of
both hotels. However, Egypt denied the requests.

F13 On 10 July 1998, Wena filed a request for arbitration with the International Centre for
Settlement of Investment Disputes (‘ICSID’). Wena sought the following relief: A declaration that
Egypt breached its obligations to Wena pursuant to the Egypt-UK BIT by illegally expropriating
Wena's investments and failing to accord Wena's investments fair and equitable treatment and full
protection and security; An order that Egypt pay damages in an amount no less than USD
$62,820,000; And an order that Egypt pay Wena's costs associated with the arbitration.

F14 Egyptoriginally raised four objections to the jurisdiction of the Tribunal. Egypt claimed that:
Wena, although incorporated in the UK, should be treated as an Egyptian company by virtue of its
ownership; Wena had made no investment in Egypt as required by Article 25 of the Convention on
the Settlement of Investment Disputes Between States and Nationals of Other States (18 March
1965) 575 UNTS 159, entered into force 14 October 1966 (‘ICSID Convention’); There was no legal
dispute between the parties as required by Article 25 of the ICSID Convention; And Wena's consent
to arbitration was insufficient and the Request for Arbitration was premature because Wena failed
to comply with the three month waiting period required by the Egypt-UK BIT.

F15 Egypt withdrew two of its four objections at the hearing on jurisdiction. In its decision dated 29
June 1999 (Decision on jurisdiction; Wena Hotels Ltd v Egypt, ICSID Case No ARB/98/4; IIC 272
(1999); 41 ILM 881 (2002), 25 May 1999), the Tribunal concluded that Egypt's two remaining
jurisdictional objections should be denied and jurisdiction should be exercised over the dispute.

F16 Egyptdid notdispute that the repossession by EHC of the Luxor and Nile hotels and EHC's
eviction of Wena from the hotels on 1 April 1991 was wrong. However, Egypt denied liability for the
claims asserted by Wena by raising two affirmative defences. First, Egypt asserted that Wena's
claims in relation to the seizure of the hotels were time barred by virtue of Article 172(i) of the
Egyptian Civil Code (Egypt) (‘Civil Code’).

F17 Second, Egypt alleged that Wena had sought to improperly influence the Chairman of the
EHC, Mr Kandil with respect to the award of the Lease Agreements by illegally granting him the
consultancy agreement. Egypt asserted that Wena's actions amounted to corruption and that
Wena could now not claim compensation for the loss of its interests in the Lease Agreements
because the Lease Agreements had been obtained improperly.

Held

H1 Whilst there was no clear evidence that Egypt—other than EHC officials—had participated in
the seizures of the two hotels, there was substantial evidence that Egypt was aware of EHC's
intentions and took no action to prevent the seizure of the hotels.

H2 Once the seizures had taken place, neither the police nor the Ministry of Tourism did anything
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to restore possession of the hotels to Wena. Further, Egypt never imposed sanctions on EHC or its
senior officials, suggesting that Egypt adopted the actions of EHC. As a result, EQypt breached
Article 2(2) of the Egypt-UK BIT by failing to accord Wena's investments fair and equitable treatment
and full protection and security. (paragraph 84)

H3 An expropriation may have taken place if the state allowed a de facto possessor to remain in
possession of the property which had been seized. (paragraph 97) Further, it was well established
that expropriation was not limited to tangible property rights. Contract rights were entitled to
protection under international law and the taking of such rights may have involved an obligation to
compensate. (paragraph 98)

H4 Whether or not it authorized or participated in the actual seizures of the hotels, Egypt had
deprived Wena of its ‘fundamental rights of ownership’ by allowing EHC to forcibly seize the hotels
and to possess them illegally for nearly a year. Thus, Egypt's actions amounted to an expropriation
of Wena's investment without prompt, adequate and effective compensation in violation of Article 5
of the Egypt-UK BIT and international law. (paragraphs 99-101)

H5 Municipal statues of limitation did not necessarily bind a claim for violation of an international
treaty. (paragraph 106) Further, Article 42(1) of the ICSID Convention did not require an ICSID
Tribunal to apply municipal statutes of limitation. Rather, Article 42(1) provided that a Tribunal
should have applied the domestic law of the host state ‘and such rules of international law as may
be applicable.’

H6 Tribunals should have applied rules of international law to ensure the precedence of
international law norms where the rules of the applicable domestic law were in collision with such
norms. The strict application of statue of limitation found in the Civil Code would have collided with
the general international principle that municipal statutes of limitation did not bind claims before
international tribunals. Therefore, the statute of limitation in the Civil Code did not apply and Wena's
claims were not time barred. (paragraph 107)

H7 With respect to the allegations of corruption, Egypt had not discharged its burden of proving
any misconduct by Wena. The Egyptian Government was aware of the consultancy agreement and
had not prosecuted Mr Kandil. Therefore, Egypt should not have been shielded from liability on the
basis that the Lease Agreements were illegal under Egyptian law. (paragraph 116) Further, Egypt
failed to refute the evidence put forth by Wena which indicated that the consultancy agreement
was legitimate. (paragraph 117)

H8 Wena's claims for lost profits and lost opportunities using a discounted cash flow analysis were
inappropriate in this case. There was an insufficient base of evidence to establish any profit or to
predict growth of the investment made by Wena. (paragraphs 123, 124) Rather, the proper
calculation of Wena's damages was the market value of the investment immediately prior to
expropriation. (paragraph 125)

H9 Wena was entitled to damages in the amount of USD $20,600,986.43. In addition, Wena was
entitled to interest at 9% compounded quarterly, plus its lawyers' fees and expenses incurred in
relation to addressing the merits of the proceeding. (paragraphs 127-130)

Date of Report: 10 December 2007

Reporter(s): Jeffrey M Sullivan

Analysis

Al It should first be noted that Professor Don Wallace Jr was appointed as arbitrator by Egypt
following the resignation, due to medical emergency, of Professor Michael F Hoellering. Professor
Hoellering was appointed by Egypt following the resignation of Professor Hamez Ahmed Haddad.
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Professor Haddad was the original appointee of Egypt and sat as part of the Tribunal that issued the
Decision on Jurisdiction. Professor Haddad resigned from the Tribunal due to his appointment as the
Minister of Justice of Jordan.

A2 The Tribunal's substantive decisions with respect to Egypt's violation of the Egypt-UK BIT were
relatively straightforward. The Tribunal found that there was clear evidence that Egypt had
wrongfully seized the Nile and Luxor hotels on 1 April 1991. These seizures amounted to a violation
of the fair and equitable treatment and full protection and security provisions of the BIT. The
seizures also constituted a violation of the prohibition on illegal expropriation found in the BIT.

A3 Whilst the substantive rulings of the Tribunal with respect to violations of the Egypt-UK BIT
appeared relatively uncontroversial, this decision was notable with respect to its ruling on the law
applicable to the dispute. Article 42(1) of the ICSID Convention provideed that, absent agreement of
the parties, ICSID tribunals should have applied the law of the state party to the dispute ‘and such
other rules of international law as may be applicable’.

A4 |n this decision, the Tribunal held that whilst the Egypt-UK BIT was the ‘primary source’ of
applicable law, the Tribunal would, pursuant to Article 42(1), also apply Egyptian law and
international law. The Tribunal also held that where Egyptian law conflicted with established
international law norms, the international law norms should have prevailed. The Tribunal's view that
international law performed a corrective function with respect to the host state's law was nearly
identical to the views set out by the ad hoc Committees in Kléckner Industrie-Anlagen GmbH and
ors v Cameroon, Decision on annulment, Case No ARB/81/2, 3 May 1985 and Amco Asia
Corporation and ors v Indonesia, Decision on annulment, ICSID Case No ARB/81/1; (1993) I ICSID
Rep 509, 1986.
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Certified copies of the Award and of its accompanying Statement were first dispatched to the
parties on December 8, 2000. The Award, is therefore deemed to have been rendered on
December 8, 2000, in accordance with Article 49(1) of the Convention on the Settlement of
Investment Disputes between States and Nationals of Other States.

/s/
Ko-Yung Tung
Secretary-General

Washington, D.C., December 19, 2000

I. The Proceedings

1. The present arbitration was initiated on July 10, 1998, when Claimant, Wena Hotels Limited
(“Wena”),! filed a request for arbitration with the Secretary-General of the International Centre for
Settlement of Investment Disputes (“ICSID"”). The request was filed against Respondent, the Arab
Republic of Egypt (“Egypt”), and asserted that “[a]s a result of Egypt's expropriation of and failure
to protect Wena's investment in Egypt, Wena has suffered enormous losses leading to the almost
total collapse of its business.”? Wena requested the following relief:

(a) a declaration that Egypt has breached its obligations to Wena by expropriating Wena's
investments without providing prompt, adequate and effective compensation, and by failing
to accord Wena's investments in Egypt fair and equitable treatment and full protection and

security;

(b) an order that Egypt pay Wena damages in respect of the loss it has suffered through
Egypt's conduct described above, in an amount to be quantified precisely during this
proceeding but, in any event, no less than USD 62,820,000; and

(c) an order that Egypt pay Wena's costs occasioned by this arbitration, including the
arbitrators' fees and administrative costs fixed by ICSID, the expenses of the arbitrators, the
fees and expenses of any experts, and the legal costs incurred by the parties (including fees
of counsel). 3

The Acting Secretary-General registered the request for arbitration on July 31, 1998.

2. In accordance with Article 37(2)(a) of the Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes
between States and nationals of Other States (“the ICSID Convention”), the parties agreed that the
Tribunal was to consist of three arbitrators, one appointed by each party and the third, presiding,
arbitrator, appointed by agreement of the parties or, in the absence of such agreement, by
agreement of the two party-appointed arbitrators. Wena appointed Professor Ibrahim Fadlallah, a
national of Lebanon, as an arbitrator. EQypt then appointed Hamzeh Ahmed Haddad, a national of
Jordan, as an arbitrator. In accordance with Article 38 of the ICSID Convention, the Chairman of
ICSID's Administrative Council was requested by Wena to appoint the third, presiding, arbitrator.
The Center informed the parties that the Secretary-General of ICSID was planning to recommend
Mr. Monroe Leigh, a United States national, for the Chairman's appointment. Having received no
objection from either party, the Center informed the parties that the Chairman of the ICSID's
Administrative Council had appointed Mr. Leigh as the arbitrator to be the President of the Arbitral
Tribunal. Having received from each arbitrator the acceptance of his appointment, the Center
informed the parties that the Tribunal was deemed to be constituted and the proceedings to have
begun on December 18, 1998. The parties subsequently agreed that the Tribunal had been
properly constituted under the provisions of the ICSID Convention.

3. The Tribunal held its first session, at the Permanent Court of Arbitration in The Hague, on
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February 11, 1999. During this first session, Egypt objected to the request for arbitration filed by
Wena and expressed reservations as to the Tribunal's jurisdiction to hear the request.

4. The Tribunal, pursuant to Article 41(2) of the ICSID Convention, granted the parties an
opportunity to brief the jurisdictional objections. The parties filed four sets of papers (including
accompanying documentary annexes) with the Tribunal:

(1) Respondent's Memorial on its Objections to Jurisdiction (submitted on March 4, 1999);

(2) Claimant's Response to Respondent's Objections on Jurisdiction (submitted on March 25,
1999);

(3) Respondent's Reply on Jurisdiction (submitted on April 8, 1999); and
(4) Claimant's Rejoinder on Jurisdiction (submitted on April 22, 1999).

In its briefing, Egypt raised four objections to jurisdiction. First, Egypt asserted that it had “not
agreed to arbitrate with the Claimant as it is, by virtue of ownership, to be treated as an Egyptian
company.“4 Second, Egypt argued that “[t]he Claimant has made no investment in Egypt.”> Third,
Egypt claimed that “[t]here is no legal dispute between the Claimant and the Respondent.”® Finally,
Egypt contended that “[t]he Claimant's consent to arbitration in the Request for Arbitration is
insufficient and its Request premature.””’

5. The Tribunal heard oral argument on Respondent's objections to jurisdiction during a second
session, at the offices of the World Bank in Paris, on May 25, 1999. During the session, Egypt
withdrew two of its four objections. First, it noted that the “the papers that we have now been
supplied as part of [Wena's briefing] do indicate at least a prima facie case that the Claimant has
made an investment, that money was spent in the development and renovation of the hotels and
that the money was paid for by the Claimant, rather than any other party.”8 Thus, “for the purpose
of establishing jurisdiction only, the Respondent is willing to accept that an investment has been
made.”?

6. Second, Respondent also withdrew its procedural objections to Claimant's request for
arbitration. As Egypt appropriately observed, even if the Tribunal had endorsed its objections, the
alleged defects could have been easily rectified. Noting that “it is not our wish to raise argument
simply for the purpose of being difficult or to delay,” Egypt advised “that as far as that particular
objection is concerned, we are prepared to forgo it.” 10

7. Inits Decision on Jurisdiction dated June 29, 1999, the Tribunal concluded that Respondent's
two remaining jurisdictional objections should be denied and that jurisdiction should be exercised
over the dispute. Specifically, the Tribunal: (1) declined to adopt Egypt's contention that Wena
should be treated as an Egyptian company for purposes of the Agreement for the Promotion and
Protection of Investments between Egypt and the United Kingdom (“IPPA”),11 and (2) found, without
prejudice to the merits of the case, that Wena had at least alleged a prima facie legal dispute with
Egypt.1? The Tribunal proceeded to set a briefing schedule on the merits and proposed dates for
oral argument.

8. On August 14, 1999, Professor Hamzeh Ahmed Haddad resigned from the Tribunal —
apologizing that, as a result of his new duties as Minister of Justice for Jordan, he would no longer
be able to continue as a member of the Tribunal. The Tribunal was reconstituted on September 14,
1999 with the appointment by Egypt of Mr. Michael F. Hoellering as the replacement for Professor
Haddad.

9. The parties filed four sets of papers (each including voluminous accompanying documentary
annexes) with the Tribunal addressing the merits of the case:
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(1) Claimant's Memorial on the Merits (submitted on July 26, 1999);

(2) Respondent's Memorial on the Merits (submitted on September 6, 1999);
(3) Claimant's Reply on the Merits (submitted on September 27, 1999); and
(4) Respondent's Rejoinder on the Merits (submitted on October 18, 1999).

10. Regrettably, the session on the merits — which had been scheduled for November 15-18,
1999 — had to be postponed by the sudden hospitalization of Mr. Hoellering for a medical
emergency. On November 15, 1999, Mr. Hoellering resigned from the Tribunal — apologizing for the
inconvenience “this unexpected turn of events” had caused.

11. The Tribunal was reconstituted on December 9, 1999, with the appointment by Egypt of
Professor Don Wallace, Jr. as the replacement for Mr. Hoellering. The Tribunal subsequently fixed a
new schedule for oral argument on the merits.

12. The Tribunal heard witnesses and oral argument on the merits during its third session, at the
offices of the World Bank in Paris, on April 25-29, 2000.13 In lieu of closing argument, the Tribunal
permitted the parties to file post-hearing briefs. The Tribunal also requested that the parties submit
proposed findings of fact, chronologies of events and statements of their attorney's fees and costs.
In accordance with this schedule, the parties filed a final round of papers with the Tribunal:

(1) Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief (submitted on May 30, 2000);

(2) Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial (submitted on May 30, 2000);

(3) Claimant's Post-Hearing Reply (submitted on June 15, 2000); and

(4) Respondent's Post-Hearing Rebuttal Memorial (submitted on June 15, 2000).

13. OnJuly 13, 2000, the Tribunal issued a Procedural Order concerning the introduction of certain
documents into the proceeding subsequent to the hearing. As part of this Order, the Tribunal
admitted into the record, without prejudice to their probative value, nine documents submitted by
Wena with its Post-Hearing Reply brief# and a memorandum dated January 19, 1997 on the El-Nile
Hotel prepared by Arthur Andersen & Co., which the Tribunal had received from the U.S. Agency
for International Development.1®

14. On November 1, 2000, the Secretary of the Tribunal issued a letter, advising the parties of the
closure of the proceedings, pursuant to Arbitration Rule 38(1).

II. The Facts

15. This dispute arose out of long-term agreements to lease and develop two hotels located in
Luxor and Cairo, Egypt. Having received voluminous submissions from the two parties and heard
five days of oral testimony, the Tribunal hereby makes the following findings of fact:

A. U.K.-Egypt Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investments

16. On June 11, 1975, the United Kingdom and the Arab Republic of Egypt entered into an
Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investments (“IPPA”).16 Under Article 2(1) of the
IPPA, Egypt and the United Kingdom promised to “encourage and create favorable conditions for
nationals or companies of other Contracting Party to invest capital in its territory.” They also
guaranteed that “[ilnvestments of nationals or companies of either Contracting Party shall at all
times be accorded fair and equitable treatment and shall enjoy full protection and security in the
territory of the other Contracting Party.”!” Finally, Egypt and the United Kingdom agreed that
“[ilnvestments of nationals or companies of either Contracting Party shall not be nationalised,
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expropriated or subjected to measures having effect equivalent to nationalisation or expropriation
... in the territory of the other Contracting Party except for a public purpose related to the internal
needs of the Party and against prompt, adequate and effective compensation.”18 As discussed in
the Tribunal's previous Decision on Jurisdiction, Wena is a British company for purposes of the
IPPA.19

B. Luxor and Nile Hotel Agreements

17. On August 8, 1989, Wena and the Egyptian Hotels Company (“EHC”), “a company of the
Egyptian Public Sector affiliated to the General Public Sector Authority for Tourism”29 entered into a
21 year, 6 month “Lease and Development Agreement” for the Luxor Hotel in Luxor, Egypt.2}
Pursuant to the agreement, Wena was to “operate and manage the ‘Hotel’ exclusively for [its]
account through the original or extended period of the ‘Lease,’ to develop and raise the operating
efficiency and standard of the ‘Hotel’ to an upgraded four star hotel according to the specification
of the Egyptian Ministry of Tourism or upgratly [sic] it to a five star hotel if [Wena] so elects....”22
The agreement provided that EHC would not interfere “in the management and or/operation of the
‘Hotel’ or interfere with the enjoyment of the lease” by Wena and that disputes between the parties
would be resolved through arbitration.23 The lease was awarded to Wena in a competitive bid, after
Wena agreed to pay a higher rent than another potential investor.24

18. On January 28, 1990, Wena and EHC entered into an almost identical, 25-year agreement for
the El Nile Hotel in Cairo, Egypt.?> Wena also entered into an October 1, 1989 Training Agreement
with EHC and Egyptian Ministry of Tourism “to train in the United Kingdom ... Egyptian nationals in
the skills of hotel management....”26

C. Events Leading up to the April 1, 1991 Seizures

19. Shortly after entering into the agreements, disputes arose between EHC and Wena concerning
their respective obligations. Wena claims that it “found the condition of the Hotels to be far below
that stipulated in the lease [and] withheld part of the rent, as the lease permitted.”27 In turn, Egypt
claims that Wena “failed to pay rent due to EHC... and EHC in turn liquidated the performance
security posted by Claimant.”28 In the view which the Tribunal takes of this case it is not necessary
at this time to determine the truth of these conflicting allegations. It is sufficient for this proceeding
simply to acknowledge, as both parties agree, that there were serious disagreements between
Wena and EHC about their respective obligations under the leases.

20. On May 3, 1990, Wena instituted arbitration proceedings in Egypt against EHC concerning
their disputes over the Luxor Hotel. In an award dated November 14, 1990, the ad hoc arbitral
tribunal ordered EHC to make repairs to the Luxor Hotel and ordered Wena to pay its outstanding
rental obligations.2? Wena subsequently brought an action in the South Cairo Court to have the
arbitration set aside.39

21. Ataboutthe same time, “toward the end of 1990,” according to Wena's parliamentary
consultant, Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P., “rumour, | think, must have reached Mr. Faragy because he
told me that there were rumours that there would be violence and the hotels would be violently
seized back. "3 As a result, in December 1990, Mr. Malins traveled to Egypt to meet with the
Egyptian Minister of Tourism, Minister Fouad Sultan, and the Egyptian Minister of the Interior, Minister
Halim Moussa.32 Mr. Malins recounted that “[b]oth Ministers gave me their separate, absolute
assurances ... that no violence could or would take place.”33

22. Nevertheless, disagreements between Wena and EHC continued. On February 11, 1991, Mr.
Nael El-Farargy, Wena's founder, wrote to Minister Sultan, seeking his intervention to resolve these
on-going disputes as well as to offset financial difficulties caused by the Gulf War.34 In his letter, Mr
Farargy mentions that EHC had threatened to repossess the hotels through force:
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officials from the Egyptian Hotels Company threatened to storm the hotels and expel us,
and this was after our Company had spent the sums previously outlined. The matter
reached a point were [sic] the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Egyptian Hotels
Company issued a decision for his company to take possession of the Luxor Hotel without
a legal ruling or any other measure [to support his decision].3>

23. Inresponse to Mr. Farargy's request, on February 26, 1991, Minister Sultan convened a
meeting in his offices to “discuss the differences between the Egyptian Hotels Company and
Wena....”36 The attendees at the meeting included the Minister, representatives of EHC (including
EHC's Chairman, Mr. Kamal Kandil), and Wena's lawyer (Mr. Ahmad Al Khawaga). During the
meeting, Minister Sultan declared that “[t]he Ministry took no pleasure from any misunderstandings
with investors; however, at the same time it could not accept any excesses in respect of any of the
Government's rights.”37 The Minister proposed a series of compromises between the parties.
Wena, however, subsequently did not accept the Minister's proposals.38

24. On March 21, 1991, Mr. Kandil wrote to Minister Sultan, noting that Wena had refused to
accept the Minister's proposals.3? Mr. Kandil proposed to Minister Sultan:

that the following steps be taken:

(One) the Letter of Guarantee for the Nile Hotel be seized and the sum deducted from their
debt;

(Two) the contractual relationship for the two hotels be terminated;
(Three) the two hotels be taken and the license withdrawn;
(Four) list all development work at the two hotels and deduct it from their debt; and,

(Five) in the even that the company is still in debt following these measures, proceedings
should be taken to seize [the outstanding money] in the United Kingdom.*©

Alternatively, Mr. Kandil suggested that Minister Sultan establish a 10-day grace period for Wena to
“pay its debts,” with the understanding, however, that “[i]ln the event that the payment is not made,
the license for the two hotels would be withdrawn and the Egyptian Hotels Company would take the
measures that it view appropriate to preserve its rights.”#! Mr. Kandil closed the letter by advising
Minister Sultan: “We leave the matter to you."42

25. Marginalia on this March 21, 1991 letter (in Minister Sultan's handwriting), indicate that Minister
Sultan telephoned the British Ambassador to Egypt, asking the Ambassador to ascertain Wena's
response to the proposed compromises from the February 26, 1991 meeting.*3

26. Contemporaneously, on March 25,1991, Mr. Malins wrote to Minister Sultan asking for another
meeting in mid-April or May to discuss the continued disputes between Wena and EHC.4# Mr. Malins
concluded his letter by requesting an understanding from the Minister that no actions would be
taken until that meeting could occur: “please confirm what must surely be [sic] right, mainly that all
matters be ‘absolutely frozen,” with no detrimental action of whatever nature being taken pending
our meeting....”*>

27. Minister Sultan personally did not reply to Mr. Malins' letter. Instead, although the letter had
been sent to Minister Sultan and not EHC, on March 31,1991, Mr. Kandil responded to Mr. Malins,
referencing “your fax dated 25th March 1991, concerning your request for a meeting, — in your
capacity as the parliament advisor for Wena Ltd.....”4® Mr. Kandil mentioned the February 26, 1991
meeting and Wena's refusal to accept the proposed compromises. Mr. Kandil ended his letter by
threatening that “the owning company will take all necessary measures to protect its rights which is
considered a state ownership.”4’
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D. Seizures of the Nile and Luxor Hotels (April 1, 1991)

1. Decision to Seize the Hotels

28. On March 27, 1991, EHC's Board of Directors met “to consider what action should be
taken.”48 According to Mr. Munir Abdul Al-Aziz Gaballah Shalabi, of the Legal Affairs Division at
EHC, the Board decided “to present Wena with an ultimatum to implement” the proposed
compromises from the February 26, 1991 meeting with Minister Sultan.*® He further explained that
“Wena having failed to meet the deadline, it was decided that EHC would take possession of the
Nile Hotel.”>9 Similarly, Mr. Yusseri Mahmud Hamid Hajjaj, EHC's Manager for the Upper Egypt Hotels
Division at EHC, stated that “[faced] with [Wena's] breaches of contract, the board of directors of
EHC had no choice but to issue its decision of March 27, 1991 to take over the Luxor Hotel and to
place it under its own management with effect from April 1, 1991.”>1

29. The decision to seize the hotels was “confirmed by a resolution of the Chairman of the Board

No. 215 of 1991, dated March 30, 1991.”52 Although this resolution is mentioned by Mr. Munir in his
witness statement and is referenced in at least two contemporaneous documents,®3 a copy of this

resolution was not provided to the Tribunal.

30. EHC purported to notify Wena of its decision to terminate both the Nile and Luxor Leases and
to reclaim the Hotels in a letter from Mr. Kandil to Mr. Farargy dated March 30, 1991.> In the letter,
Mr. Kandil stated that:

the board of Directors of the [Egyptian Hotels] Company had decided:
a — to terminate the two hotels Contracts.

b — to receive the hotels and operate them with knowledge of the owning company
starting form April 1,1991.

¢ — to complain to the courts and to the Public Prosecutor in order to recover [our]
company's dues which amount to millions of Egyptian pounds and that are
considered as public funds, either by legal or diplomatic ... means including freezing
of your accounts receivable.

d — to warn security services to be aware of your arrival from abroad in order to
present you to courts to decide what you owe and to collect it. >3

However, there is no evidence that this letter was received before the seizures on April 1, 1991.5°
Of the two copies of the March 30, 1991 letter provided to the Tribunal, one was sent by registered
mail to Wena's Gatwick Hotel in England and does not appear to have been received until April 5,
1991.°7 The second copy bears a fax legend indicating that the letter had been faxed by EHC and
received by Wena on April 14, 1991.%8 Although Mr. Munir testified that the second copy had been
faxed to Wena's offices in England on March 30, 1991, no fax cover sheet or confirmation sheet
has been submitted to support this claim.>®

31. In an Administrative Decision Number 216, dated March 31, 1991 and signed by Mr. Kandil, two
EHC officials —Messrs. Fakhri Hamid Al-Batuti and Atif Abd Al-Al —were authorized to act on behalf
of EHC “in respect of the Nile Hotel.”®9 Mr. Yusseri was given the same authority concerning the
Luxor Hotel.61 EHC planned to evict Wena simultaneously from both hotels during the early evening
on April 1, 1991 when they expected no resistance because “all the senior people of Wena would
be taking the Ramadan breakfast at home...."”62

32. Egyptdoes notdispute “that the repossession by EHC of the Luxor and Nile Hotels and EHC's
eviction of the Claimant from the Hotels on April 1, 1991 was wrong.”%3
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2. Seizure of the Nile Hotel

33. On April 1, 1991, at approximately 6:15 p.m., Mr. Simon Webster and Ms. Angela Jelcic, Wena's
foreign managers, left the Nile Hotel to have dinner at the nearby Nile Hilton Hotel.®* Short
thereafter, several buses owned by EHC arrived at the Nile Hotel.6>

34. According to a statement made that evening to the Kasr El-Nile Police by Mr. Muhammad Abdul
Hameed Wakid, an attorney for Wena Hotels, “about one hundred and fifty persons, some of whom
were carrying sticks and cudgels, assaulted the hotel against us immediately after Ramadan
breakfast.”6® When he “tried to enquire of them who they were they stated that they had come to
seize the hotel according to instructions from the Chairman of the Board of Directors of their
company to do so.”%7 According to Mr. Wakid,” [t]hey seized all the keys of the offices and safes
in which the company's funds and hotel receipts from the guests are deposited [and] seized the
hotel in full and they threatened any person who resisted them and attacked them....”®8

35. Similarly, Mr. Tamim Foda, Wena's resident manager at the Nile Hotel, stated in a subsequent
police deposition:

At about 6:30 p.m., when it was time to take the fast breaking meal, | was reviewing some
documents concerning my work ... | have been surprised by violent knocking on the door
and its breaking, shouting in the hall of the hotel and | saw three persons bursting into my
office. They attacked me, slapping my face and breaking my eye-glasses. They took
possession of my office by force and everything inside it. ... | was prevented from getting in
touch with anybody outside the hotel and they told me that all the telephones were cut. ... |
was entrusted to three persons holding rods and cudgels who took me out of the hotel by
force and while | was going out | saw more than one hundred men inside the hotel, holding
rods and cudgels, some of them were taking out a number of cartons, belongings and
implements of the hotel to vehicles parking in front of the door of the hotel. | waited outside
the hotel until arrival of the police when | was taken inside for inspection under guard of the
police.®9

36. Mr. Mostafa Ahmed Osman, Financial Manager for Wena, who was “taking my fast breaking
meal at the restaurant on the ninth floor,” reported being “surprised by strange and suspicious
persons [who] took me downstairs by force holding my arms to the administrative offices on the
mezzanine... .”’% According to Mr. Osman, one of the EHC employees “threatened me, saying that
he holds a licensed weapon and mat he is ready to use itif | resist. He informed me that all
communications inside and outside the hotel have been cut.”’!

37. A guest of the hotel restaurant, Mr. Sherif Ibrahim Mohamed Khalifa, who “was with my wife to
take the fast breaking meal at the hotel as it is our favorite place,” withessed similar scenes.”? In
his statement to the police, Mr. Khalifa said that he “heard shoutings, sounds of breaking and
crushing at the hotel.””3 When he went downstairs from the restaurant, he “found may [sic] person
in the lobby, a state of absolute disorder, holding rods and some of them taking out carton cases
and other things that | do not know, to vehicles parking in front of the hotel. These vehicles were
bearing the badge of the Egyptian Hotels Co.”’# Afraid of “being attacked[,] | rushed out of the
hotel with my wife.””>

38. Another guest of the restaurant, Mr. Mohamed Sabry Ismail Emam, stated that he “heard
shoutings and sounds of breaking coming from the side of the kitchen and somebody announcing
in a loud voice that all the employees of the WENA HOTELS LTD have to go downstairs.”’® When
he “tried to go downstairs escaping from this situation, one of the a/m took me downstairs and told
me to go out quietly as the hotel had been seized by the Egyptian Hotels Co.” and he noted several
people “carrying carton cases and taking them to buses parking in front of the hotel, bearing the
badge of the Egyptian Hotels Co.”””’

39. A Daily Telegraph article describing the seizure reported that “[o]ne British tourist said he was
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punched and gouged by ‘semi-military types’ who ordered him out of bed at 2 a.m.”’8 The article
also quoted a “British visitor” as saying:

The new managers said we could stay, but | did not feel safe. They told me they were
repossessing the hotel on government orders because of an argument between Wena
managers and the authorities.”®

40. Mr. Hany Mohamed Hassan Mohamed Wahba, a security guard at the Nile Hotel, also stated in
a subsequent deposition to the police:

While | was at the main entrance of the hotel, | saw a bus bearing the badge of the
Egyptian Hotels Co. and numerous persons going into the hotel. They caught me and | was
subject to personal searching. They were holding rods and cudgels and requested the key
of the main door of the hotel. When | told them that | do not keep it and tried to inquire
about the matter, as they were numerous, they tried to attack me and my colleagues.8°

Mr. Wahba stated that he was taken “to the rear gate by force threatening me with the rods and
cudgels.”®1 As he was taken, Mr. Wahba “saw the guests of the hotel rushing out in a state of fear
and terror caused by their bursting into the hotel in this savage way.”82 Mr. Wahba also reported
seeing “a group of the a/m persons going upstairs and another group cutting the telephone wires, a
third group burst into the reception and broke the cupboards containing the guests' registers.”83
Eventually, when he was released, Mr. Wahba “proceeded with a number of the employees of the
WENA HOTELS LTD who were thrown out with me, to the Tourist Police where we informed verbally
about the event. Then the Policeman came to the hotel.”84

41. Atapproximately 8:45 p.m., Ms. Jelcic returned to the Nile hotel. She testified that she had just
returned to her room when a group of men broke in, grabbed her and removed her from the
hotel.8> According to Ms. Jelcic, the men “had like Navy blue pants, dark pants, which is kind of
unusual because they do not normally, you know, dress alike, so that gave me the illusion as if
they were some sort of organization....”86 Ms. Jelcic testified that she and other Wena employees
(including Mr. Webster) then stood outside the hotel, looking into the lobby where she says she
noticed “about four gentlemen or so that were standing in the lobby, towards the back of the lobby,
and they were radically different from the other people that were in the lobby.... [tlhey were very
well groomed, very well dressed...”87 According to Ms. Jelcic, some of the Egyptian Wena staff
“told me that they were Ministry of Tourism officials.”88 However, Ms. Jelcic admitted that she
“personally did not recognize them, no, but my staff, obviously the staff that were there saw the
people come into the hotel on previous occasions, so | had no reason to doubt them.”82 Mr.
Webster also testified that, although he did not personally recognize any officials from the Ministry
of Tourism, two of his Egyptian staff “said to me that there were officials from the Ministry of Tourism
in the lobby at the time.”29

42. Further evidence of their contemporaneous impression that the Ministry of Tourism was
involved in the seizure of the Nile Hotel is reflected in the police statements that Ms. Jelcic and Mr.
Webster made to the Kasr El-Nile police. Ms. Jelcic's statement, for example, begins “I would like to
make a complaint, charge and case against the Egyptian Hotels Company and the Ministry of
Tourism of Egypt. 21 Similarly, Mr. Webster's statement, which is titled “Against the Egyptian Hotels
Company/Ministry of Tourism,” concludes “[w]e therefore place and hold the Egyptian Hotel
Company and Ministry of Tourism responsible for items as listed below and not returned
immediately.”??2

43. However, in his testimony, Minster Sultan adamantly rejected the suggestion that Ministry
officials might have been present during the seizure: “l am sure that none of them have been
there.  amsure of that, and, please, those who are accusing the Ministry should have come up
with physical evidence showing representatives of the Ministry were there.”?3 Mr. Munir also
testified that “[tlhere was no official of the Ministry of Tourism” present during the seizure.®*
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44. According to Ms. Jelcic and Mr. Webster, Wena staff went to both the nearby Kasr El-Nile
police station and the Tourist police station seeking assistance.?> Although both Ms. Jelcic and Mr.
Webster testified that —with the exception of one, lone policeman who arrived two to three hours
later — both police forces refused to assist Wena,?® there is evidence that officers from Kasr El-Nile
police did begin an investigation at around 11:00 p.m.%’

45. The report by the Kasr El-Nile Police records that they were “informed by the Director of the
Security Department in the EI“Nile Hotel,” perhaps Mr. Wahba, “that the Management of the
Egyptian Hotels Corporation had previously sent a number of its employees to seize the hotel in
full....”28 According to the report, four officers from the Kasr El-Nile police station went to
investigate. When they arrived, they met with officials from EHC, who “presented to us a photocopy
of the administrative order number 216 dated 31/3/1991 stamped and signed by Mr. Muhammad
Kamal Qindeel, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Egyptian Hotels Corporation.”?° During
their investigation that evening, the Kasr El-Nile Police reported that “damage was noticed which
resulted from the use of force to locks in the rooms of the secretaries, the resident manager and
the administrative business and the room for [reception?] customers and the buffet and the room of
the lawyer to the Wena Company who is resident in the hotel.”10°

46. As previously indicated, at approximately 1:00 a.m., Ms. Jelcic, Mr. Webster, and several other
Wena employees went to the nearby Kasr El-Nile police station to file a complaint.1%1 According to
Ms. Jelcic and Mr. Webster, the police at first refused to let them make a statement, and then only
would allow them to submit statements dealing with the loss of personal items, not the illegality of
EHC's seizure.192 Several other employees also prepared statements, reporting the loss of money,
jewelry, watches, and other personal items.103

3. Seizure of the Luxor Hotel

47. Also on April 1, 1991, at approximately 7:00 p.m., several EHC employees, led by Mr. Yusseri,
took possession of the Luxor Hotel.104

48. According to a subsequent statement to the Luxor police by Mr. Bahia El Din Abdel Hadi El
Wakeel, a security guard at the Luxor Hotel, “more than 100 people from the EHC seized the Wena
Hotel by force in spite myself and others responsible for the security and guards in the hotel
presence at the time.”10> Mr. Wakeel also stated that “EHC forced their entry through by force ...
which caused panic, fear, and hysteria for the guests and employees.”10® Two other guards,
Messrs. Ismael Ahmed Hefni and Ahmed Hamza Mostafa, made short statements, agreeing with Mr.
Wakeel's description of events.107

49. Mr. Muhammad Nagib Al-Sayyid, Wena's General manager of the Luxor Hotel, also filed a
police statement, asserting that, at approximately 7:00 p.m., EHC personnel entered his office,
seized the hotel's papers and ordered himto leave the hotel.198 Mr. Nagib reported the incident to
the Luxor Tourist Police, who accompanied Mr. Nagib back to the hotel and subsequently opened
an investigation into the seizure.109

50. These contemporaneous descriptions comport with the subsequent report by the Advocate
General at the Office of the Assistant Attorney General for Upper Egypt, which concluded that EHC
“broke into the Hotel ... entered by force into the management office, broke open the doors and
Offices of the Hotels Ltd. [and] forced the personnel they found there to quit the Hotel.”110

E. Events Following the Seizures of the Nile and Luxor Hotels

51. Minister Sultan testified that he first learned of the seizures by reading the newspaper the next
morning.11! Minister Sultan stated that he “requested one of my associates to investigate the issue
and we found that he [Mr. Kandil] is mistaken by taking the law into his hands....” 112 Minister Sultan
also testified that “we most probably discussed that with the Prime Minister....”113
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52. Minister Sultan repeatedly stated that he “was furious”114 at EHC's decision to seize the

hotels, that EHC's actions were “wrong,”11° and that “[i]f | had the slightest idea about that incident,
| would have immediately stopped it because during that time | was also involved in the SPP
dispute....”116 However, Minister Sultan also admitted that he did not take any action to return
Wena to the hotels, to punish EHC or its officials, or to withdraw the hotels licenses so that EHC
could not operate the hotels.!” Minister Sultan explained that by reinstating Wena “l would be
taking again of siding [sic] with someone, whereas the dispute should be settled through arbitration
ora court.”118

53. From April 1, 1991 through February 25, 1992, the Nile Hotel remained in the control of EHC.
The Luxor Hotel remained in EHC's control until April 21, 1992. During this time, Wena made several
efforts to recover possession of the hotels — including seeking the assistance of officials in the
United States and United Kingdom.112 For example, on July 9, 1991, Mr. Farargy wrote to the
Egyptian Ambassador to the United Kingdom, complaining about the apparent collapse of
negotiations between Wena and a representative of the Egyptian government.}2% Apparently, also
during this time, the Civil Defense Authority (which is responsible for fire safety) issued at least two
reports — on May 22, 1991 and November 12, 1991 — about unsafe conditions at the Nile Hotel.}21

54. On January 16, 1992, the Chief Prosecutor of Egypt ruled that the seizure of the Nile Hotel was
illegal and that Wena was entitled to repossess the hotel.122 However, the Nile Hotel was not
immediately returned to Wena. On February 21, 1992, Mr. Webster wrote to the British Embassy in
Cairo, complaining of Minister Sultan's “uncooperative stance” and the delays that Wena was
experiencing in recovering the hotels: “if he [Minister Sultan] wishes to press settlement of
account, then we too will press for setlement of monies outstanding to Wena.”123 Mr. Webster
concluded his letter by saying that “[w]e are of the impression that the Minister is either poorly
informed or part of the entire scheme.”124

55. On February 25, 1992, the Nile Hotel was returned to Wena's control.123 Just two days before
the hotel was returned, on February 23,1992, the Ministry of Tourism withdrew the Nile Hotel's
operating license because of fire safety violations and “the hotel was closed down.”128 According
to Mr. Munir, these safety violations had pre-dated EHC's seizure of the hotel in April 1991.127 In a
contemporaneous report to the Kasr El-Nile police, an EHC official confirmed that on February 23,
1992, just before returning the Nile Hotel to Wena, EHC had issued “decree no. 148/92 to stop
operations” in response to orders from the Ministries of Interior and Tourism.128

56. According to the witnesses produced by Wena, upon returning to control of the Nile Hotel,
they found the hotel vandalized.12? Although Mr. Munir denied that any such vandalism occurred,
he confirmed that EHC had removed and auctioned much of the hotel's fixtures and furniture.13°
According to Wena's management, it never operated the Nile Hotel again.13?

57. On April 21,1992, the Chief Prosecutor of Egypt ruled that EHC's seizure of the Luxor Hotel was
illegal and ordered that the hotel should be returned to Wena.132 On April 28, 1992, Wena
reentered the hotel.133 According to Wena's witnesses, the Luxor Hotel had also been damaged,
although not nearly as badly as the Nile Hotel.13% The Ministry of Tourism denied Wena a
permanent operating license for the Luxor Hotel; instead, it granted only a series of temporary
licenses because of alleged defects in the drainage system and the fire safety system, which Wena
complains prohibited it from properly operating the hotel.13>

58. After the return of the hotels, Wena sought compensation from Egypt.13® On November
11,1992, Mr. Malins wrote to the Honorable Lee Hamilton, a senior member of the U.S. House of
Representatives, complaining that “the Minister of Tourism, Dr. Fouad Sultan, will not consider our
requests” and that “itis clear that subsequent to any perceived movement, Dr. Sultan personally
intervenes to obstruct a solution.”137

59. On April 10, 1993, the Kasr El-Nile court convicted several representatives of EHC —including
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Messrs. Kandil and Munir—under Article 369/1 of the Egyptian Criminal Code (dispossession by
violence), holding that unlawful force was used to expel Wena from the Nile Hotel.138 These
convictions were subsequently upheld by the Southern Cairo Court of Appeal, on January
16,1994.139 According to Mr. Munir, the decision is currently under appeal to the Court of
Cassation.4? Neither Mr. Kandil nor Mr. Munir was sentenced to serve any jail time; both were fined
only 200 Egyptian pounds, which Mr. Munir stated that he had not paid.1#! Since then, Mr. Munir
has been promoted to become the Head of the Legal Affairs division at EHC and is expecting a
further promotion.142 According to Ms. Jelcic, Mr. Kandil is currently an advisor to a senior member
of the Egyptian parliament.143

60. On December 2,1993, Wena initiated arbitration in Egypt against EHC for breaching the Nile
Hotel lease.14# Similar arbitration was initiated by Wena against EHC for breaching the Luxor Hotel
lease on January 12, 1994.145

61. On April 10,1994, an arbitration award of EGP 1.5 million for damages from the invasion of the
Nile Hotel was issued in favor of Wena. However, the award also required Wena to surrender the
Nile Hotel to EHC's control.146 On June 21,1995, Wena was evicted from the Nile Hotel.147 Nearly
two years later, on June 9, 1997, Wena received the damages awarded by the Nile Hotel
arbitration, less, fees—a total of EGP 1,477,498.30.148

62. The Luxor Hotel arbitration also found in favor of Wena, awarding the company, in a
September 29, 1994 decision, EGP 9.06 million for damages from the seizure.14® The award
subsequently was nullified by the Cairo Appeal Court on December 20, 1995, on the basis, among
other things, that the arbitrator appointed by EHC had not signed the final decision.1>® On August
14, 1997, Wena was evicted form the Luxor Hotel and, according to Mr. Yusseri, the hotel was
turned over to a court-appointed receiver requested by EHC.1°1

F. Harassment

63. Wena has also alleged “a campaign of continual harassment” by Egypt since the seizure of
the two hotels, including the following allegations: “in 1991 the Minister of Tourism made
defamatory statement about Wena that were reproduced in the media; in 1992 Egypt revoked the
Nile Hotel's operating license without reason; in 1995 Egypt imposed an enormous, but fictitious, tax
demand on Wena; in 1996 Egypt removed the Luxor Hotel's police book, effectively rendering it
unable to accept guests; and, last but not least, in 1997 Egypt imposed a three-year prison
sentence and a LE 200,000 bail bond on the Managing Director of Wena based on trumped-up
charges.”152

64. The Tribunal has received some limited testimony and other evidence on these various
allegations. However, because it finds, as discussed in section lll, infra, that Egypt's actions
concerning the April 1, 1991 seizures of the two hotels are sufficient to determine liability, the
Tribunal does not find it necessary to make a finding on the veracity of these additional allegations.

G. Relationship between EHC and Egypt

65. From 1983 through September 1991, EHC was a “public sector” company, wholly owned by
the Egyptian Government, and operating in accordance with law Number 97 of 1983 governing
Public Sector Companies and Organizations.1>3 In September 1991, Egypt enacted the Public
Business Sector Companies Law, which reorganized the “314 State owned economic companies,”
pooling them into “16 (reduced later to 12) State owned holding companies supervised by the
Minster for [the] public Sector.”15* However, at the time of the seizures of the Nile and Luxor
Hotels, EHC was governed by Law Number 97 of 1983.

66. As explained by Minster Sultan during his testimony, under Law Number 97 of 1983, the sole
shareholder of EHC was Egypt.1>> EHC's shareholder assembly was chaired by the Minister of

From: Oxford Public International Law (htip://opil.ouplaw.com). (c) Oxford University Press, 2015. All Rights Reserved. Subscriber:
Dechert LLP Paris; date: 27 September 2015



Tourism and would be attended by several other government officials.1>® The Minister of Tourism
also was responsible for the appointment of at least one half of the Board of Directors of EHC, and
furthermore nominated EHC's Chairman.1>’ Indeed, in May 1989, Mr. Kamal Kandil was appointed, at
the nomination of Minister Sultan, Chairman and CEO of EHC by Egyptian Prime Minister's Decree
Number 539 of 1989.128 According to Mr. Munir's statement “EHC's Directors were also appointed
by the Ministry of Tourism and Civil Aviation.” 132

67. Of considerable relevance to this proceeding, the Minister of Tourism was also empowered to
dismiss the Chairman and the members of the Board of EHC if “it appears that the continued
presence of these persons would affect the proper functioning of the company.”169

68. Until at least the passage of the September 1991 Public Business Sector Companies Law, “EHC
operated within broad policy guidelines laid down by the Egyptian Government.”161 As Minister
Sultan explained during a parliamentary debate on July 14, 1992, at the time of the seizures, “the
tourism sector with its companies” was “[s]ubordinated to the Minster of Tourism.”192 |n a letter
from February 1992, the Ministry of Tourism contrasted the relationship between EHC and the
Egyptian Government before and after the passage of the September 1991 law, by explaining:

After the issuance of the new law of the Business Sector and after its implementation
starting from Oct. 1991, the Egyptian Hotels Company has full autonomy in all of its
business dealings without intervention from the Ministry.163

69. The documents also reflect that EHC and the Ministry of Tourism considered EHC's money to
be “public money” or “public funds,”164 and EHC's rights to be “a state ownership.”16> Indeed,
during the February 26, 1991 meeting chaired by Minister Sultan, the Minister is recorded as saying
that “[t]he Ministry took no pleasure from any misunderstandings with investors; however, at the
same time it could not accept any excesses in respect of any of the Government's rights.” 166
Similarly, in his April 1,1991 statement to the Luxor police, Mr. Atitu Sirri Atitu, “Manager of the Legal
Department at Egyptian Hotels Company for hotels in the Luxor area,” explained that “the Egyptian
Hotels Company, as a Government company, was compelled to preserve the public money by the
means it viewed in as being in accordance with the public interest.”167

H. Consultancy Agreement between Wena Hotels Ltd. and Mr. Kamal Kandil

70. Egypthas contended that the “claimant improperly sought to influence the Chairman of EHC
with respect to the award of the leases.”168 Both parties agree that, on or about August 20, 1989,
Wena Hotels Ltd. entered into a consultancy agreement with Mr. Kamal Kandil.162 The second
paragraph of the agreement provides that Mr. Kandil's duties “shall be to give advice and
assistance to the company as to the opportunities available to the company for developing its hotel
business in Egypt.”170

71. On March 26, 1991, Wena (through its attorneys, Tuck & Mann) issued a Writ of Summons in
England against Mr. Kandil, alleging that, under the agreement, Wena had made five payments to
Mr. Kandil between August 18, 1989 and January 30, 1990.171 The total of these payments, which
Wena sought to reclaim, was GB£ 52,000.

72. On August 19, 1991, Mr. Kandil responded to this Writ in a letter written to the Senior Master of
the Royal Court of Justice.1’2 In his letter, Mr. Kandil objected to Wena's writ, claiming that “there
was no Contract between the Claimant Company and myself,” that there was only “a Draft Contract
which is not a Contract because it was neither signed nor sealed between the Parties,” and that
“the signature which appears is not mine.”173 Mr. Kandil asserted that the “subject of the above-
mentioned Draft Contract was to develop new hotels in Egypt, these hotels being the Ramses
Village project in Abou Simbal and a Conference Center in Aswan City....”’4 Mr. Kandil also stated
that “[i]n the Draft Contract | did not actin my quality of Chairman of the Egyptian Hotels Company
nor did the Draft Contract concern either the Nile Hotel or the Luxor Hotel, instead | acted as Tourist
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Consultant for the Aswan Government and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Misr Aswan Tourist
Co."175

73. As corroborating evidence of Mr. Kandil's statements, Wena has submitted two letters it sent to
the Governor of Aswan in December 1989 and January 1990 (including one letter on which Mr.
Kandil was copied), concerning the Abou Simbal and Aswan City developments.176

74. Mr. Farargy testified that the Egyptian government was aware of the consultancy agreement
and that Mr. Kandil “offered his help and assistance officially above board with their
knowledge.”1”” According to Minister Sultan, however, he was not personally aware that “Mr.
Kandil was an agent to Farargy” and that when he did learn about it, “I passed that to the
prosecutor requesting a full fledged investigation....”178 Both parties agree, however, that “the
investigation appears ... to have bene closed”1’? and that “Mr. Kandil was never prosecuted in
Egypt in connection with the Consultancy Agreement.”180% Unfortunately, other than this consensus
that Mr. Kandil was never prosecuted, the Tribunal has been presented with no evidence of any
investigation the Egyptian government might have undertaken in this matter.

. Liability

75. In its Memorial on the Merits, Wena claims that “Egypt violated the IPPA, Egyptian law and
international law by expropriating Wena's investments without compensation.”181 Wena also
argues that “Egypt violated the IPPA and other international norms by failing to protect and secure
Wena's investments.”182

76. Egyptdenies Wena's claims, asserting that it has neither “violated the IPPA's prohibition on
expropriation without compensation”183 nor “breached any obligation under international law to
protect and secure the claimant's investment.”184 |n addition to its objections to the substance of
Wena's claims, Egypt has also raised two affirmative defenses. First, Egypt asserts that “Claimant's
claims in respect of the seizure of the hotels and acts of vandalism are time barred.”183 Second,
Egypt contends that “Claimant improperly sought to influence the Chairman of EHC [Mr. Kamal
Kandil] with respect to the award of the leases that are the subject of this arbitration” and,
therefore, as a result of this alleged corruption, “Claimant cannot now properly appear before an
international tribunal, constituted in accordance with the IPPA, and claim compensation for the
alleged loss of leasehold interests that were improperly obtained in the first place.”186 The Tribunal
has carefully considered all of these claims. The Tribunal devoted particular attention to the
allegations of corruption raised by Egypt.

77. Despite the able representation of Egypt's counsel, the Tribunal concludes that Egypt did
violate its obligations under the IPPA by failing to provide Wena's investments in Egypt “fair and
equitable treatment” and “full protection and security”187 and by failing to provide Wena with
“prompt, adequate and effective compensation” following the expropriation of its investments.188
The Tribunal also finds that Wena's claims are not time barred. Finally, although Egypt has raised
serious allegations of misconduct and corruption, the Tribunal finds that Egypt (which bears the
burden of proving such an affirmative defense) has failed to prove its allegations. The Tribunal's
rationale is discussed in more detail below.

A. Law Applicable to this Arbitration

78. Before Disposing of the merits of this case, the Tribunal must consider the applicable law
governing its deliberations. As both parties agree, “this case all turns on an alleged violation by the
Arab Republic of Egypt of the agreement for the promotion and protection of investments that was
entered into in 1976 between the United Kingdom and the Arab Republic of Egypt.”189 Thus, the
Tribunal, like the parties (in both their submissions and oral advocacy), considers the IPPA to be the
primary source of applicable law for this arbitration.
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79. However, the IPPA is a fairly terse agreement of only seven pages containing thirteen articles.
The parties in their arguments have not treated it as containing all the rules of law applicable to
their dispute, and this is also the view of the Tribunal. In particular, Egypt has relied on Egyptian
law, namely, the Egyptian Civil Code to raise its first defense — that Wena's claims are time barred.
In its response to that defense, Wena has taken the position that both Egyptian law and
international law are applicable to the dispute.!®® Under Article 42(1) of the ICSID Convention:

The Tribunal shall decide a dispute in accordance with such rules of law as may be agreed
upon by the parties. In the absence of such agreement, the Tribunal shall apply the law of
the Contracting State party to the dispute (including its rules on the conflicts of laws) and
such rules of international law as may be applicable.

The Tribunal finds that, beyond the provisions of the IPPA, there is no special agreement between
the parties on the rules of law applicable to the dispute. Rather, the pleadings of both parties
indicate that, aside from the provisions of the IPPA, the Tribunal should apply both Egyptian law
(i.e., “the law of the Contracting State party to the dispute”) and “such rules of international law as
may be applicable.” The Tribuna notes that the provisions of the IPPA would in any event be the
first rules of law to be applied by the Tribunal, both on the basis of the agreement of the parties and
as mandated by Egyptian law as well as international law.

B. The Issue of Egypt's Substantive Liability

1. Summary of Wena's Claims

80. As noted already, Wena raises two claims against Egypt. First, it contends that Egypt's actions
constitute an unlawful expropriation without “prompt, adequate and effective” compensation in
violation of Article 5 of the IPPA, as well as Egyptian law and other international law.1®! Second,
Wena argues that Egypt violated Article 2(2) of the IPPA, and other international norms, by failing to
accord Wena's investments “fair and equitable treatment” and “full protection and security.” 192

81. Egyptdisputes both allegations, contending, inter alia, “that the Claimant has no legitimate
grievance against the Respondent, who neither authorized nor participated in the repossession of
the Luxor and Nile Hotels on April 1, 1991 or most of the subsequent events of which the Claimant
complains.”193

82. The Tribunal disagrees. There is substantial evidence that, even if Egyptian officials other than
officials, of EHC did not participate in the seizures of the hotels on April 1, 1991, 1) Egypt was
aware of EHC's intentions to seize the hotels and did nothing to prevent those seizures, 2) the
police, although responding to the seizures, did nothing to protect Wena's investments; 3) for
almost one year, Egypt (despite its control over EHC both before and after April 1, 1991) did
nothing to restore the hotels to Wena; 4) Egypt failed to prevent damage to the hotels before their
return to Wena; 5) Egypt failed to impose any substantial sanctions on EHC (or its senior officials
responsible for the seizures), suggesting its approval of EHC's actions; and 6) Egypt refused to
compensate Wena for the losses it suffered.

83. The Tribunal shall consider each of Wena's claims, beginning with its assertion that Egypt
violated its obligations under Article 2(2) of the IPPA to provide “full protection and security” to
Wena's investments.

2. Article 2(2) of the IPPA: “Fair and Equitable Treatment” and “Full Protection and
Security”

84. The Tribunal agrees with Wena that Egypt violated its obligation under Article 2(2) of the IPPA
to accord Wena's investment “fair and equitable treatment” and “full protection and security.”
Although it is not clear that Egyptian officials other than officials of EHC directly participated in the
April 1, 1991 seizures, there is substantial evidence that Egypt was aware of EHC's intentions to
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seize the hotels and took no actions to prevent EHC from doing so. Moreover, once the seizures
occurred, both the police and the Ministry of Tourism took no immediate action to restore the hotels
promptly to Wena's control. Finally, Egypt never imposed substantial sanctions on EHC or its senior
officials, suggesting Egypt's approval of EHC's actions.

Article 2(2) of the IPPA provides:

Investments of nationals or companies of either Contracting Party shall at all time be
accorded fair and equitable treatment and shall enjoy full protection and security in the
territory of the other Contracting Party. Each Contracting Party shall ensure that the
management, maintenance, use, enjoyment or disposal of investments in its territory of
nationals or companies of the other Contracting Party is notin any way impaired by
unreasonable or discriminatory measures. Each Contracting Party shall observe any
obligation it may have entered into with regard to investments of nationals or companies of
the other Contracting party.194

In interpreting a similar provision from the bilateral investment treaty between Zaire and the United
States, another ICSID panel has recently held that “the obligation incumbent on [the host state] is
an obligation of vigilance, in the sense that [the host state] shall take all measures necessary to
ensure the full enjoyment of protection and security of its [sic] investments and should not be
permitted to invoke its own legislation to detract from any such obligation.”12> Of course, as still
another ICSID panel has observed, a host state's promise to accord foreign investment such
protection is not an “absolute obligation which guarantees that no damages will be suffered, in the
sense that any violation thereof creates automatically a ‘strict liability’ on behalf of the host
State.”196 A host state “is not an insurer or guarantor... [i]lt does not, and could hardly be asked to,
accept an absolute responsibility for all injuries to foreigners.”1%7 Here, however, there is no
question that Egypt violated its obligation to accord Wena's investments “fair and equitable
treatment” and “full protection and security.”

85. Even if Egypt did not instigate or participate in the seizure of the two hotels, as Wena
claims,198 there is sufficient evidence to find tat Egypt was aware of EHC's intentions and took no
actions to prevent the seizures or to immediately restore Wena's control over the hotels. As
discussed in section II.C, supra, in December 1990, Wena's parliamentary consultant, Mr. Malins,
traveled to Egypt expressly to meet with minister Sultan and the Egyptian Minister of the Interior to
express Wena's concerns about such a seizure.1°? Mr. Malins recounted that “[b]oth Minsters
gave me their separate, absolute assurances ... that no violence could or would take place.”290 |n
February 1991, Wena wrote to Minister Sultan, mentioning that EHC was again threatening to
repossess the hotels through force:

officials from the Egyptian Hotels Company threatened to storm the hotels and expel us,
and this was after our Company had spent the sums previously outlined. The Matter
reached a point where the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Egyptian Hotels
Company issued a decision for his company to take possession of the Luxor Hotel without
a legal ruling or any other measure [to support his decision].201

86. Then, on March 21, 1991 (only eleven days before the seizures), Mr. Kandil wrote to Minister
Sultan, proposing that, among other things, “the two hotels be taken and the license
withdrawn.”292 Mr. Kandil closed the letter by advising Minister Sultan: “We leave the matter to
you.”293 Marginalia, in Minister Sultan's handwriting, confirm that the Minister received and
reviewed the letter.204

87. Finally, on March 25, 1991 (only six days before the seizure), Mr. Malins wrote to Minister
Sultan asking for another meeting and requesting an understanding from the Minister that no
actions would be taken until that meeting could occur: “please confirm what must surely be [sic]
right, mainly that all matters be ‘absolutely frozen,” with no detrimental action of whatever nature
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being taken pending our meeting...”293 As evidence of the close coordination between the Ministry
of Tourism and EHC, Mr. Kandil (and not Minister Sultan) responded to this letter on March 31,1991
(the day immediately before the seizures).?%® Mr. Kandil ended his letter by threatening that “the
owning company will take all necessary measures to protectits rights which is considered a state
ownership.”207

88. Despite all these warnings, Egypt took no action to protect Wena's investment. Minister Sultan
sought to defend Egypt's failure to prevent the seizure by explaining he was not aware that EHC
planned to illegally seize the hotels,298 and that “[i]f | had the slightest idea about that incident, |
would have immediately stopped it...”299 Even if the Tribunal were to accept this explanation for
Egypt's failure to act before the seizures, it does not justify the fact that neither the police nor the
Ministry of Tourism took any immediate action to protect Wena's investments after EHC had illegally
seized the hotels.

89. For example, despite the convincing evidence that a large number of people forcibly seized
the Nile Hotel at approximately 7:00 p.m.,210 it is undisputed that the Kasr EI-Nile police (located
only a few minutes away) did not begin an investigation until four hours later and it is not evident
that the Ministry of Tourism police (also located nearby) ever responded to Wena's request for
assistance.?211 Moreover, even after the Kasr El-Nile police began their investigation, they took no
steps to remove EHC and restore Wena to control of the hotel. The Luxor police, although more
prompt in their response, also declined to expel EHC and restore the Luxor hotel to Wena.212

90. The Ministry of Tourism also failed to take any immediate action to protect Wena's
investments. Although he testified that he “was furious”213 at EHC's decision to seize the hotels
and that EHC's actions were “wrong,”214 Minister Sultan also acknowledged that he did not take
any action to return the hotels to Wena, to punish EHC or its officials, or to withdraw the hotel's
licenses so that EHC could not operate the hotels.21> Under Law Number 97 of 1983 governing
Public Sector Companies and Organizations, Minister Sultan was empowered to dismiss the
Chairman and the members of the Board of EHC if “it appears that the continued presence of these
persons would affect the proper functioning of the company.”216 Also, given its power as the sole
shareholder in EHC,217 with several of its senior officials participating in and one of them chairing
EHC's shareholder assembly,218 and with “EHC operat[ing] within broad policy guidelines laid down
by the Egyptian Government,”21? Egypt could have directed EHC to return the hotels to Wena's
control and make reparations.

91. Instead, neither hotel was restored to Wena until nearly a year later, after decisions by the
Chief Prosecutor of Egypt,220 which Wena asserts were only obtained as a result of diplomatic
pressure on Egypt.221 Even after the Chief Prosecutor's first decision (concerning the Nile Hotel)
was issued on January 16, 1992, in which he found the seizures “illegal,” the Ministry of Tourism
delayed returning control of the Nile Hotel to Wena. For example, on February 21, 1992, Mr.
Webster wrote to the British Embassy in Cairo, complaining of Minister Sultan's “uncooperative
stance” and the delays that Wena was experiencing in recovering the hotels: “if he [Minister
Sultan] wishes to press settlement of account, then we too will press for setlement of monies
outstanding to Wena.”222 Mr. Webster concluded his letter by saying that “[w]e are of the
impression that the Minister is either poorly informed or part of the entire scheme.”223

92. Moreover, neither hotel was returned to Wena in the same operating condition that it had been
in before the seizures. According to Wena's witnesses, both hotels had been vandalized.224
Although Mr. Munir denied that any such vandalism occurred, he confirmed that EHC had removed
and auctioned much of the Nile Hotel's fixtures and furniture.22> Furthermore, neither hotel had a
permanent operating license. In fact, just two days before the Nile Hotel was returned to Wena, the
Ministry of Tourism withdrew that hotel's operating license because of alleged fire safety
violations.?26 Although, as Mr. Munir noted, these safety violations had pre-dated EHC's seizure of
the hotel in April 1991,227 itis noteworthy that the Ministry of Tourism allowed EHC to operate the
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Nile Hotel from April 1991 through February 1992, despite these violations, and revoked the license
only on February 23, 1992, just prior to restoring the hotel to Wena's control.

93. Egyptalso refused to compensate Wena for the losses it had experienced.228 On November
11, 1992, Mr. Malins wrote to the Honorable Lee Hamilton, a senior member of the U.S. House of
Representatives, complaining that “the Minister of Tourism, Dr. Fouad Sultan, will not consider our
requests” and that “itis clear that subsequent to any perceived movement, Dr. Sultan personally
intervenes to obstruct a solution.”22°

94. Finally, neither EHC nor its senior officials were seriously punished for their actions in forcibly
expelling Wena and illegally possessing the hotels for approximately a year. Although several
representatives of EHC — including Messrs. Kandil and Munir — were convicted for their actions,
neither Mr. Kandil nor Mr. Munir was sentenced to serve any jail time. Instead, both were fined only
EGP 200, which Mr. Munir stated that he has never paid.230 Also, neither official appears to have
suffered any repercussions in their careers. As noted above, the Ministry of Tourism chose not to
exercise its authority to remove Mr. Kandil as Chairman of ECH and, according to Ms. Jelcic, he
currently is serving as an advisor to a senior member of the Egyptian parliament.231 Since the
seizures, Mr. Munir has been promoted to become the Head of the Legal Affairs Division at EHC and
is expecting a further promotion in the near future.232 This absence of any punishment of EHC and
its officials suggest that Egypt condoned EHC's actions.

95. For all of these reasons, the Tribunal concludes that Egypt violated its obligation under Article
2(2) of the IPPA, by failing to accord Wena's investments “fair and equitable treatment” and “full
protection and security.”

3. Article 5 of the IPPA: Expropriation Without “Prompt, Adequate and Effective”
Compensation

96. The Tribunal also agrees with Wena that Egypt's actions constitute an expropriation and one
without “prompt, adequate and effective compensation,” in violation of Article 5 of the IPPA. That
article provides in relevant part that:

(1) Investments of nationals or companies of either Contracting Party shall not be
nationalised, expropriated or subjected to measures having effect equivalent to
nationalisation or expropriation (hereinafter referred to as ‘expropriation’) in the territory of
the other Contracting Party except for a public purpose related to the internal needs of the
Party and against prompt, adequate and effective compensation. Such compensation shall
amount to the market value of the investment expropriated immediately before the
expropriation itself or before there was an official Government announcement that
expropriation would be effected in the future, whichever is the earlier, shall be made
without delay, be effectively realizable and be freely transferable. The national or company
affected shall have a right under the law of the Contracting Party making the expropriation,
to prompt review, by a judicial or other independent authority of that Party, of whether the
expropriation is in conformity with domestic law and of the valuation of his or its investment
in accordance with the principles set out in this paragraph.233

97. Although, as Professor lan Brownlie has commented, “the terminology of the subjectis by no
means settled,”?34 the fundamental principles of what constitutes an expropriation are well
established under international law. For example, as the ICSID tribunal in Amco Asia v. Indonesia
noted, “itis generally accepted in International Law, that a case of expropriation exists not only
when a state takes over private property, but also when the expropriating state transfers ownership
to another legal or natural person.?3> The tribunal continued by observing that an expropriation
“also exists merely by the state withdrawing the protection of its courts form the owner
expropriated, and tacitly allowing a de facto possessor to remain in possession of the thing
seized...”236
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98. ltis also well established that an expropriation is not limited to tangible property rights. As the
panel in SPP v. Egypt explained, “there is considerable authority for the proposition that Contract
rights are entitled to the protection of international law and that the taking of such rights involves an
obligation to make compensation therefore.”237 Similarly, Chamber Two of the Iran-U.S. Claims
Tribunal observed in the Tippets case that “[a] deprivation or taking of property may occur under
international law through interference by a state in the use of that property or with the enjoyment of
its benefits, even where legal title to the property is not affected.”238 The chamber continued by
noting:

[w]hile assumption of control over property by a government does not automatically and
immediately justify a conclusion that the property has been taken by the government, thus
requiring compensation under international law, such a conclusion is warranted whenever
events demonstrate that the owner has been deprived of fundamental rights of ownership
and it appears that this deprivation is not merely ephemeral.?3°

99. Here, the Tribunal has no difficulty finding that the actions previously described constitute
such an expropriation. Whether or not it authorized or participated in the actual seizures of the
hotels, Egypt deprived Wena of its “fundamental rights of ownership” by allowing EHC forcibly to
seize the hotels, to possess themiillegally for nearly a year, and to return the hotels stripped of
much of their furniture and fixtures.24% Egypt has suggested that this deprivation was merely
“ephemeral” and therefore did not constitute an expropriation.241 The Tribunal disagrees. Putting
aside various other improper actions, allowing an entity (over which Egypt could exert effective
control) to seize and illegally possess the hotels for nearly a year is more than an ephemeral
interference “in the use of that property or with the enjoyment of its benefits.”242

100. Moreover, even after the hotels were returned to Wena, Egypt failed to satisfy its obligation
under the IPPA, and international norms generally, by refusing to offer Wena “prompt, adequate
and effective compensation” for the losses it had suffered as result of Egypt's failure to act.243 For
example, as already noted, on November 11, 1992, Mr. Malins wrote to U.S. Congressman Lee
Hamilton, complaining that “the Minister of Tourism, Dr. Fouad Sultan, will not consider our
requests” and that “itis clear that subsequent to any perceived movement, Dr. Sultan personally
intervenes to obstruct a solution.”244

101. For all these reasons, the Tribunal concludes that Egypt violated its obligation under Article 5
of the IPPA, by failing to provide Wena with “prompt, adequate and effective compensation” for the
losses it suffered as a result of the seizures of the Luxor and Nile Hotel.

C. Whether Wena's Claims are Time Barred

102. In its Memorial on the Merits, Egypt argues that Wena's claims are time barred under Article
172(i) of the Egyptian Civil Code.?> This article provides that:

A case filed for damages claimed for an illegal act, shall fall by prescription by lapse of
three years from the day the wronged person learns of the damage taking place and of the
person who is responsible for it, in all events the case shall fall with the lapse of 15 years
from the day the illegal act takes place.?4®

Egypt also observes that “[e]ven if, contrary to the above, the Tribunal were to refuse to apply
Article 172(i), it nevertheless would clearly still have the discretion to determine whether there has
been unreasonable delay in the submission of the Claimant's claims to ICSID.”247 Finally, Egypt
contends that “if Egyptian law is not applied, it would be reasonable ... to have regard to the
principles of prescription that are common to both of the Contracting Parties to the IPPA, i.e., in this
case, the United Kingdom,” noting that the statute of limitation, under the English Limitation Act
1980, for breach of Contract or tortious behavior is six years.248
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103. Ironically, as Wena notes, Respondent did not previously raise this “time bar” claimin its
objections to jurisdiction.242 To the contrary, Respondent asserted, as part of its objections, that
Wena's Request for Arbitration was “premature.”?>°

104. Setting aside this apparentinconsistency, however, the Tribunal sees no legal or equitable
reason to bar Wena's claim. First, contrary to Respondent's claim that “Claimant severely
compromised the ability of the Respondent to defend itself in these proceedings,”2°! the Tribunal
agrees with Wena that, given the voluminous evidence produced by the parties as well as the
extensive testimony provided by several witnesses (in particular, EHC's counsel, Mr. Munir, who
showed a remarkable recollection of the case), neither party seems to have been disadvantaged
— which, of course, is one of the equitable reasons for disallowing an untimely claim.

105. Another equitable principle is the notion of “repose” — that a respondent who reasonably
believes that a dispute has been abandoned or laid to rest long ago should not be surprised by its
subsequent resurrection.232 Here, however, the Tribunal finds that Wena has continued to be
aggressive in prosecuting its claims and that Egypt has had ample notice of this on-going
dispute.2>3

106. Second, as Wena notes, municipal statutes of limitation do not necessarily bind a claim for a
violation of an international treaty before an international tribunal. In Alan Craig v. Ministry of
Energy of Iran, Chamber Three of the Iran-U.S. Claims Tribunal declined to apply an Iranian statute
of limitation, despite the applicability of Iranian law.2>* The tribunal noted:

Municipal statutes of limitation have not been considered as binding on claims before an
international tribunal, although such periods may be taken into account by such a tribunal
when determining the effect of an unreasonable delay in pursuing a claim.2>>

This general principle was recognized as long ago as 1903 by the Iltaly-Venezuela Mixed Claims
Commission, which held in the Gentini case that, although local statutes of limitation cannot be
invoked to defeat an international claim, international tribunals may consider equitable principles of
prescription to reject untimely claims.2>® Indeed, in the Gentini case, the American Umpire
dismissed a thirty-year old claim. As discussed above, however, the Tribunal sees no reason to
exercise such discretion in this case, where Egypt has had ample notice of Wena's continued
claims and where neither party appears to have been substantially harmed in its ability to bring its
case.

107. Egypt contends that Article 42(1) of the ICSID Convention mandates that the Tribunal must
apply Article 172(i)'s three-year statute of limitation. The Tribunal does not agree. Article 42(1) of
the ICSID Convention provides that a Tribunal shall apply domestic law “and such rules of
international law as may be applicable.” As Wena notes, the decision in the Amco Asia case
advised that one situation where a tribunal should apply rules of international law is “to ensure the
precedence of international law norms where the rules of the applicable domestic law are in
collision with such norms.”2>7 Here, strict application of Article 172(i)'s three-year limit, even if
applicable, would collide with the general, well-established international principle recognized since
before the Gentini case: that municipal statutes of limitation do not bind claims before an
international tribunal (although tribunals are entitled to consider such statutes as well as equitable
principles of prescription when handling untimely claims).

108. Moreover, as discussed in Section lll.A, supra, the principal source of substantive law in this
case is the IPPA itself. The Tribunal notes that although the IPPA's concise provisions do not contain
detailed procedures for bringing an arbitration, Article 8(1) does expressly provide that if a dispute
“should arise and agreement cannot be reached within three months between the parties to this
dispute through pursuit of local remedies, through conciliation or otherwise, then,” and only then,
may a party institute ICSID proceedings.2>8 This provision suggests a greater concern that the
parties not rush into arbitration than that the parties will delay the initiation of proceedings.
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109. Finally, although not necessary to the Tribunal's decision, the Tribunal is not convinced by
the interpretation of Egyptian law presented by Respondent. As Respondent's expert noted,
normally “[a]ctions for liability for administrative acts are time-barred after fifteen years.”2°? Article
172(i), to the contrary, is viewed as an “exception to the general principle concerning the statute
of limitation [because] it relates to ... unlawful acts.”269 Dr. Elehwany reached the conclusion that
the normal 15-year prescription did not apply and that the exceptional three-year period of Article
172(i) did, because “what was being attributed to Egyptis liability for the physical acts the police
are alleged to have committed on 1 April 1991 — namely the storming Nile and Luxor Hotels, the
forcible eviction of the hotel guests and staff, the theft of cash, the detention of employees, the
wrecking of everything....”261

110. Of course, as Egypt argued on the merits, and the Tribunal agrees, it has not been
demonstrated that the police physically participated in the seizure of the hotels. As discussed in
section lll.B., supra, Egypt's liability does not arise form physical acts by the police, but from Egypt's
failure to accord Wena's investments as required by IPPA, “full protection and security” — by failing
to prevent or immediately reverse EHC's physical acts. Such failure to provide legal protection
would appear to constitute the typical administrative act for which the normal, fifteen-year
prescription period applies. Thus, Egypt's response to the contention that it failed to provide “full
protection and security” is inadequate.

D. Consultancy Agreement with Mr. Kandil

111. Finally, the Tribunal considers Egypt's contention that “Claimant improperly sought to
influence the Chairman of EHC with respect to the award of the leases” for the Luxor and Nile
hotels.?62 If true, these allegations are disturbing and ground for dismissal of this claim. As Egypt
properly notes, international tribunals have often held that corruption of the type alleged by Egypt
are contrary to international bones mores.2%3. However, as Professor Lalive notes, “the delicate
problems remains” for an arbitral tribunal “to determine precisely where the line should be drawn
between legal and illegal contracts, between illegal bribery and legal ‘commissions.’”264

112. As noted above in section I.H (paragraphs 70-74), it is undisputed that Wena and Mr. Kandil
entered into an agreement in August 1989, that the purpose of the agreement was for Mr. Kandil “to
give advice and assistance to the company as to opportunities available to the company for
developing its hotel business in Egypt,”2%5 that between August 18, 1989 and January 30, 1990
Wena made a total of GB£ 52,000 in payments to Mr. Kandil, and that on March 26, 1991, Wena
initiated a lawsuit against Mr. Kandil for allegedly breaching the agreement.266

113. Egypt notes that, coincidentally, the first payment (on August 18, 1989) was ten days after
the execution of the Luxor Hotel lease and that the last payment (on January 30,1990) was two
days after the signing of the Nile Hotel lease. It also observes that the amount paid to Mr. Kandil
exceeds that which would have been authorized under the consultancy agreement.

114. Wena, however, contends that the agreement did not concern the Nile and Luxor hotels, but
was to help Wena pursue development opportunities in Misr Aswan, where Mr. Kandil was a tourist
consultant. This assertion is supported by both Mr. Kandil's response to Wena's March 1991
lawsuit, 267 as well as the letters Wena has submitted from December 1989 and January 1990,
evincing its interest in the Abou Simbal and Aswan City developments in Misr Aswan.268

115. Wena also noted that according to Mr. Yusseri, the Luxor lease was awarded to Wena in a
competitive bid with another investor, with Wena winning the lease because it agreed to pay a
higher rent.2%? Finally, Mr. Farargy testified that the Egyptian government was aware of the
agreement that Mr. Kandil “offered his help and assistance officially above board with their
knowledge.”270

116. Although the Tribunal believes Minister Sultan's testimony that he was not personally aware
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that “Mr. Kandil was an agent to Farargy” and that when he did learn about it, “I passed that to the
prosecutor requesting a full fledged investigation,”271 it is undisputed that Mr. Kandil was never
prosecuted in Egypt in connection with this agreement.?’? Regrettably, because Egypt has failed to
present the Tribunal with any information about the investigation requested by Minister Sultan, the
Tribunal does not know whether an investigation was conducted and, if so, whether the
investigation was closed because the prosecutor determined that Mr. Kandil was innocent, because
of lack evidence, or because of complicity by other government officials. Nevertheless, given the
fact that the Egyptian government was made aware of this agreement by Minister Sultan but
decided (for whatever reasons) not to prosecute Mr. Kandil, the Tribunal is reluctant to immunize
Egypt from liability in this arbitration because it now alleges that the agreement with Mr. Kandil was
illegal under Egyptian law.

117. Moreover, with the exception of the coincidence in the timing of the payments and the
signing of the Luxor and Nile hotels (and the apparent over-payment of Mr. Kandil), the Tribunal
notes that Egypt — which bears the burden of proving such an affirmative defense — has failed to
present any evidence that would refute Wena's evidence that the Contract was a legitimate
agreement to help pursue development opportunities in Misr Aswan. Nor did either party offer to
present live testimony from Mr. Kandil.

IV. Damages

118. Article 5 of the IPPA between Egypt and the United Kingdom provides that in the event of an
expropriation, the private investor shall be entitled to “prompt, adequate, and effective
compensation” and “such compensation shall amount to the market value of the investment
immediately before the expropriation.”273 The Tribunal shall apply this standard to the
determination of damages.

119. Altogether Wena claims damages of GB£ 20.4 million for lost profits, GB£ 22.8 million for lost
opportunities and GB£ 2.5 million for reinstatement costs, making a total of GB£ 45.7 million.274 In
addition, it seek interest on the previous sum and makes a claim of US$ 1,251,541 for counsel fees
and costs of experts and witnesses incurred in pursuing its claim.?”>

120. In the alternative, Wena claims US$8,819,466.93 as the amount of its investment in the
Egyptian hotel venture.27®

121. The Respondent disputes these requests, contending that the claims summarized in
paragraphs 119-120 are inappropriate and greatly overstated.2’” In the alternative, the
Respondent suggest that if anything were awarded for damages it should be the amount of Wena's
investment in the Egyptian hotel venture, which, according to Respondent's expert, could not be
more than GB£ 750,000.278

122. Although experts presented by each party adopted variations of the well-known discounted
cash flow (“DCF”) method of calculating the amount of the damages sustained by Wena, the
experts reached widely varying results from their calculations.?”? Since, however, the Tribunal is
not persuaded that the DCF method is appropriate in this case, it deems it unnecessary to enter
into a detailed discussion of the differences that the experts' calculations disclosed.

123. The Tribunal agrees with Egypt that, in this case, Wena's claims for lost profits (using a
discounted cash flow analysis), lost opportunities and reinstatement costs are inappropriate—
because an award based on such claims would be too speculative. As another ICSID panel
recently noted in the Metalclad decision:

Normally, the fair market value of a going concern which has a history of profitable
operation may be based on an estimate of future profits subject to a discounted cash flow
analysis. However, where the enterprise has not operated for a sufficiently long time to
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establish a performance record or where it has failed to make a profit, future profits cannot
be used to determine going concern or fair market value.28°

Similarly, the ICC panel in the SPP (Middle East) v. Egypt arbitration case declined to accepta
discounted cash flow projection because, inter alia, “by the date of cancellation the great majority
of the work had still to be done,” and “the calculation put forward by the Claimants produces a
disparity between the amount of the investment made by the Claimants” and the “supposed value”
of the investment as calculated by the DCF analysis.281

124. Like the Metalclad and SPP disputes, here, there is insufficiently “solid base on which to
found any profit ... or for predicting growth or expansion of the investment made” by Wena.282
Wena had operated the Luxor Hotel for less than eighteen months, and had not even completed its
renovations on the Nile Hotel, before they were seized on April 1, 1991. In addition, there is some
question whether Wena had sufficient finances to fund its renovation and operation of the
hotels.283 Finally, the Tribunal is disinclined to grant Wena's request for lost profits and lost
opportunities given the large disparity between the requested amount (GB£ 45.7 million) and
Wena's stated investment in the two hotels (US$8,819,466.93).284

125. Rather, the Tribunal agrees with the parties that the proper calculation of “the market value
of the investment expropriated immediately before the expropriation”28> is best arrived at, in this
case, by reference to Wena's actual investments in the two hotels. As noted above, Wena pleads
in the alternative for award of at least the amount of Wena's proven investment in the Egyptian
hotel venture. Similarly, Respondent pleads in the alternative that if any award were made it should
not be more than the amount of Wena's proven investment.

126. The Tribunal is not persuaded by the relevance of the Respondent's contention that much of
the Egyptian investment came from affiliates of Wena rather than from Wena. Instead the panel
takes the view that whether the investments were made by Wena or by one of its affiliates, as long
as those investments went into the Egyptian hotel venture, they should be recognized as
appropriate investments. The panel was persuaded from the testimony it received thatitis a widely
established practice for hotel enterprises to adopt allocation measures, which spread the profits
form the group operations into various jurisdictions where there are tax advantages to the group as
a whole.

127. On the basis of investment, Claimant states its loss as US$8,819,466.93. However, the panel
in pursuing an objection raised by the Respondent that there were certain elements of double
counting,28® decided that the gross figure should be diminished by US$322,000.00 to eliminate
probably double counting in certain instances. Beyond that, however, the panel was not persuaded
by Respondent's evidence that there were significant other instances of double counting. Thus, the
figure of US$8,819,466.93 should be diminished by US$322,000.00, leaving a total of
US$8,497,466.93, which the Tribunal judges to be the approximate total for Wena's investment.
From this, the Tribunal agreed that $435,570.38 should be deducted for the amount received
already by Claimant as a result of the Egyptian arbitration award (the equivalent of EGP
1,477,498.30 at the exchange rate of $1 = EGP 3.3921 on June 9, 1997, the date of payment of the
Egyptian award).287

128. To this should be added an appropriate sum for interest. Claimant has claimed interest but
neither specified a rate nor whether interest should be compounded.288 Moreover, the IPPA, the
lease agreements, and the ICSID Convention and Rules are all silent on the subject of interest. The
Panel is of the view that in this case interest should be awarded and that it would be appropriated
adopt a rate of 9%, to be compounded quarterly.282

129. Like the distinguished panel in the recently-issued Metalclad decision, this Tribunal also has
determined that compounded interest will best “restore the Claimant to a reasonable approximation
of the position in which it would have been if the wrongful act had not taken place.”?%° Although

From: Oxford Public International Law (htip://opil.ouplaw.com). (c) Oxford University Press, 2015. All Rights Reserved. Subscriber:
Dechert LLP Paris; date: 27 September 2015



the Metalclad tribunal awarded compound interest without comment, this panel feels that a brief
explanation of its decision is warranted.2°! This Tribunal believes that an award of compound (as
opposed to simple) interest is generally appropriate in most modern, commercial arbitrations. As
Professor Gotanda has observed “almost all financing and investment vehicles involve compound
interest .... If the claimant could have received compound interest merely by placing its money in a
readily available and commonly used investment vehicle, itis neither logical nor equitable to award
the claimant only simple interest.”292 For similar reasons, Professor Mann has “submitted that ...
compound interest may be and, in absence of special circumstances, should be awarded to the
claimant as damages by international tribunals.”293

130. Thus, the total, with interest through December 1, 2000 (US$11,431,386.88) is
US$19,493,283.43. To this figure there should be added an appropriate sum to reimburse Claimant
for attorney's fees and related costs, as reparation for losses sufficiently related to its central
claims and in keeping with common practice in international arbitration. It will be recalled that the
Tribunal, in its Decision on Jurisdiction, rejected Wena's claims for costs incurred in rebutting
Egypt's objections to jurisdiction.294 Accordingly, the Tribunal shall only reimburse Claimant for that
portion of its attorney's fees and costs incurred in presenting the merits of this arbitration. Wena
has claimed US$1,107,703 for these expenses.29> Thus, including the Claimant's attorney's fees
and costs, the grand total to be awarded Claimant is U5$20,600,986.43. This award will be payable
within 30 days from the date hereof. Thereafter, it will accumulate additional interest at 9%
compounded quarterly until paid.

V. Conclusion

131. In sum, the Tribunal concludes that Egypt breached its obligations under Article 2(2) of the
IPPA by failing to accord Wena's investments in Egypt “fair and equitable treatment” and “full
protection and security.” Even if the Egyptian Government did not authorize or participate in the
attacks, its failure to prevent the seizures and subsequent failure to protect Wena's investments
give rise to liability. The Tribunal also finds that Egypt's actions amounted to an expropriation —
transferring control of the hotels from Wena to EHC without “prompt, adequate and effective
compensation” in violation of Article 5 of the IPPA.

132. The Tribunal also dismisses the two affirmative defenses raised by Egypt. First, the Tribunal
does not agree with Egypt's contention that Wena's claims are time barred. Second, although Egypt
has raised some disturbing allegations regarding payments made to Mr. Kandil, the Tribunal finds
that Egypt has failed to meet its evidentiary burden of proving that these payments were
illegitimate.

V1. The Operative Part

133. For these reasons
THE TRIBUNAL, unanimously,

134. FINDS that Egypt breached its obligations to Wena by failing to accord Wena's investments in
Egypt fair and equitable treatment and full protection and security in violation of Article 2(2) of the
IPPA;

135. FINDS that Egypt's actions amounted to an expropriation without prompt, adequate and
effective compensation in violation of Article 5 of the IPPA;

and

136. AWARDS to Wena US$20,600,986.43 in damages, interest, attorneys fees and expenses.
This award will be payable by Egypt within 30 days from the date of this Award. Thereafter, it will
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accumulate additional interest at 9% compounded quarterly until paid.
/s/

Prof. Ibrahim Fadlallah

/s/

Prof. Don Wallace, Jr.

/s/

Monroe Leigh, Esq.

Statement of Professor Don Wallace, Jr.

Professor Wallace concurs in the Tribunal's entire award and is persuaded that compound interest
should be awarded. However, he is not persuaded that compounding should be quarterly.
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Footnotes:

1. Wena Hotels Limited is a British company incorporated in 1982 under the laws of England and
Wales. See Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name of Wena Hotels Limited (April 22, 1982)
[Annexes W1 & E-J2]. Note, in referencing the documentary annexes submitted by the parties, the
notation “W” indicates a document submitted by Claimant, Wena Hotels Limited. The notation “E-}”
indicates a document submitted by Respondent, the Arab Republic of Egypt as part of its briefing
on jurisdiction; a notation of “E-M” indicates a document submitted by Egypt as part of its briefing
on the merits.

2. Claimant“s Request for Arbitration, at 1 (submitted on July 10, 1998).
3. /d., at18.

4. Respondent's Memorial on its Objections to Jurisdiction, at 1 (submitted on March 4, 1999)
(“Respondent's Memorial on Jurisdiction”).

5. /d.
6. /d., at 2.
7. /d.

8. Tribunal's Decision on Jurisdiction, at 8-9 (released on June 29, 1999) (quoting Recordings from
Tribunal's Session on Jurisdiction, Offices of the World Bank, Paris (on May 25, 1999)).

9. /d., at9.

10. /d.

11. /d., at10-19.
12. /d., at 21-23.

13. Full, verbatim transcripts were made of the session and distributed to the parties and the
Tribunal following each day of the hearing.

14. Annexes W179 & 187-194.

15. Annex W183. Wena had sought the Arthur Anderson report (which was prepared for the
benefit of Egypt under a Contract with the U.S. Agency for International Development) from Egypt
as early as August 30, 1999. Notwithstanding this request and the Tribunal's subsequent directions
to search for this document, Egypt never produced a copy of the report. At the Tribunal's April 25,
2000 session on the merits (and, again, in the Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial), Egypt's
counsel explained what efforts the Egyptian State Lawsuit Authority had taken to obtain a copy of
the report, without success. See Transcript of Tribunal's Session on the Merits (“TR”) Day 1, at
80:27-81:21; Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, Appendix E (submitted on May 30, 2000).
Shortly after the session, however, the ICSID Secretariat obtained a copy of the report form the U.S.
Agency for International Development.

16. Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investments, June 11, 1975, U.K.-Egypt (“IPPA")
[Annexes W2 & E-J22].

17. Id., art 2(2).

18. /d., art. 5(1).
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19. See Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name of Wena Hotels Limited (April 22, 1982)
[Annexes W1 & E-J2]. As discussed above, although Egypt never challenged the fact that Wena
Hotels Limited was incorporated as a British company, it asserted as part of its objections to
jurisdiction that Wena “by virtue of Mr. El-Farargy's ownership and his Egyptian nationality, [should]
be treated as an Egyptian company pursuant to Article 8(1)” of the IPPA. Respondent's Reply on
Jurisdiction, at 2 (submitted on April 8, 1999). The Tribunal, however, rejected Egypt's proposed
construction of Article 8(1) of the IPPA and, thus, determined that Wena was an English company
for purposes of the IPPA. See Decision on Jurisdiction, at 10-19.

20. See section II.G, infra, concerning the relationship between EHC and Egypt.
21. Luxor Hotel Lease and Development Agreement (August 8, 1989) [Annex W5]
22. /d., art. Il

23. /d., arts. |, XIll & XV(3).

24. Direct Examination of Mr. Yusseri Mahmud Hamid Hajjaj, TR Day 5, at 4:3-11 (“Yusseri Direct
Ex.”).

25. El Nile Hotel Lease and Development Agreement (January 28, 1990) [Annex W4].

26. An Agreement between His Excellency Fouad Sultan, Minster of Tourism for the Egyptian
Government, jointly with Mr. Kamal Kandil of the Egyptian Hotels Company and Wena Hotels Limited
(October 1, 1989) [Annex W6].

27. Claimant's Request for Arbitration, at 8.
28. Respondent's Memorial on Jurisdiction, at 4.

29. Final Award in Wena Hotels Ltd. v. Egyptian Hotel Company (November 14, 1990) [Annex E-
M17].

30. Declaration of Mr. Nael El-Farargy, 9 14, attached to Claimant's Memorial on the Merits
(submitted on July 26, 1999) (“Farargy Declaration”). The Respondent's Memorial on Jurisdiction
also reports that Wena brought “a nullity action (No. 18644 of 1990), which was refused by South
Cairo Court on February 27, 1994.” Respondent's Memorial on Jurisdiction, at 4. However, a copy of
the South Cairo Court's decision was not provided to the Tribunal.

31. Direct Examination of Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P., TR Day 4, at 174:26-29 (“Malins Direct Ex."”).
The Tribunal generally found Mr. Malins to be a reliable and convincing witness, with no apparent
financial or personal stake in the outcome of the arbitration. See also Farargy Declaration, 19 17-
19.

32. Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 175:1-4.

33. /d., at 175:25-29. See also Declaration of Mr. Humfrey Malins, MP., 1 4, attached to Claimant's
Memorial on the Merits (“Malins Declaration”).

34. Letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to Minister Fouad Sultan (Minister of Tourism)
(February 11, 1991) [Witness Statement of Minister Fouad Sultan, Attachment A, attached to
Respondent's Memorial on the Merits (submitted on September 6, 1999) (“Sultan Statement”); also
Annexes E-M21 & W127]. At the time of the events that are the subject of this dispute, Minister
Sultan was the Minister for Tourism and Civil Aviation of Egypt. Minister Sultan held this position from
1985 to 1993. Sultan Statement, 1 3. Although Minister Sultan has now returned to the private
sector (serving as Chairman and Managing Direct of Alahly for Development and Investment
S.A.E.), the Tribunal shall for convenience refer to the withess as Minister Sultan.
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35. /d. (emphasis added; brackets in original English translation) [Sultan Statement, Attachment A;
also Annexes E-M21 & W127].

36. Minutes of Meeting between Representatives of the Ministry of Tourism, EHC and Wena
(February 26,1991) [Sultan Statement, Attachment B; also Annexes E-M22 & W124].

37. Id.

38. Direct Examination of Mr. Nael El-Farargy, TR Day 1, at 147:17-25 (“Farargy Direct Ex.”). See
also Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Ahmad Al-Khawaga (Attorney for Wena)
(March 3, 1991) [Annexes W125 & E-M23]; Witness Statement of Mr. Munir Abdul Al-Aziz Gaballah
Shalabi, 9 13, attached to Respondent's Rejoinder on the Merits (submitted on October 18, 1999)
(“Munir Statement”). The Witness Statement of Mr. Munir should not be confused with the Summary
of Evidence to be given by Mr. Munir Abdul Al-Aziz Gaballah Shalabi, attached to Respondent's
Memorial on the Merits, because counsel for Egypt were unable to obtain a signed witness
statement from Mr. Munir before submitting their Memorial on the Merits, counsel submitted a short
Summary of Evidence instead — providing the witness statement when it subsequently became
available.

39. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Minister Fouad Sultan (Minister of Tourism)
(March 21, 1991) [Sultan Statement, Attachment D; also Annex W126].

40. /d. (emphasis added; brackets in original English translation).
41. Id.
42, |/d. (emphasis added).

43. /d. (Arabic original). See also Cross examination of Minister Fouad Sultan, TR Day 3, at
235:23-237:27 (“Sultan Cross-Ex.”); Sultan Statement, 9 17.

44, Letter from Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary Consultant, Wena) to Minister Fouad Sultan
(Minister of Tourism) (March 25, 1991) [Annex W 128].

45, [d.

46. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary
Consultant, Wena) (March 31, 1991) [Annexes W81 & W129]. During the session on the merits,
Minister Sultan suggested that perhaps Mr. Malins' March 25, 1991 letter had been faxed to EHC, not
the Minister of Tourism (thus, potentially explaining why Mr. Kandil, and not Minister Sultan,
responded to the letter). See Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 47:9-10 & 48:29-49:1. However, both
the attached fax cover sheet and confirmation sheet for Mr. Malins' letter show that the letter was
faxed to number 2829771 in Egypt. See Annex W128. Subsequent inquiry by counsel for Wena “on
May 29, 2000 to France Telecom's International Yellow Pages service” determined that the “same
number (2829771) was given as the fax number listed for the Egyptian Ministry of Tourism.”
Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief, at 16 & n. 5 (submitted on May 30, 2000). In contrast, as reflected in
EHC's contemporaneous letterhead, the fax number for EHC at that time was 3911322. See Annex
W129.

47. Id.
48. Munir Statement, 4 14.
49. /d.

50. /d.
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51. Witness Statement of Mr. Yusseri Mahmud Hamid Hajjaj, 1 8, attached to Respondent's
Memorial on the Merits (“Yusseri Statement”).

52. Munir Statement, 1 14.

53. See, e.g., Kasr El-Nile Police Report, at4 (April 1 & 2, 1991) [Annex E-M25]; Resolution Number
[blank] for the Year 1991) [Annex E-M26].

54. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) (March
30, 1991) [Annexes W80 & W186].

55. Id. (Brackets in original English translation); emphasis added by the Tribunal.

56. Mr. Munir also asserted that a copy of Resolution Number 215 concerning the seizures was
“sentto Wena in EHC's letter dated 30 March 1991 addressed to its head office in England.” Munir
Statement, 9 14. However, there is no evidence to confirm that a copy of this resolution was
attached to the letter. See Annex W 80.

57. See registered mail receiptin Annex W80.
58. See fax legend in Annex W186.

59. Cross-examination of Mr. Munir Abdul Al-Aziz Gaballah Shalabi, TR Day 5, at 76:22-78:3
(“Munir Cross-Ex.”). During the fifth day of the Tribunal's session on the merits, the absence of a
confirmatory fax cover sheet (or a fax number of the letter) was noted. Both parties agreed that
EHC should be asked to search its files for any record that could confirm that the document was
faxed on March 30, 1991. TR Day 5, at 77:12-78:15.

60. Administrative Decision Number 216 (March 31, 1991) [Annex E-M28].
61. /d. See also Yusseri Statement, 9 9.

62. Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 55:26-56:1. See also Munir Statement, 9 18. The Tribunal notes
that this plan to seize the hotels surreptitiously, while Wena management were away from the
hotels, contradicts Mr. Munir's claim that EHC had previously notified Wena of its intentions to
repossess the hotels.

63. Respondent's Memorial on Jurisdiction, at 4.

64. Direct Examination of Mr. Simon Webster, TR Day 3, at 12:8-9 (“Webster Direct Ex.”); Direct
Examination of Ms. Angela Jelcic, TR Day 3, at 91:26-92:5 (“Jelcic Direct Ex.").

65. See, e.g., Police Statements, at6, 9, 10 & 12(July 6, 1991) [Annex W134]; Webster Direct
Ex., TR Day 3, at 12:15-21; Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 95:13-19. Mr. Munir, however, testified
that he arrived at the hotel in a single bus, with “approximately 35 accountants, receptions and
other management staff required to run the hotel.” Munir Statement, 1 17.

66. Kasr El-Nile Police Reports, at 3 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-M25]. See also id., at 2.
67. Id., at 3.

68. /d.

69. Police Statement of Mr. Tamim Foda, at 5-6 (July 5, 1991) [Annex W134].

70. Police Statement of Mr. Mostafa Ahmed Osman, at 3 (July 6, 1991) [Annex W134].

71. Id., at 3-4.
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72. Police Statement of Mr. Sherif Iorahim Mohamed Khalifa, at 8 (July 6, 1991) [Annex W134].
73. Id.

74. Id., at9.

75. Id.

76. Police Statement of Mr. Mohamed Sabry Ismail Emam, at 10 (July 6, 1991) [Annex W134]
(capital letters in original).

77. Id.

78. “British Tourists are Beaten and Thrown Out of Egypt Hotels,” Daily Telegraph (April 4, 1991)
[Annex W7].

79. Id.

80. Police Statement of Mr. Hany Mohamed Hassan Mohamed Wahba, at 11-12 (July 6, 1991).
81. /d., at12.

82. /d.

83. /d.

84. |d. (capital letters in original).

85. Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 92:17-93:24. See also Declaration of Ms. Angela Jelcic, 1 13,
attached to Claimant's Memorial on the Merits (“Jelcic Declaration”).

86. Jelcic DirectEx., TR Day 3, at94:11-16.
87. Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 97:1-5.

88. Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 97:7-8. See also Jelcic Declaration, 1 13 (“l recognized certain
EHC executives and personnel, some of whom were standing with some other well-groomed men in
suits. These men were identified as Ministry of Tourism officials by our staff who recognized
them.”).

89. Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 97:10-13.

90. Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 14:6-12. See also Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 14:25-
15:6 & 16:9-12.

91. Statement of Ms. Angela Jelcic to Kasr El-Nile Police (April 2, 1991) [Annex W82]

92. Statement of Mr. Simon Webster to Kasr El-Nile Police (April 2, 1991) [Annex W83]. Similar
contemporaneous evidence of Wena's impression that the Egyptian government was involved in
the seizures is reflected in several of the newspaper articles describing the events. For example,
an article in the Caterer and Hotelkeeper reported that “Mr. Farargy believed the attack ... was
organised either by government elements or people who are fiercely opposed to foreign ownership
in Egypt.” “Wena Hotels Attacked by Crowds,” Caterer & Hotelkeeper (April 18, 1991) [Annex
W85]. Similarly, an article in the Crawley Observer quoted “Wena Managing Director Bernard
Dihrberg” as saying “[t]his is a legal dispute with the Egyptian government. We owe money to them
and they owe money to us.” “Mob Turn on Hotel Workers,” The Crawley Observer (April 24, 1991)
[Annex W86].

93. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 52:19-22.
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94. Direct Examination of Mr. Munir Abdul Al-Aziz Gaballah Shalabi, TR Day 5, at 12:29 (“Munir
Direct Ex.”).

95, Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 97:23-98:13; Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at16:17-17:12 &
19:8-15; Jelcic Declaration, 9 14; Declaration of Mr. Simon Webster, 99 30-31, attached to
Claimant's Memorial on the Merits (“Webster Declaration”).

96. /d.

97. See Kasr El-Nile Police Report (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-M25]; Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at
101:11-12.

98. Kasr El-Nile Police Report, at 1 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-M25].
99. /d.

100. Kasr El-Nile Police Reports, at9 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-M25] (brackets in original English
translation).

101. See Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 100:22-101:4; Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 20:2-8.

102. See Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 100:26-101:15; Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 21:20-
22:1; Statement of Ms. Angela Jelcic to Kasr El-Nile Police (April 2, 1991) [Annex W82]; Statement of
Mr. Simon Webster to Kasr El-Nile Police (April 2, 1991) [Annex W83].

103. See Kasr El-Nile Police Reports (April 2,1991) [Annex E-M25]. The Tribunal also heard
testimony from Mr. Tahir Al-Misiri Qasim (TR Day 4 at 223:8 et seq.) and Mr. Sameer Muhammad
Khatir (TR Day 4 at 231:23 et seq.) to the effect that there was no violence at the time of the
takeover. This testimony is inconsistent with the testimony of Webster and Jelcic and the other
witnesses who testified consistently with Webster and Jelcic. Since the testimony of Mr. Qasim and
Mr. Khatir has also been found inconsistent with the decision of the Southern Cairo Court of Appeal,
which characterized the situation at the Nile Hotel on April 1, 1991 as including many acts of
violence, the Tribunal has chosen not to rely on the testimony of these two witnesses.

104. Yusseri Statement, 19 9-11.

105. Police Statement Number 984, at 1 (April 2, 1991) [Annex W132].

106. /d.

107. /d., at 3.

108. Police Statement Number 959, at | (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-J18].

109. /d.

110. Memorandum from the Public Prosecutor's Office, at 3 (April 13, 1992) [Annex W133].
111. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 55:14-18. See also Sultan Statement, 1 20.

112. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 55:21-23.

113. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 56:2.

114. See, e.g., Direct Examination of Minister Fouad Sultan, TR Day 3, at 180:19-21 (“Sultan
Direct Ex.”); Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 58:12-13.

115. See, e.g., Sultan Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 176:11-14 (“l fully agree thatitis a wrong action
taken by the EHC, notwithstanding their rights, but they should not have taken that action. They
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should have gone to arbitration or to the court.-).

116. Sultan DirectEx., TR Day 3, at 175:9-11. Minister Sultan apparently was referring to the
dispute between Southern Pacific Properties (Middle East) Limited (“SPP”) and the Arab Republic of
Egypt regarding the development of tourist complex in Egypt, which eventually resulted in a
decision that Egypt had expropriated SPP's investment and an award in favor of SPP. See Southern
Pacific Properties (Middle East) Limited v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/84/3, 8
ICSID Review 328 (1993) [Annex W61].

117. See. e.g., Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4 at57:10-28 & 59:9-61:1.

118. Sultan DirectEx., TR Day 4, at 176:25-28. See also Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at57:17-21
(“As I said, | will not take back again the law in my hand and take action with the police to evict him
[Mr. Kandil] from the hotel. This is something which has to be settled according to our description
[sic] laws by a court and not by an administrative decision.”).

119. See, e.g., Malins Declarations, 9 6.

120. See Letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to His Excellency, Ambassador Shaker
(Egyptian Ambassador to the United Kingdom) (July 9, 1991) [Annex W50].

121. See Letter from the Director General of the Civil Defense Authority (January 4, 1992) [Annex
E-M43].

122. See Munir Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 31:6-7; Munir Statement, 1 22.

123. Letter from Mr. Webster (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to Mr. Ceurvost (British Embassy, Egypt)
(February 21, 1991) [Annex W130].

124. Id. See also Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 26:6-16.

125. Munir Statement, 1 22.

126. Munir Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 30:10-28. See also Munir Statement, 9§ 22-23.
127. Id.

128. Police Report on Hand-over of the Nile Hotel (February 25, 1992) [Annex W137].

129. See, e.g., Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 179:1-20; Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 26:20-
24; Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 109:3-8.

130. See Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 89:3-11; Munir Statement, 1 24.

131. Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 110:23-25; Farargy Declaration, 1 27.

132. Yusseri Statement, 1 13.

133. Report on Hand-over of the Luxor Hotel (April 28, 1992) [Annex E-M30].

134. See, e.g., Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 179:1-20; Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3 at 110:13-22.

135. See, e.g., Yusseri Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 113:7-11; Jelcic DirectEx., TR Day 3, at113:15-
20; Letter from Classic Edition Travel to Wena (March 16, 1995); Letter from Inter Air Travel Limited
to Wena (April 11, 1995).

136. See, e.g., Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 180:23-181:23.
137. Letter from Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary Consultant, Wena) to the Honorable Lee

From: Oxford Public International Law (htip://opil.ouplaw.com). (c) Oxford University Press, 2015. All Rights Reserved. Subscriber:
Dechert LLP Paris; date: 27 September 2015



H. Hamilton (Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe & the Middle Easy, U.S. House of Representatives)
(November 11, 1992) [Annex W131].

138. See decision of the Southern Cairo Court of Appeal (January 16, 1994) [Annex W135].
139. /d.
140. See Munir Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 32:11-17; Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 91:11-92:12.

141. Decision of the Southern Cairo Court of Appeal (January 16, 1994) [Annex W135]; Munir
Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 94:23.

142. Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 93:20-94:26.

143. Redirect Examination of Ms. Angela Jelcic, TR Day 3, at 155:22-156:22 (“]Jelcic Redirect
Ex.").

144. Nile Hotel Arbitration Award, at 1 (April 10, 1994) [Annex E-M19].
145. Luxor Hotel Arbitration Award, at 1 (September 29, 1994) [Annex E-J31].
146. Nile Hotel Arbitration Award (April 10, 1994) [Annex E-M19].

147. Annual Return and Financial Statements for Wena Hotels Limited (period ended December
31, 1995) [Annex E-J14]; Letter from Kevin Heath, Esq. (Lester Aldridge, Solicitors for Wena) to Mr.
Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) (March 20, 1999) [Annex W16].

148. Check drawn in Wena's favor by the Egyptian Ministry of Justice [Annex W93].
149. Luxor Hotel Arbitration Award, at 1 (September 29, 1994) [Annex E-J31].
150. Cairo Court of Appeal's Judgement (December 20, 1995) [Annex E-J32].

151. Yusseri Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 112:9-29; Annual Return and Financial Statements for Wena
Hotels Limited (period ending December 31, 1996) [Annex E-J15].

152. Claimant's Request for Arbitration, at 16.

153. See Munir Statement, 1 3; Egyptian Law Number 97 of 1983 governing Public Sector
Authorities and Affiliated Companies (“Law Number 97 of 1983”) [Annex W65].

154. Sultan Statement, 1 4.
155. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 227:26-28.
156. /d., at 228:2-8

157. See Sultan Statement., 98; Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 211:26-212:2; Law Number 97 of
1983, art. 30 [Annex W65].

158. See Prime Minister's Decree No. 539 of 1989 [Annex E-M27]; Sultan Statement, 18; Sultan
Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at211:17-23. Mr Kandil's appointment “by virtue of the Decree of the Prime
Minister No. 539/1989"” was noted in both the Nile and Luxor agreements. See Luxor Hotel Lease
and Development Agreement, at 1 [Annex W4]; El Nile Hotel Lease and Development Agreement,
at 1 [Annex 5].

159. See Munir Statement, 1 4.

160. Law Number 97 of 1983, art. 37 [Annex W65]. See also Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at
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214:18-215:11; Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 44:4-17.
161. Munir Statement, 4.

162. Record of the Lower House Session No. 99, at 36 (July 14, 1992) [Annex W67] (Arabic
original). See also Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 209:12-26.

163. Letter form Mr. Abdel-Moneim Rashad (Director General, Minister's Office — Ministry of
Tourism) to Ms. Angela Jelcic (Wena Hotels Ltd.) (February 20, 1992) [Annex W66].

164. See, e.g., Luxor Police State Report No. 959 of 1991, at 12 & 26 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-
M18]; Kasr El-Nile Police Report, at 6 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-M25] (“The Egyptian Hotels
Corporation is a public sector company and its funds are property of the state.”); Letter from Mr.
Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) (March 30, 1991) [Annex
W80]. See also Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at47:10-11.

165. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary
Consultant, Wena) (March 31, 1991) [Annex W129].

166. Minutes of Meeting between Representatives of the Ministry of Tourism, EHC and Wena
(February 26, 1991) (emphasis added) [Sultan Statement, Attachment B; also Annexes E-M22 &
W124]. During testimony regarding the meaning of this statement, Minister Sultan explained that “I
cannot give up entitlements or the rights of the State. If the right of the State is to collect rent |
cannot give that right up.” Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 230:2-4.

167. Luxor Police State Report No. 959 of 1991, at 8 (emphasis added) [Annex E-M18].
168. Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial at 15.

169. See Consultancy Agreement between Mr. Kamal Kandil and Wena Hotels Limited [Annex
WI49].

170. /d.

171. Writ of Summons issued by Wena Hotels Limited against Mr. Mohamed Kamal Ali Mohamed
Kandil (March 26, 1991) [Annex E-M7].

172. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil to the Senior Master of the Royal Court of Justice (August 19,
1991) [Annex W150].

173. /d. at1l.
174. Id.
175. Id.

176. See Facsimile from Mr. Dimopolous (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC)
(December 13, 1989), enclosing letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to His
Excellency, the Governor of Aswan (December 11,1989) [Annex W188]; letter from Mr. Nael El-
Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to His Excellency, the Governor of Aswan (January 15, 1990) [Annex
WI89).

177. Farargy DirectEx., TR Day 1, at 142:27-28. See also Farargy Direct Ex., TR Day 1, at
142:26-143:6.

178. Sultan Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 188:11-14.
179. Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, at 14.
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180. Claimant's Post-Hearing Reply, at 16 (submitted on June 15, 2000).
181. Claimant's Memorial on the Merits, at 43-51.

182. /d., at 51-54.

183. Respondent's Memorial on the Merits, at 8-40.

184. /d., at 40-42.

185. /d., at42-44.

186. Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, at 15.

187. IPPA, art. 2(2) [Annexes W2 & E-J22].

188. IPPA, art 5(1) [Annexes W2 & E-J22].

189. Respondent's Opening Statement, TR Day 1, at 29:24-28. See also Claimant's Opening
Statement, TR Day 1, at 15:24-25 (“the basis of this action is the breach of [the] Bilateral Treaty by

Egypt”).

190. See, e.g., Claimant's Reply on the Merits, at 48-50. See also Claimant's Memorial on the
Merits, at 42; Respondent's Memorial on the Merits, at 7-8 (referring, in regard to Respondent's
second defense, to “practices condemned by both Egyptian and international law.”).

191. See, e.g., Claimant's Memorial on the Merits, at 43-51; Claimant's Reply on the Merits, at 29-
38 (submitted on September 27, 1999); Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief, at 41-44.

192. Claimant's Memorial on the Merits, at 51-54; Claimant's Reply on the Merits, at 39-44;
Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief, at 44-46.

193. Respondent's Post-Hearing Rebuttal Memorial, at 8 (submitted on June 15, 2000).
194. IPPA, art. 2(2) [Annex W2 & E-J22].

195. American Manufacturing and Trading, Inc. v. Republic of Zaire, ICSID Case No. ARB/93/1, at
28 (1997) [Annex W115]. Article 11(4) of the Zaire-United States bilateral investment treaty, much
like Article 2(2) of the IPPA, provides that “[ilnvestment of nationals and companies of either Party
shall at all times be accorded fair and equitable treatment and shall enjoy protection and security in
the territory of the other party.” Id., at 28 [Annex WI15].

196. AAPL v. Sri Lanka, ICSID Case No. ARB/87/3, at 545 (1990) [Annex WI 17; a digested version
of the decision has also been provided at Annex E-M35] The wording of Article 2(2) of the bilateral
investment treaty in that case (between Sri Lanka and the United Kingdom) is almost identical to
that in the same article in the IPPA: “Investment of nationals and companies of either Party shall at
all times be accorded fair and equitable treatment and shall enjoy protection and security in the
territory of the other Party.” Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investments, February
13, 1980, U.K.-Sri Lanka [Annex W41].

197. AAPL v. Sri Lanka, at 546 (quoting Alwyn V. Freeman, Responsibility of States for Unlawful
Acts of Their Armed Forces, 14 (1957)) [Annex WI 17; also Annex E-M35].

198. The evidence submitted by the parties does suggest a unity of interest between EHC and
Egypt such that it is possible that Egypt might have authorized and participated in the seizures of
the hotels. The repeated reference in contemporaneous documents to EHC as a “government
company,” to its money as “public money” and to its rights as “the Government's rights” or “state
ownership” is particularly compelling in this regard. See, e.g., Luxor Police State Report No. 959 of
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1991, at 8, 12 & 26 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-MI8]; Kasr El-Nile Police Report, at 6 (April 1, 1991)
[Annex E-M25]; Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels
Ltd.) (March 30, 1991) [Annex W80]; Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Humfrey
Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary Consultant, Wena) (March 31, 1991) [Annex W129]; Minutes of Meeting
between Representatives of the Ministry of Tourism, EHC, and Wena (February 26, 1991) [Sultan
Statement, Attachment B; also Annexes E-M22 & W124]. Nevertheless, the Tribunal concludes that
Wena has failed to satisfy its burden of proving that Egypt actually participated in the seizures of
the two hotels. For example, although both Ms. Jelcic and Mr. Webster believe that Ministry of
Tourism officials were present at the Nile Hotel, they both admit that they were, personally, unable
to identify any such officials. See, e.g., Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 97:10-13; Webster Direct
Ex., TR Day 3, at 14:6-12.

199. Malins Direct Ex.. TR Day 4, at 175:1-4.
200. /d., at 175:26-29. See also Malins Declaration, 1 4.

201. Letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to Minister Fouad Sultan (Minister of
Tourism) (February 11, 1991) (emphasis added; brackets in original English translation) [Sultan
Statement, Attachment A; also Annexes E-M21 & W127].

202. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Minister Fouad Sultan (Minister of Tourism)
(March 21, 1991) [Sultan Statement, Attachment D; also Annex W126].

203. /d.

204. /d. (Arabic original). See also Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 235:23-237:27; Sultan
Statement, 9 17.

205. Letter from Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary Consultant, Wena) to Minister Fouad
Sultan (Minister of Tourism) (March 25, 1991) [Annex W128].

206. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC) to Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary
Consultant, Wena) (March 31, 1991) [Annex W128].

207. /d.
208. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 233:2-5.
209. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 175:9-10.

210. See, e.g., Kasr El-Nile Police Reports (April 1-2, 1991) [Annex E-M25]; Police Statement of Mr.
Tamim Foda (July 6, 1991)[Annex W134]; Police Statement of Mr. Mostafa Ahmed Osman (July 6,
1991) [Annex W134]; Police Statement of Mr. Sherif Ibrahim Mohamed Khalifa (July 6, 1991) [Annex
W134]; Police Statement of Mr. Mohamed Sabry Ismail Emam (July 6, 1991) [Annex W134]; “British
Tourists are Beaten and Thrown Out of Egypt Hotels,” Daily Telegraph (April 4, 1991) [Annex W7].

211. See Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 97:23-98:13; Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 16:17-
17:12 & 19:8-15; Jelcic Declaration, 1 14; Webster Declaration, 9 30-31; Kasr El-Nile Police Report
(April 1, 1991) [Annex E-M25]; Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 101:11-12.

212. See Police Statement Number 984 (April 2, 1991) [Annex W132]; Police Statement Number
959 (April 1, 1991) [Annex E-JI8].

213. See, e.g., Sultan Direct Ex. TR Day 3, at 180:19-21 Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4, at 58:12-13.

214. See, e.g., Sultan Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 176:11-14 (“I fully agree thatitis a wrong action
taken by the EHC, notwithstanding their rights, but they should not have taken that action. They
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should have gone to arbitration or to the court.”).
215. See, e.g., Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 4 at 57:10-28 & 59:9-61:1.

216. Law Number 97 of 1983, art. 37 [Annex W65]. See also Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at
214:18-215:11; Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 44:4-17.

217. Sultan Cross-Ex., TR Day 3, at 227:26-28.
218. /d., at 228:2-8.

219. Munir Statement, 1 4. See also Record of the Lower House Session No. 99, at 36 (July 14,
1992) [Annex W67]; Letter from Mr. Abdel-Moneim Rashad (Director General, Minister's Office —
Ministry of Tourism) to Ms. Angela Jelcic (Wena Hotels Ltd.)(February 20, 1992) [Annex W66].

220. See Munir Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 31:6-7; Munir Statement,  22; Yusseri Statement, 9 13.
221. See, e.g., Farargy Declaration, 1 26.

222, Letter from Mr. Webster (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to Mr. Ceurvost (British Embassy, Egypt)
(February 21, 1991) [Annex W130].

223. Id. See also Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 26:6-16.

224. See, e.g., Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 179:1-20; Webster Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 26:20-
24; Jelcic Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 109:3-8 & 110:13-22.

225. See Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 89:3-11; Munir Statement, 1 24.

226. See Munir Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 30:10-28; Munir Statement, § 22-23; Police Report on
Hand-over of the Nile Hotel (February 25, 1992) [Annex W137].

227. Munir Direct Ex., TR Day 5, at 30:10-28.
228. See, e.g., Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 180:23-181:23.

229. Letter from Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary Consultant, Wena) to the Honorable Lee
H. Hamilton (Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe & the Middle East, U.S. House of Representatives)
(November 11, 1992) [Annex WI 311].

230. See Decision of the Southern Cairo Court of Appeal (January 16, 1994) [Annex W134]; Munir
Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 94:23.

231. Jelcic Redirect Ex., TR Day 3, at 155:22-156:22.
232. Munir Cross-Ex., TR Day 5, at 93:20-94:26.
233. IPPA, art 5(1) [Annex W2&E-)22].

234. lan Brownlie, Principles of International Law, 537 (4% Ed. 1990) [Annex W104]. Professor
Brownlie also accurately observes that “in any case form should not take precedence over
substance.” Id.

235. Amco Asia Corporation, et al. v. Republic of Indonesia, Award on the Merits, ICSID Case No.
ARB/81/1, at 62 (1984) [Annex W94].

236. /d.

237. Southern Pacific Properties (Middle East) Limited v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No.
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ARB/84/3, 8 ICSID Review 328, 375 (1993) [Annex W61]. See also G.C. Christie “What Constitutes a
Taking of Property Under International Law,” 38 Brit. Y.B. Int'l L. 308, 310-311 (1962) (citing German
Interests in Polish Upper Silesia, Judgement No. 7, PCI), Series A (1926)) [Annex E-MIl].

238. Tippets, Abbett, McCarthy, Stratton v. TAMS-AFFA Consenting Engineers of Iran et al., Iran-
U.S. Claims Tribunal, Award No. 141-7-2, at 225 (June 22, 1984) [Annex E-M12]. In some legal
systems, a lease of land or a building is deemed real property.

239. /d.
240. See generally discussion in section Ill.B.1, supra.

241. See, e.g. Respondent's Memorial on the Merits, at 10-11; Respondent's Rejoinder on the
Merits, at 6-8.

242, Tippets, at 225 [Annex E-M12]. Such a deprivation easily qualifies as an expropriation within
the meaning of Article 3(a) of the Harvard Draft Convention on the International Responsibility of
States for Injuries to Aliens, 55 Amer. J. Int'l L. 545 (1961) (“A ‘taking of property’ includes not only
an outright taking of property but also any such unreasonable interference with the use,
enjoyment, or disposal of property as to justify an inference that the owner will not be able to use,
enjoy or dispose of the property within a reasonable period of time after the inception of such
interference.” (“as quoted in G.C. Christie “What Constitutes a Taking of Property Under
International Law,” 38 Brit. Y.B. Int'l L. 308, 330 (1962) [Annex E-MIl]).

243. IPPA, art 5(1) [Annex W2 & E-J22]. See also lan Brownlie, Principles of International Law, 537
(4™ ed. 1990) (“Expropriation of particular items of property is unlawful unless there is provision for
payment of effective compensation.” [Annex WI04].

244. lLetter from Mr. Humfrey Malins, M.P. (Parliamentary Consultant, Wena) to the Honorable Lee
H. Hamilton (Chairman, Subcommittee on Europe & the Middle East, U.S. House of Representatives)
(November 11, 1992) [Annex W131 ]. See also Malins Direct Ex., TR Day 4, at 180:23-181:23;
Letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to His Excellency, Ambassador Shaker (Egyptian
Ambassador to the United Kingdom) (July 9, 1991) (complaining about the apparent breakdown in
negotiations between Egypt and Wena) [Annex W50].

245. Respondent's Memorial on the Merits, at 42-44.

246. Translation of Article 172(l) of the Egyptian Civil Code (Annex E-M36].
247. Respondent's Memorial on the Merits, at 43.

248. /d., at 44.

249. Claimant's Reply on the Merits, at 49.

250. See, e.g., Respondent's Memorial on Jurisdiction, at 2.

251. Respondent's Post'Hearing Memorial, at 25.

252. See, e.g., Gentini Case, ltaly-Venezuela Mixed Claims Commission, X R.S.A. 551, 560-561,
(1903) [Annex W147].

253. See, e.g., Letter from Mr. Nael Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to His Excellency Dr. Kamal El
Ganzouri (Prime Minister of Eqgypt) (February 23, 1998) (complaining of Wena's “long and bitter
disputes with the Egyptian State over direct foreign investmentin Egypt.”) [Annex W15].

254. Alan Craig v. Ministry of Energy of Iran, 3 Iran-U.S. Claims Tribunal 280 (1984) [Annex WI55].
See also George Aldrich, The Jurisprudence of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal 480-482
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(1996) [Annex E-M47].
255. /d., at 287.
256. Gentini Case, ltaly-Venezuela Claims Commission, X R.S.A. 551 (1903) [Annex W147]

257. Amco Asia Corporation, et al. v. Republic of Indonesia, ICSID Case No. ARB/81/1,
International Arbitration Report 649,654 (1986) [Annex W102].

258. IPPA, art 8(1) [Annexes W2 & E-J22].

259. Legal opinion of Dr. Hossam Al' din Kamil Elehwany, at 23 (September 1999) [Annex E-M8].
260. /d.

261. /d., at 25 (emphasis added).

262. Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, at 15.

263. See, e.g., Professor Ibrahim Fadlallah, L'ordre public dans les sentences arbitrates,
AcadéWe de Droit International, Recueil des Cours, 377 (1994-V); Professor Pierre Lalive,
“Transnational (or Truly International) Public Policy and International Arbitration,” ICCA Congress
Series, No. 3, 276-277 (1987) [Annex E-MIO].

264. Lalive, at 277 [Annex E-M10].
265. Consultancy Agreement between Mr. Kamal Kandil and Wena Hotels Limited [Annex W149].

266. Writ of Summons issued by Wena Hotels Limited against Mr. Mohamed Kamal AH Mohamed
Kandil (March 26, 1991) [Annex E-M7].

267. Letter from Mr. Kamal Kandil to the Senior Master of the Royal Court of Justice (August 19,
1991) [Annex W150] (the “subject of the above-mentioned Draft Contract was to develop new
hotels in Egypt, these hotels being the Ramses Village project in Abou Simbal and a Conference
Center in Aswan city. ... I did not actin my quality of Chairman of the Egyptian Hotels Company nor
did the Draft Contract concern either the Nile Hotel or the Luxor Hotel, instead | acted as Tourist
Consultant for the Aswan Government and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Misr Aswan Tourist
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268. Facsimile from Mr. Dimopolous (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to Mr. Kamal Kandil (Chairman, EHC)
(December 13,1989), enclosing letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena Hotels Ltd.) to his Excellency,
the Govemon of Aswan (December 11,1989) [Annex W188]; letter from Mr. Nael El-Farargy (Wena
Hotels Ltd.) to his Excellency, the Governor of Aswan (January 15, 1990) [Annex W189].

269. Yusseri DirectEx., at4:3-11.

270. Farargy DirectEx., TR Day 1, at 142:27-28. See also Farargy Direct Ex., TR Day |, at
142:26-143:6.

271. Sultan Direct Ex., TR Day 3, at 188:11-14.

272. See, e.g., Claimant's Post-Hearing Reply, at 16; Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, at 14.
273. IPPA, art. 5[Annexes W2 & E-J22].

274. Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief, at 67.

275. Id., at 68; Claimant's Statement of Fees and Expenses [Annex W194].
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276. Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief, at 67 & n. 64; Claimant's Post-Hearing Reply, at 36.

277. Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, at 25-42; Respondent's Post-Hearing Rebuttal
Memorial, at 22-34.

278. Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial, at 43; Respondent's Post-Hearing Rebuttal Memorial, at
34; Provisional Evaluation of Lost Investment and Review of Financial Information prepared by
Pannell Kerr Forster, attached to Respondent's Rejoinder on the Merits; Direct Examination of Mr.
Hugh Matthew Jones, TR Day 4, at 135:12-15.

279. See Expert Report prepared by BDO Hospitality Consulting, attached to Claimant's Memorial
on the Merits (calculating a profit of GB£ 4 million for the Luxor Hotel and a profit of GB£ 21.3 million
for the Nile Hotel); Reports for EI-Nile and Luxor Hotels prepared by Pannell Kerr Forster, attached
to Respondent's Post-Hearing Memorial (calculating a profit of less than GB£ 10,000 for the Luxor
Hotel and an actual loss for the Nile Hotel).

280. Metalclad Corporation v. United Mexican States, 11 119-120, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/97/I
(2000) (internal citation omitted). The Metalclad award is publicly available from the U.S Securities
Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C. 20549, and electronically at http://www.edgar-
online.com, as an attachment to an 8-K filing of September 5, 2000 by Metalclad Corporation. See
also Southern Pacific Properties (Middle East) Limited v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No.
ARB/84/3, 8 ICSID Review 328, 381 (1993) [Annex W61] (“In the Tribunal's view, the DCF method is
not appropriate for determining the fair compensation in this case because the project was notin
existence for a sufficient period of time to generate the data necessary for a meaningful DCF
calculation.”).

281. SPP (Middle East) Ltd. (Hong Kong), et al. v Arab Republic of Egypt,165, Appendix IV of ICC
Arbitration (1983) [Annex E-M38].

282. American Manufacturing & Trading, Inc. v Republic of Zaire, ICSID Case No. ARB/93/1, at 28
(1997) [Annex WI 15].

283. See, e.g., Review of Financial Information prepared by Pannell Kerr Forster, attached to
Respondent's Rejoinder on the Merits.

284. Approximately GB£ 6 million at current exchange rates.
285. IPPA, art. 5[Annexes W2 & E-J22].

286. See Provisional Evaluation of Lost Investment, 19 2.2-2.3 & 2.8, attached to Respondent's
Rejoinder on the Merits.

287. Check drawn in Wena' favor by the Egyptian Ministry of Justice [Annex W93].
288. Claimant's Post-Hearing Brief, at 68.

289. Report for EI-Nile Hotel prepared by Pannell Kerr Forster, at 18, attached to Respondent's
Post-Hearing Memorial (“Long-term government bonds in Egypt are currently yielding 10%....").

290. Metalclad Corporation v. United Mexican States, 4 128, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/97/1 (2000).

291. As several authorities have noted, “virtually all monetary judgements ... contain rulings on
interest,” and yet, this decision to award interest is often made without any discussion. See, e.qg., J.
Gillis Wetter, Interest as an Element of Damages in Arbitral Process, 5 Int'l Fin. L. Rev. 20 (1986);
F.A. Mann, Compound Interest as an Item of Damage in International Law, 21 Univ. of California,
Davis L.J. 577, 578(1988).
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292. John Y. Gotanda, Awarding Interest in International Arbitration, 90 Amer. J. Int'l L. 40, 61
(1996).

293. F.A. Mann, Compound Interest as an Item of Damage in International Law, 21 Univ. of
California, Davis L. J. 577, 586 (1988). See also id., at 585 (“In this spirit it is necessary first to take
account of modern economic conditions. Itis a fact of universal experience that those who have a
surplus of funds normally invest them to earn compound interest. On the other hand, many are
compelled to borrow from banks and therefore must pay compound interest. This applies, in
particular, to business people whose own funds are frequently invested in brick and mortar,
machinery and equipment, and whose working capital is obtained by way of loans or overdrafts
from banks.”); Starrett Housing Corp. v. Iran, 16 Iran-U.S. Claims Tribunal 112,251-254(1987)
(Holzmann, concurring).

294. Tribunal's Decision on Jurisdiction, at 9 (released on June 29, 1999).

295. Claimant's Statement of Fees and Expenses as of June 13, 2000 (Annex W194); letter from
Mr. John Savage (Counsel for Wena) to Mr. Alejandro Escobar (Secretary to the Tribunal)
(November 21, 2000).
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1.01

1.02

1.03

PART ONE : INTRODUCTION

I : INSTITUTION OF ARBITRAL PROCEEDINGS

American Manufacturing & Trading Corporation (Zaire), Inc. (AMT), an
American company incorporated in the State of Delaware of which the majority
shareholders are nationals of the United States of America, addressed to the Secretary
General of the International Centre for Sertlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) a letter
of 25 January 1993, instituting arbitral proceedings against the Republic of Zaire by
virtue of Article 36 of the Washington Convention on the Settlement of Investment
Disputes between States and Nationals of other States, of 18 March 1965 (the
CONVENTION).

After acknowledging receipt of this request for arbitration on 26 January 1993,
the Secretary General transmitted on the same day a copy of said request to the Republic
of Zaire delivered by special courier to the Minister of Plan of Zaire at Kinshasa, as well
as by a registered letter addressed to the Ambassador of Zaire in Washington, D.C. The
Secretarv-General of ICSID registered the request on 2 February 1993.

The request of AMT is based on the provisions of a Bilateral Treaty concluded

between the United States of America and the Republic of Zaire concerming the -

Reciprocal Encouragement and Protection of Investment (the BIT) of which the English
and French text submitted by AMT was centified as true copy by the Secretary of State
of the United States of America on 21 February 1995. The BIT was signed on 3 August
1984, and entered into force on 28 July 1989.

By letter of 2 July 1993, received by ICSID on 7 July 1993, the Claimant party
informed ICSID of a change of name, and that it would hence forth be called “American
Manufacturing & Trading, Inc.”

1.05

1.06

2

In the Request for Arbitration (paragraphs 10, 11 and 15) as well as in the
Additional Request of 16 March 1993, AMT in its final submission requests the Tribunal

to adjudge and declare :-

(1)  That the Republic of Zaire has violated the rights of AMT recognized and
protected by the provisions of BIT of 1984;

(2)  That the Republic of Zaire is thereby responsible for failing to fulfill its
obligations of protection provided by the BIT, especially as regards the
destructions caused by the elements of the armed forces of Zaire on 23-24
September 1991 and on 28-29 January 1993, in respect of damage to the
properties and installations belonging to Société Industrielle Zairoise
(SINZA) Société privée & responsabilité limitée (SPRL) limited liability
private company. 94 per cent of whose stocks are subscribed by AMT,
including all losses sutfered by SINZA as the result of the looting; and

(3)  That the Republic of Zaire be condemned to pay to AMT, as a measure
of compensation and as damages and interests, an indemnity equivalent
to -

a) The fair market value of all the losses suffered by the
investment of AMT in Zaire;

b) The loss of profits (Lucrum Cessans) which AMT would
have acquired on its own behalf; and

c) The interests on the amount of compensation under a) and
b) at a commercial rate equal to the appropriate
international rate of interest for transactions in dollars from
23 September 1991 until the final payment.

Furthermore, AMT requests the Tribunal (paragraph 16 of the Request for
Arbitration) to condemn the Republic of Zaire to pay for all the costs of the arbitral
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1.07

2
proceedings, including the fees and expenses of the Members of the Tribunal, the charges
for the use of ICSID facilities, as well as all other expenses incurred by AMT in the
course of the proceedings. consisting of the total amount of the fees and expenses of its
own counsel, advocates and other persons called upon to appear before the Tribunal, and
the interests thereon calculated at a commercial rate equal to the appropriate international
rate for transactions in dotlars from the date of the rendering of the Award until the day

of the final payment.

In its Request (paragraph 15), AMT asserts that in the report prepared by a
branch office of Lloyds in Zaire on 14 November 1991, the direct losses were estimated
at USS 10,524,023, without prejudice to the calculation of the total amount of
compensation and interests that AMT will subsequently present. In its submission of
additional claims of 16 March 1993 (paragraph 3), AMT adds that the value of the goods
taken. destroved or looted during the incidents of 28-29 January 1993 is estimated at
USS 324,868.

II : CONSTITUTION OF THE TRIBUNAL

Without any positive reaction on the part of the Republic of Zaire 10 the
notification of the Request for Arbitration by ICSID more than 60 days after 2 February
1993, the date of registration of the Request for Arbitration, above all with regard to the
nomination of arbitrators, and in the absence of agreement between the Parties, AMT has
opted as for the number of arbitrators for the formula to constitute the Tribunal in
accordance with the provisions of Article 37 (2)(b) of the Convention which provides for
an Arbitral Tribunal composed of three arbitrators : each Party appointing one arbitrator
and the President of the Tribunal appointed by agreement of the Parties.

At the same time, AMT has nominated Mr. Heribert GOLSONG, of German
nationality as arbitrator and proposed Mr. Robert COUZIN, of Canadian nationality, as
President of the Arbitral Tribunal in accordance with Anicle 3 (1)(a) of the ICSID

4

Arbitration Rules. In the absence of any nomination by the Government of Zaire more
than 90 days following the delivery of notification of registration of the Request for
Arbitration to the parties, AMT has requested by its letter of 5 July 1993, addressed to
the Chairman of the Administrative Council of ICSID, to appoint the arbitrator not yet
appointed and to nominate the arbitrator to perform the function of the President of the
Tribunal in accordance with Article 4 (1) of the ICSID Arbitration Rules. The Chairman
of the Administrative Council is bound to give effect to this request by AMT within 30
days following its receipt in accordance with Article + (4) of the Arbitration Rules, (leter
of the Secretary-General of ICSID of 8 July 1993).

By a lerter of 13 July 1993, ICSID informed the parties that the Secretary-General
intended to recommend to the Chairman of the Administrative Council to appoint to the
Tribunal Judge Kéba MBAYE and Professor Sompong SUCHARITKUL and to nominate
Professor SUCHARITKUL as President of the Tribunal. Judge Kéba MBave, national
of Senegal, domiciled in Dakar, is a former President of the Supreme Court of Senegal
and former Vice-President of the International Court of Justice. Professor Sompong
Sucharitkul, national of Thailand, domiciled in San Francisco, United States. is a former
member of International Law Commission and a former Ambassador of Thailand. He
is currently Professor of Law at Golden Gate University School of Law. The
appointments of these arbitrators as well as the nomination of the President of the
Tribunal, have been confirmed by the Chairman ad interim of the Administrative Council

of the Centre and communicated to the Parties on 26 July 1993,

Upon notification of the acceptance by Judge MBaye and Professor Sucharitkul,
the Arbitral Tribunal of ICSID was thus constituted on 4 August 1993 in accordance with
ICSID Arbitration Rule 6 (1). The establishment of the Tribunal and its composition
were duly notified to the Parties on 4 August 1993. The Arbitral Tribunal is composed

of :-
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Mr.  Sompong SUCHARITKUL President
Mr.  Heribert GOLSONG Member
Mr. Kéba MBAYE Member
Mr. Nassib G. Ziadé, Counsel, ICSID, was designated as Secretary of the

Tribunai by the Secretary-General of ICSID,

3.01

3.02

I : PROCEDURAL DEVELOPMENTS
THE FIRST SESSION OF THE TRIBUNAL

On t October 1993, the Arbitral Tribunal held its first meeting with the Parties
in Washington, D.C. This session was devoted exclusively to the questions concerning
organization of the procedures to follow, including the written proceedings as well as the
oral proceedings. In the absence of representation on the part of Zaire, the oral phase
of the proceedings has become inevitable. The Tribunal fixed the time-limits for the
filings of the Memonal and the Counter-Memorial by the Parties. The conclusion of the
Tribunal were recorded in detils in the Minutes of the Meeting for preliminary
procedural consultation of | October 1993, of which a copy was distributed to each Party

to the dispute.
WRITTEN PLEADINGS FILED BY THE PARTIES

In accordance with the ume-limits fixed for the filing of wrinten pleadings and the
requests made by each Party in wrn for extension of the time-limits thus fixed by the
Tribunal, the Parues filed the following written pleadings :

a) The Memorial by the Claimant
on 9 December 1993;

3.03

b) The Counter-Memorial by the Respondent raising at the same time an
objection to the jurisdiction of ICSID and of the Tribunal
on 30 May 1994,

c) The Reply by the Claimant, replying and making observations on the
objection to the jurisdiction of ICSID and of the the Tribunal
on 17 June 1994;

d) The Rejoinder by the Respondent
on 19 July 1994.

a) The Memorcial, filed by the Claimant on 9 December 1993 with 8
annexes, reiterated and consolidated the claims contained in the Request for Arbitration
of 20 January 1993 and the Additional Request of 16 March 1993, giving an account of
the events preceding and giving rise to the dispute between the Parties. The Memorial
recalled the origin of the investments made by AMT which through SINZA was engaged
in industrial and commercial activities in Zaire, namely, (a) the production and sale of
automotive and dry cell banteries: and (b) the importation and resale of consumer goods
and foodsrtuffs.

In its Memorial, AMT gave further details of the losses suffered by SINZA as the
result of the destruction of property located in the industrial complex for the production
of automotive and dry cell baueries and the looting on 23-24 September 1991 by ceruin
members of the Zairian armed forces stationed at Camp Kolole in Zone de la Gombe.
These soldiers also broke into the commercial complex and the stores, destroyed,
damaged and carried away ali the finished goods and almost all the raw materials and
objects of value found on the premises. The commercial complex was reopened n
February 1992, but since the second destruction of 28-29 January 1993, it \;as

permanently closed.
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3.10

7

In the Annexes, the Memorial estimated the total amount of compensation at USS
14,339,610. This total comprises : (a) USS 12,793,850 for the industrial complex in
1991; (b) USS 1,220,900 for the commercial complex and the two stores in 1991; and
(c) USS 324,860 for the physical damage suffered by the commercial complex and the
two stores in 1993.

AMT requested a sum of USS 21,574,405 to be paid by the Government of Zaire
as compensation, plus 8 per cent interest on this sum since 23 September 1991, and for
the sum of USS 305,368 since 30 January 1993. In addition, AMT claimed
compensation for all expenses incurred in the course of the proceedings, the two reports
of Lloyds for USS 126.500, and all other expenses and fees paid by AMT including
those of the Centre, of the Members of the Tribunal as well as of the Counsel and

Advocate and other expenses that the Tribunal may consider appropriate.

In its Memorial, AMT based its claims on the provisions of Article 42 (1) of the
Convention and on Articles II (4), III (1) and IV (2) of the BIT.

b) The Counter-Memorial filed by the Respondent on 30 May 1994,
contained a summary of the facts, emphasizing that SINZA “has been the object of

looting in 1991, as it was indeed the case with all the others”,

The Counter-Memorial raised several preliminary objections to the jurisdiction of
ICSID and consequently to the competence of the Tribunal, on the ground of a defect in
the status of AMT without the capacity to act in the name of SINZA. The Respondent
challenged the jurisdiction of ICSID to entertain the case instituted by AMT, without the
existence of a dispute between AMT and the Republic of Zaire, but in the actual case ,
the dispute was ultimately between SINZA, a Zairian Company, and the Republic of
Zaire.

Zaire raised the objection based on AMT's failure to comply with Article VIII of
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the BIT, requiring settlement of dispute by means of consultation between representatives
of the two Parties and, failing that, by other diplomatic channels. The Counter-Memorial
maintained that it was only after all these means had failed that it would have been

possible to have recourse to ICSID Arbitration.

The Counter-Memorial raised another objection on the ground of inadmissibility
of AMT's request for non-compliance with Articles II, IV and IX of the BIT without
adducing any evidence that the State of Zaire "has granted in like circumstances a
treatment no less favorable to SINZA than it had accorded to its own nationals or

companies”.

Besides, Zaire relied on Article IX of the BIT which stipulates that the present
Treaty (BIT) shall not supersede, prejudice, or otherwise derogate from the laws.
regulations, administrative practices or procedures or adjudicatory decisions of either
Party, basing itself on Zairian Ordinance Law No. 69-044 of 1 October 1966, relating
to the injuries suffered as the result of the disturbances which declared inadmissible all
actions based on general law in matters of civil liability, seeking to condemn the State
to pay compensation for the losses or injuries suffered in connection with the riots or
insurrections. The Counter-Memorial confirmed as a consequence that the claim made
by AMT was inadmissible, because the Treaty under reference couid not d:zrogate from

this legal provision on public policy mauers.

Finally, the Government of Zaire raised an additional objection based on the
inadmissibility of AMT's claim for violations of Articles 45 and 46 of the Code of
Investment of Zaire, AMT being a United States company which has never made any
direct investment in the State of Zaire, whereas SINZA, the direct investor for this
purpose is a legal entity of Zairian nationality, exclusively empowered to institute arbitrai

proceedings under Article 45 of Zairian Investment Code.

c) The Reply, filed by AMT on 17 June 1994, answered the objections raised

BEST
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by the Government of Zaire to the jurisdiction of ICSID and consequently to the
competence of the Tribunal. AMT presented its observations on the questions of

inadmissibility of its claims as to the jurisdiction of ICSID as well as its merits.

In its Reply, AMT rejected all the objections and exceptions raised by the
Respondent, underlying the fact that it was' AMT which was always the direct investor
in Zaire, as majority stockholder of SINZA, an industrial corporation established in Zaire
but deemed to be a legal entity of United States nationality for the purpose of ICSID

jurisdiction.

In this Reply, the Claimant took occasion to propose the date for the hearing
before the Tribunal in the course of the first week of September 1994. After consultation
with the Parties, the Tribunal fixed the date of the beginning of hearing on 4 November
1994 at the headquarters of ICSID in Washington, D.C.. and this date was communicated
to the Parties by the Secretary of the Tribunal in his letter of 23 August 1994. On 13
October 1994, AMT requested that this date be postponed till after 4 November 1994.
Upon this request, the Tribunal fixed 5 and 6 December 1994 as new dates for the
hearing of the Tribunal at the offices of the World Bank in Paris.

d) The Reioinder, filed by the Republic of Zaire on 19 July 1994,
reconfirmed the position of the Government of Zaire as reflected in the Counter-
Memorial and earlier documents, regarding lack of jurisdiction on the part of ICSID and
the inadmissibility of AMT's claim, rejecting all allegations put forward by AMT in
support of its claim for compensation plus interests, which the Claimant alleged that the
State of Zaire had the duty to pay.

In short, the Republic of Zaire has never contended on the merit that the property
of SINZA was not damaged. SINZA was acrually subjected to the same plight as those
who were victims of the looting of 1991 and 1993. But, the Rejoinder further
maintained, that “the question of compensation is something else, because none of these
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victims has ever received any treatment more favorable that that accorded to SINZA".
To the best of the Government of Zaire's knowledge, no victim of the looting of 1991
and 1993 has been compensated by the Zairian Government, for which no proof of
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